
 

 
 

 
Oaklands Road  
Haywards Heath  
West Sussex  
RH16 1SS 

 
Switchboard:  01444 458166 

 
DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1 

www.midsussex.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Working together for a better Mid Sussex 

 
 

14 October 2020 
 
New regulations came into effect on 4 April 2020 to allow Councils to hold meetings 
remotely via electronic means. As such, Council and Committee meetings will occur with 
appropriate Councillors participating via a remote video link, and public access via a live 
stream video through the Mid Sussex District Council’s YouTube channel.  
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR HOUSING, PLANNING AND ECONOMIC GROWTH 

will be held VIA REMOTE VIDEO LINK on THURSDAY, 22ND OCTOBER, 2020 at 5.00 pm when 

your attendance is requested. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

KATHRYN HALL 

Chief Executive 

 

A G E N D A 
 

  Pages 
 

1.   Roll Call and Virtual Meeting Explanation. 
 

 

2.   To note Substitutes in Accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4 - 
Substitutes at Meetings of Committees etc. 
 

 

3.   To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

4.   To receive Declarations of Interests from Members in respect of any 
matter on the Agenda. 
 

 

5.   To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee for 
Housing, Planning and Economic Growth held on 29 July 2020. 
 

3 - 8 

6.   To consider any items that the Chairman agrees to take as urgent 
business. 
 

 

7.   Parking Strategy and Action Plan 2020 - 2030 
 

9 - 48 

8.   Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan Supplementary Planning 
Document - Consultation Draft 

49 - 166 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.youtube.com%2Fchannel%2FUCW9I9y-TZXZs6jOFmOgiPyQ&data=02%7C01%7CLucinda.Joyce%40midsussex.gov.uk%7Cff0a525f3ac1490a65a808d7f294066b%7C248de4f9d13548cca4c8babd7e9e8703%7C0%7C0%7C637244589883714469&sdata=xlpzAC8QpPf5T9JSE0HB08wH%2F2KckWDWT20%2FuqJujpo%3D&reserved=0


 
 

 

9.   Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 
Work Programme 2020/21. 
 

167 - 168 

10.   Questions pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 10.2 due notice of 
which has been given. 
 

 

 
 
 
To: Members of Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth: 

Councillors N Walker (Chair), C Laband (Vice-Chair), R Bates, M Belsey, P Brown, 
E Coe-Gunnell White, R Cromie, R Eggleston, S Hatton, J Henwood, G Marsh, 
J Mockford, A Peacock and R Webb 
 

 
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning 
and Economic Growth 

held on Wednesday, 29th July, 2020 
from 4.00  - 5.26 pm 

 
 

Present: C Laband (Chairman) 
A Peacock (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

R Bates 
M Belsey 
P Brown 
E Coe-
Gunnell White 
 

R Cromie 
R Eggleston 
J Henwood 
R Webb 
 

A Bennett 
R Whittaker 
 

 
Absent: Councillors N Walker, S Hatton, G Marsh and J Mockford 
 
Also Present: Councillors P Chapman, A Eves and I Gibson 
 
Also Present 
as Cabinet 
Members: 

Councillors S Hillier, J Llewellyn-Burke and A MacNaughton. 

 
The Chairman proposed Cllr Peacock is elected as Vice-chairman for the meeting, 
this was agreed unanimously. 

 

1 ROLL CALL AND VIRTUAL MEETING EXPLANATION.  
 
The Chairman carried out a roll call to establish attendance at the meeting. The 
Solicitor to the Council provided information on the format of the virtual meeting. 
 

2 TO NOTE SUBSTITUTES IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE 
RULE 4 - SUBSTITUTES AT MEETINGS OF COMMITTEES ETC.  
 
Councillor Bennett substituted for Councillor Hatton and Councillor Whittaker 
substituted for Councillor Mockford. 
 

3 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Hatton, Marsh, Mockford and Walker. 
 

4 TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT 
OF ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA.  
 
None. 
 

5 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR HOUSING, PLANNING AND ECONOMIC GROWTH HELD ON 
11 MARCH 2020.  
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 3

Agenda Item 5



 
 

 
 

A Member queried the minutes regarding the discussions on SA12 & 13.  The 
Solicitor advised these are summary of the meeting and confirmed that the sites were 
fully discussed at the Council meeting on 22nd July.  The minutes of the meeting of 
the Committee held on 3 March 2020 were agreed as a correct record with 5 votes in 
favour, 1 against and 4 abstentions.  These were electronically signed by the 
Chairman.    
 

6 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN AGREES TO TAKE AS 
URGENT BUSINESS.  
 
None. 
 

7 MID SUSSEX DESIGN GUIDE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT - 
OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION  
 
Sally Blomfield, Divisional Leader for Planning and the Economy introduced the 
report.  She confirmed that the purpose of the report was to agree the revisions to the 
Design Guide SPD.  She highlighted that District Plan Policy DP26 sets out high level 
Design principles and the new National Design Guide encourages local authorities to 
approve local guides.  A summary of the representations was considered by this 
scrutiny committee on 22 January 2020 and agreed wide-ranging actions to address 
those representations.   She drew attention to the agenda update sheet which 
corrected typographical errors in Appendix 1.  She confirmed that once adopted the 
Design Guide will be a material consideration in the consideration and determination 
of planning applications.  Training will be provided for Members and officers for 
effective use of the Design Guide. 
 
The Chairman noted that the Committee would review each chapter of the Design 
Guide: 
 
Chapter 1 - Purpose of the Design Guide: 
There were no questions or comments. 
 
Chapter 2 - Understanding the Context:   
There were no questions and a Member supported the amendments on references to 
the redevelopment of Burgess Hill. 
 
Chapter 3 - Establishing the Structure 
A Member expressed concern over limited references to the threat to biodiversity, the 
Divisional Leader noted it was referenced at the start of Policy DG6.  
 
Chapter 4 - Site layout, Streets and Spaces:  
In response to a Member’s comment the Divisional Leader advised the images in the 
Design Guide will be updated before the document comes to the Council meeting. 
 
Several Members expressed concern that the document may quickly become 
outdated due to recent changes in planning legislation and may need revising.  The 
Divisional Leader highlighted the changes to use class order and permitted 
development rights. The recent changes to permitted developments will have to be 
approved by a prior-approval process.  The Council will be enabled to consider 
certain aspects such as the external appearance of the building as part of the prior 
approval process and the Design Guide will assist with these decisions. The 
Committee were reminded that the Council is not allowed to duplicate regulations 
that already exist, i.e. building regulations. She made reference to the Future Homes 
Standard and advised that the Design Guide makes a cross reference to this 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 4



 
 

 
 

government publication.  The Design Guide provides supplementary details to the 
District Plan and is unlikely to change as the overarching principles, which match the 
national design guide, will not change. 
 
Members discussed parking arrangements in relation to Electric Charging Points 
(ECPs), references to soft landscaping and the types of tree suggested and the 
terminology used.  The Divisional Leader commented that the Design guidance on all 
parking allows the incorporation of ECP, there were no constraints through Design 
guidance in the policy.  The District Plan policy DP21 mentions ECPs but they are 
not mandatory should be incorporated where practicable and viable.  She confirmed 
that the list of trees in DG 28 had been approved by both the Council’s Tree Officer 
and West Sussex County Council Highway Tree Officer, and additional wording may 
be added to this chapter.  
 
Chapter 5 – Site Optimisation and Mixed Use: 
Members discussed car parking, green travel options, passive house designs and 
ducting for connectivity.  The Divisional Leader advised that well design and located 
higher density developments would lead to reduced car parking if green travel 
options are promoted. She highlighted DG 9 which will minimise reliance on private 
cars and promote sustainable modes of transport.  The Committee were reminded 
that at the meeting on 22nd January they were advised that the Council cannot 
introduce additional requirements of passive house standards, but the Design Guide 
makes reference to the Future Homes Standard.  Will Dorman, Urban Designer 
noted that connectivity is referenced in the utility section of Chapter 5, DG 29.  
 
Chapter 6 – High Quality Building Design:  
Members asked whether DG 6 provided enough guidance on providing renewable 
energy and asked for calculations to show the benefit of the renewable energy 
design.    
The Divisional Leader stated that the Design Guide is supplementary to the principle 
polices of the plan and cannot require any additionality. The relevance of 
sustainability has been referenced throughout the guide and the Guide is not the 
appropriate place for performance indicators on house design for renewable energy 
sources.  
 
Chapter 7 – Business Parks / Employment Areas: 
In response to a Member’s concern on cycle storage at commercial premises, the 
Urban Designer noted that it was referenced under DG 24 but in a residential setting.  
The guide could be updated to make an additional reference to cover cycle parking at 
employment sites.    
 
Chapter 8 – Residential Amenity: 
The Urban Designer addressed concerns over noise, air and light pollution as this is 
covered under District Plan Policy DP 29 where it states that residential uses are not 
permitted close to development generating high levels of noise and DG 48 details 
designing to minimise the impact of noise, air and light pollution.  The Divisional 
Leader advised the Committee that there is no prescribed size standard for balconies 
or external spaces, a general overall assessment of the balcony is made in relation to 
the building design and other considerations.  
 
Chapter 9 – Household Extensions: 
A Member was concerned with the wording on negative impact to existing properties.  
The Divisorial Leader advised this was addressed under DG 9 extensions.  
 
Chapter 10 - Building Conversions: 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 5



 
 

 
 

There were no questions or comments. 
 
A Member thanked the officers for the comprehensive document and asked for an 
amendment to the recommendations by adding a glossary to the Design Guide to 
assist the lay person with the language used when reading the Design Guide.   The 
Divisional Leader agreed that urban design terminology can be confusing, and that a 
glossary would be included.   
 
The Chairman confirmed that the guide is intended for use online and the colour 
pages help to carry the message more clearly and aid comprehension and that 
hyperlinks will be added to aid navigation. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Committee for their work and the Officers for a 
comprehensive document which was easy to read. 
 
The Solicitor suggested a revised wording adding to resolution (i) to include that a 
glossary is added to the document.  
 
As there were no further questions the Chairman took the Committee to the 
recommendations which was agreed unanimously.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
The Committee: 
 

(i) Considered and commented on the proposed changes to the draft Design 
Guide SPD set out in Appendix 1 with a glossary added;  
 

(ii) Considered and agreed the revised draft Design Guide SPD in Appendix 2; 
and 
 

(iii)  Recommended to Council the adoption of the Design Guide as an SPD for 
use  in the consideration and determination of planning applications. 

 

8 SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR HOUSING, PLANNING AND ECONOMIC GROWTH 
- WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21.  
 
Tom Clark, Head of Regulatory Services, introduced the Committee’s Work 
Programme.  He noted the report on the Parking Strategy for the next meeting and 
confirmed that there will be more business for remaining four meetings. 
 
A Member proposed that a report be included in the Committee’s Work Program on 
the installation of ECP.  The Solicitor advised the Member to put his request in writing 
to the Chairman for consideration who will report back to the Member   He confirmed 
that this is the practice on Scrutiny Committees.   
 
A Member asked if consultation responses to the Regulation 19 consultation over the 
Site Allocations DPD would come back to the Scrutiny Committee for further 
consideration. Judy Holmes, Assistant Chief Executive confirmed to the Committee 
that the next consultation on the Site Allocations DPD is undertaken on behalf of the 
Planning Inspector and they will consider the outcome, it will be a matter of public 
record and available on the Council’s website.  
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 6



 
 

 
 

The Chairman noted that no more Members wished to comment on the Work 
Programme and so moved to the recommendation to note the Committee’s Work 
Programme which was agreed with 10 votes in favour and 1 against. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
The Committee noted the Committee’s Work Programme as set out at paragraph 5 of 
the tabled report.  
 

9 QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 10.2 DUE NOTICE 
OF WHICH HAS BEEN GIVEN.  
 
Councillor Paul Brown and Councillor Alison Bennett posed questions to the Officers 
in relation to Tree Preservation Orders and the Housing List. 
 
Question from Councillor Paul Brown: 
 
Noting the environmental importance of trees in relation to the acknowledged climate 
change and climate emergency and referring to the latest on-line register of Tree 
Preservation Orders published by the Council and dated 13th February 2017; 
 
‘How many TPO applications and/or enquires were received in calendar years 2017, 
2018 and 2019 respectively; how many TPO Creation Orders were made in each of 
those years; and, in the event that the Council are not minded to create a TPO, how 
is the applicant informed of this decision?’ 
 
 
Response of Councillor Andrew MacNaughton 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
 
In 2017, 30 written requests for TPOs were received by the Council, of which 6 TPOs 
were confirmed.  In 2018, 28 requests were received and 8 confirmed.  And in 2019, 
33 requests for TPOs were received and 4 confirmed.  Notification of the outcome of 
the Council’s assessment of a TPO request is either by email or letter, depending on 
how their request was made. 
 
The Member was content with the Cabinet Member’s response and asked that the 
register and TPO map be updated and asked for the figures for 2020.  
 
The Cabinet Member advised the figures for 2020 would be provided to the Member.  

 
 
Question from Councillor Alison Bennett: 
 
In August 2019 tenants on the Clarion transfer register joined the Common Housing 
Register. I have a resident in my ward who is living in a one bedroom flat with her five 
year old child. She first applied for a larger property when her daughter was a baby in 
March 2015. The resident was one of the tenants who was transferred to the 
Common Housing Register last year. Following an unsuccessful bid for a suitable 
property at the start of 2020, the resident asked me to check what her date of joining 
the register was. Senior officers advised that she had lost her original date of joining 
of March 2015, and her new date was August 2019 - the date that the two registers 
were merged. Please can Cllr MacNaughton tell me how many people were 
transferred to the Common Housing Register from the Clarion transfer list in August 
2019, and do they all now have a joining date of August 2019? 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 7



 
 

 
 

 
 
Response of Councillor Andrew MacNaughton 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
 
Before 1st August 2019, Clarion tenants could not join the Common Housing Register 
because Clarion operated their own register. So your tenant was only able to bid for 
Clarion properties. When they were able to join the Common Housing Register they 
joined at the first available date 1st August 2019.  Currently there are 1741 
households on the Common Housing Register and 232 of them are Clarion tenants 
who want a transfer. Not all of these would have been on Clarion’s register before 1st 
August 2019 as registers are organic and constantly change.  Hurst is a very popular 
area, where there is a large demand for affordable housing.  Now the tenants on the 
Common Housing Register have a much bigger pool of properties to choose from. 
There are currently 26 registered providers providing social housing in Mid Sussex. 
 
The Member noted the Cabinet Member’s response and asked that in changing the 
date the tenant joined the register was unjust.  Could the officers review the policy 
and revert back to the date to when the tenant joined Clarion’s register? 
 
The Cabinet Member advised that was not possible as Clarion had their own register.  
At the time, and under Clarion rules there were no properties for the tenant to 
transfer to when she applied.    It was not the fault of Mid Sussex District Council that 
Clarion tenants could not join our register with their existing date of joining.   He 
highlighted that the date of joining is only one part of how a tenant is assessed, there 
are 5 bands, A to E.  The date of joining is only a substantial risk if 2 people in same 
band with same position are eligible for the same property, the person on list longest 
would have priority for the property.  To make adjustments to our register for Clarion 
tenants would disadvantage people who have been on our register for a long time, 
there are 26 Registered Social Landlords.  
 

 
 
 

The meeting finished at 5.26 pm 
 

Chairman 
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 8



PARKING STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 2020 - 2030 

  

REPORT OF:  DIVISIONAL LEADER FOR COMMERCIAL SERVICES & 

CONTRACTS  

Contact Officer:  Claire Onslow – Business Unit Leader Parking Services 

Wards Affected  All  

Key Decision:   Yes  

Report to:    Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth  

Date of meeting:  22 October 2020 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to present to the Scrutiny Committee for Planning, 

Housing and Economic Growth the final draft of the Mid Sussex District Council 

Parking Strategy and Action Plan 2020 - 2030 and the Covid Addendum.  Following 

consideration by the Scrutiny Committee, the strategy will be recommended for 

approval by the Council.  

Recommendations 

2. That the Scrutiny Committee for Planning, Housing and Economic Growth: 

 

a. Considers the Parking Strategy and Action Plan 2020 – 2030 and Covid 

Addendum and provides comments and observations to Council. 

 

b. Recommends to Council that the Parking Strategy and Action Plan 2020 – 

2030 be approved. 

 

Background  

3. The current MSDC Parking Strategy expired in 2020. A key priority in the 2019/ 2020 

Corporate Plan was to refresh the strategy.  

 

4. The Parking Strategy provides a high-level strategic direction for the management of 

the Council’s car parks to support future sustainable and economic growth across 

Mid Sussex.  

 

5. The MSDC Parking Strategy focuses on how the Council will manage Council owned 
off-street car parks for the next 10 years, it will be essential that the strategy takes 
account of the West Sussex County Council’s approach to on street parking 
provision.  

Development of the Strategy 

6. As reported to Scrutiny in January 2020, Parking Matters has been retained to 

facilitate the development of the Parking Strategy.  These consultants bring industry 

expertise, best practice and benchmarking principles to the project. 

 

7. A Member Working Group was established to lead and inform the process. The 

Member Working Group comprises 8 Members from this Scrutiny Committee with 

geographical and political balance, with the Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 9

Agenda Item 7



attending as an observer. A total of 6 Member Working Group meetings were held to 

advise on the development of the Strategy and Action Plan.  These meetings were 

supported by the Council’s consultants Parking Matters.  

 

8. An Officer Working Group supported this work and consisted of representatives from 

across the Council including Planning, Economic Development, Estates and Parking 

officers.  

 

9. The initial development of the Parking Strategy was carried out over a six-month 

period in three phases: 

a. Discovery: Reviewing current policies, the existing service and 
benchmarking with other services 

b. Challenge: Challenge policies and operations to establish future service 
delivery and customer needs supported by policy and delivering value for 
money. 

c. Design: Develop a strategy and action plan to guide strategic development of 
the service and future delivery. 

10. Throughout the ‘Discovery’ and ‘Challenge’ phases the Consultants took account of 
previously commissioned work for each of the three town centres, carried out an 
extensive review of the current MSDC parking operation and compared their findings 
with neighbouring and similar Councils.  Additional evidence was also commissioned 
on carpark occupancy.  

11. The background evidence can be viewed in the evidence pack online via the 
following link:  https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/parking-travel/parking-strategy/ 

12. This evidence was used by the Working Groups to inform the development of a draft 
Parking Strategy and Action Plan, meeting the overall aim of supporting economic 
growth within the District. 

Parking Strategy & Action Plan 2020 – 2030 

13. The Parking Strategy presented to this Committee is the outcome of this work.  It 
provides a high level ten-year strategic framework for the management of the 
Council’s car parks from 2020 – 2030.  This timeline is aligned with the District Plan 
and the Economic Development Strategy.  

14. The delivery of the Parking Strategy will be supported by a five-year rolling Action 
Plan. 

15. The overarching vision for the Parking Strategy and Action Plan is to ensure: 
 
 The Council’s car parks will support sustainable growth and provide a positive 
parking experience.  

16. The vision will be achieved in the first five years through an Action Plan as follows: 

a. Investment in car parks - An Investment Plan will be developed to set a 
medium-term strategic ambition for managing car parks including retention, 
disposal, expansion and repurposing of sites. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 10

https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/parking-travel/parking-strategy/


b. Sustainable Growth – We will work with WSCC to reduce congestion, 
improve air quality and townscapes by ensuring car parks are working 
alongside sustainable transport objectives. 

c. Supporting Vitality - Explore differential tariff and management regimes to 
influence customer behaviour and provide financial support for investment 
and improvement. 

d. Customer Experience - Utilise technological innovation to improve and 
inform the customer experience and how the Council manages and enforces 
its car parks. 

17. The strategy will deliver the following benefits:  

a. Implementing a planned investment strategy to improve and modernise the 
car park estate  

b. Employing new technologies to modernise and improve the customer 
experience 

c. Introducing differential tariffs and management regimes that are based on 
local vitality and economic growth, which will in turn fund the investment into 
the estate modernisation. 

Covid 19 Review 

18. The draft Parking Strategy and Action Plan was due to be presented to this Scrutiny 
Committee in May 2020, and to Council in early summer 2020.  

19. However, the Covid-19 pandemic has significantly changed the short, medium- and 
long-term economic outlook at both a national and local level. As a result, it was 
considered necessary to carry out further work with our consultants, Parking Matters 
Ltd to ensure that the Parking Strategy and Action Plan was appropriate and relevant 
in a post Covid world. 

20. The outcome of this work is the appended Covid Addendum report.  This report  
considers the economic, societal and practical variables that are likely to be affected 
by the pandemic and how they might impact the delivery of the Parking Strategy. The 
work applied learning from consumer behaviour in previous recessions and built on 
early emerging worldwide trends in response to the pandemic to enable early 
assumptions to be made; however, the exact long-term impacts of the pandemic are 
still very uncertain. The Addendum will be appended to the Parking Strategy and 
Action Plan.  

21. The key findings of the Covid review have been assessed against the themes of the 
draft Parking Strategy and Action Plan.  The consultants concluded that the original 
document remains sound and will continue to provide an appropriate and robust high 
level, flexible framework and direction of travel for the Council. An analysis of impact 
across the four original themes suggests that the key actions in the proposed Action 
Plan remain appropriate and relevant: 

a. Investment in car parks – continuing with this work as planned will put the 
Council in a strong position to respond to future parking demand, both 
planned and as a result of the pandemic, in a strategic way. 
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 11



b. Sustainable Growth – Potential acceleration of growth in technology and the 
sustainability agenda as a result of the pandemic will provide opportunities to 
improve customer service and support sustainable transport initiatives. An 
anticipated change in demand for business season tickets as a result of the 
pandemic could also be a future driver for strategic changes. 
 

c. Supporting Vitality – Although implementation may be rescheduled as a 
result of the pandemic, a review of tariffs is urgently required, and the 
pandemic potentially provides an opportunity to accelerate the introduction of 
new regimes to manage changes in parking demand in towns and villages.  
 

d. Customer Experience – The Investment Strategy will highlight how the 
modernisation of the estate, alongside embracing new technology to meet the 
acceleration of cashless parking demands will provide an improved customer 
experience.  

22. The Covid Addendum concludes that despite the inevitable short-term income 
impacts, the Council’s car parks will be in a strong position to recover to the ‘new 
normal’ in the medium to long term and will support economic recovery as highlighted 
in the revised Corporate Plan. The Parking Strategy and Action Plan and its over-
arching aims of consolidating and modernising the car park estate and ensuring that 
tariffs continue to support economic vitality is considered robust in a post Covid 
environment. 

23. The Parking Strategy and Action Plan have been amended to reflect the impacts of 
Covid-19, and to provide agility to the implementation of the Parking Strategy, 
responding to a changing landscape within our communities as a result of a ‘new 
normal’ post covid-19 recovery. 

Initiating the Parking Strategy Action Plan in 2020/21 

24. As mentioned above, the long-term impacts of the pandemic on economic recovery 
and how they impact on parking demand are unclear, and it will be some months 
before the Council is able to make any informed decisions backed by evidence.  

25. The four actions highlighted in the Action Plan for 2020/ 21 are highlighted below, 
along with recommendations for taking the work forward. Undertaking this work as 
planned will prepare the Council to make well informed strategic decisions about the 
parking estate to support the future economic vitality of the towns and larger villages 
in the District. 

2020 - 2021 Actions (Year One) Recommended Delivery 

 Commission an Investment Strategy 
setting out medium term strategic objectives 
for each of the Council’s car parks in terms 
of retention, disposal, expansion 
development / re-purposing to meet the 
economic needs of each settlement. 

Commission the Investment Strategy as 
planned to provide a baseline to inform 
future strategic options for the car park 
estate to support economic recovery plans. 

 Undertake annual tariff review  Complete annual tariff review to set 
baseline principles for future annual review 
of tariffs. 

 Commission feasibility work to 
explore opportunities for differential tariff 

Commission initial feasibility work based on 
high level principles whilst responding to 
Covid recovery. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 12



regimes in town centres to support local 
vitality 

 Commission feasibility work to 
explore opportunities for alternative 
management regimes in the larger village 
car parks. 

Commission initial feasibility work based on 
high level principles whilst responding to 
Covid recovery. 

 Continue to develop digital platforms 
to provide more convenient self-service 
systems e.g. virtual season tickets 

Complete the migration of season tickets to 
a virtual platform in year, which will provide 
opportunities to change the season ticket 
approach.  

 

Next Steps 

26. Subject to this Committee’s approval, the Parking Strategy and Action Plan 2020- 
2030 will be presented to Council for approval at its meeting in December 2020. 

27. Following the approval of Council work will commence on the delivery of the Year 
One actions as highlighted in the Action Plan. 

28. Financial Implications 

29. There is a reserves budget of £60,000 to fund delivery of the Action Plan’s year one 
objectives.  

30. There will be further calls on reserves to deliver future actions which may come 
forward as part on the annual review and service planning process.  

31. There will also be future bids to capital budgets for investment into the estate. 

32. Risk Management 

33. It is important that the Council considers all opportunities to support sustainable 
economic growth. An Equality Impact Assessment will be prepared as the Action 
Plan is delivered to ensure opportunities to promote equality and / or barriers to 
service are considered and addressed.  

34. Other Material Implications 

35. There are no other material implications. 

36. Background Papers 

a. Parking Strategy Phase 1 Report 

b. Parking Strategy Phase 2 Report 

c. Burgess Hill Road Space Audit 

d. East Grinstead Road Space Audit  

e. Haywards Heath Parking Study A 

f. Haywards Heath Parking Study B 

g. Covid Addendum  

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Mid Sussex

DRAFT – WORK IN PROGRESS

Parking Strategy

2020 - 2030

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

15



2

Welcome to Mid Sussex District Council’s Car Parking Strategy. This sets out the Council’s 

plans and ambitions for the Council’s car parks for the next 10 years; with specific focus on 

the role car parks play in contributing to the sustainable, economic vitality of the District.

During the development of this Strategy, the world was faced with an unprecedented global 

pandemic. Response to, and recovery from, Covid-19 will no doubt have a lasting impact on 

every aspect of our lives. Car Parking will be no exception to this and, whilst at this stage in 

the pandemic it is difficult to anticipate the full extent of the impact, we have tried to anticipate 

as far as possible the likely ramifications in this Strategy. 

The Council has a wide range of car parks across town and village centres which play an 

important role in our local community infrastructure, supporting our economic centres and 

balancing the often-conflicting needs of visitors, local workers, residents and commuters.

This Strategy sets out how the Council will utilise these resources to support our Covid-19 

recovery, balance the demands of the various car park users, sustainably support town and 

village centre businesses and ensure operational costs are met. 

How the Council manages its car parks can influence and enable transport choice. Through 

this strategy and the investment it proposes, the Council is committed to ensuring that its car 

parks improve the customer experience through the use of emerging technologies and 

nationwide best practise, play its role in minimising the environmental impact of its parking 

customers and support sustainable economic recovery and growth for our towns and villages. 

Councillor Stephen Hillier, Cabinet Member for Economic Growth

Foreword DRAFTS
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

16



Introduction
Parking should be a positive experience that enables people to carry out their daily business. As the number of cars on our 

roads continues to increase, and with cars parked for most of the time, parking is a valuable resource that needs to be 

managed properly.

Parking also represents a valuable asset that provides the Council with a tool to shape places, influence growth, reduce 

nuisance parking and provide income to invest in its car parks for the benefit of all.

The Mid Sussex Parking Strategy aims to balance the needs of our residents, businesses and the wider environment, helping 

to provide the accessible parking people need, when and where they need it to provide a positive parking experience and 

support the sustainability of our local places.

Our vision:

“The Council's car parks will support 

sustainable growth and provide a positive 

parking experience. ”

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

The Strategy has been prepared with the input and assistance of 

Councillors through regular Working Groups, and the help of 

expert parking consultants, Parking Matters. It has been further 

reviewed and updated in response to the real and anticipated 

social and economic impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic and 

social distancing measures. It provides evidence-based actions 

and policies as part of a Wider Strategy.

3

Fig. Methodology

Strategy 
Design:

- What do we 

need to do?

Evidence and 

Expertise

Wider Policy 

and Context
Discovery:

Where are 

we?

Challenge:

- How are we 

doing?

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

17



Covid-19 Update

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

4

Strategy 

Following the development of this Parking Strategy and Action Plan, the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020 

significantly changed the short, medium and long term economic outlook at both a national and local level. As a result, it was 

considered necessary to carry out a supplementary review to ensure that the Parking Strategy and Action Plan remained 

relevant.

Additional work was commissioned to consider the economic, societal and practical variables that are likely to be influenced by 

the pandemic and how they might impact the delivery of the Parking Strategy. Applying learning from consumer behaviour in 

previous recessions and building on emerging worldwide trends enables some early conclusions to be drawn; however, the 

exact long-term impacts of the pandemic are still very uncertain.

The commissioned work is appended to this strategy, and concludes that despite the inevitable short-term impacts, the themes 

and objectives within the strategy are robust in a post Covid-19 environment but some of the delivery timelines may need to 

change.

The Parking Strategy and Action Plan have been updated to reflect this.

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

18



Parking in Context
The role of towns is changing and retail can no longer be relied on to form the basis of a centre’s 

vitality. The Association of Town and City Management, and national and international evidence 

suggests that while tariffs do influence behaviour, it is the ease of finding a space and space 

availability that is the more significant factor in influencing where people choose to shop, work or 

establish businesses.  

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

People want to be able to find a space, when they need it, where they want it, and at a 

reasonable price that relates to their destination. Customers expect to pay for parking in a town 

centre because these places offer a variety of shopping, cultural and leisure experiences and 

they generally know that demand needs to be managed and car parks need to be maintained. In 

general, it is what a place offers that dictates the tariff, not the tariff which dictates the success of 

a place.

Customers increasingly expect to use technologies which help them to find where to park with 

easy payment systems. These technologies have benefits to operators as well; less cash 

collection, more efficient enforcement and better information on which to make investment and 

policy decisions.  

British Parking 

Association National 

survey findings, what 

do people want when 

choosing where to 

park?:

1. Location

2. Personal Safety

3. Tariffs

4. Ease of Access

5. No / little queuing

6. Number of 

spaces

7. Effective 

surveillance

8. Size of spaces

5

“…the general availability of spaces is felt to be more important than cost in their 

overall decision about visiting. Traffic flow and parking signage have as much, if not 

greater, effect on their decision to visit the town centre, how long they spend there, 

and how much money they spend.” – Association of Town & City Management  

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

19



Policy Context

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

6

The District Plan sets out the vision for how Mid Sussex will meet 

the Governments housing requirement to deliver 16,390 homes and 

25ha of additional employment space by 2031. This growth is 

spread across the District – mainly in the three towns Burgess Hill, 

East Grinstead and Haywards Heath, and in the larger 

villages Cuckfield, Hassocks, Hurstpierpoint and Lindfield.

The District Plan includes policies to support town and village 

centres, recognising the different roles they play in providing retail, 

leisure and cultural facilities aiming to create sustainable 

communities. This includes a sustainable local transport network, 

ease of access to local services and facilities and the requirement to 

provide adequate car parking in economic centres.

Several Neighbourhood Plans have specific policies on parking; for 

example, East Grinstead seeks to provide parking on the edge of 

the town centre and encourages people to walk in order to reduce 

congestion and traffic within the town centre itself.

The Parking Strategy supports the Economic Development Strategy 

which has a vision to make Mid Sussex a vibrant and attractive 

place for businesses and people to grow and succeed.

This aim is even more relevant in a post-Covid world.

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

20



Parking in Mid Sussex
The Council provides around 2,900 spaces in 34 

public car parks across towns and villages in the 

District. 22 are pay and display car parks in the 

towns and a further 12 have time limits but no 

charges in the larger villages. The strategy does 

not consider on-street parking or parking in leisure 

facility and open space car parks.

17 car parks have achieved the industry standard 

‘Park Mark’ award for safer parking. This is 

awarded to car parks which meet high standards 

of management, appropriate lighting, effective 

surveillance and provide a clean safe 

environment.

Alongside the off-street car parks, on-street 

parking is managed by West Sussex County 

Council. There are a total of approximately 2,300 

restricted on-street spaces in Mid Sussex which 

includes the Controlled Parking Zone in East 

Grinstead.

In addition to Council car parks there are several 

private operators in the District eg. Station car 

parks

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

7

Each segment of the wheel represents the 

number of car parking spaces in each car park 

A
rd
in
g
ly

Mid Sussex 

Car Parks

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

21



Car Parks: Main Towns
There are 22 car parks in the three towns that charge for parking. Prior to Covid, the majority were found to be at 80% capacity

for at least some of the day. Forecasting future demand based on likely growth tells us they will only get busier, and a different 

approach will be needed to support regeneration and growth.

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

8

Fig. Relative 

Performance of 

Car Parks  

Busiest and 

Biggest

Busy and full

Some capacity

Under-

performing?HAYWARDS HEATHBURGESS HILL EAST GRINSTEAD

Town Survey & transaction data Opportunities

Burgess Hill There is capacity in most of the car parks, but levels of demand vary. Looking 

forward, growth and regeneration in Burgess Hill is likely to increase demand.
• Investigate feasibility to increase provision to 

meet future demand

• Rationalise car parks and utilise 

opportunities for future investment

• Consider differential tariff and management 

regimes to manage future demand

Haywards Heath There is limited capacity in the larger car parks and the smaller car parks are full 

for much of the day. Looking forward, this problem is likely to get worse as the 

town grows.

East Grinstead With few exceptions, car parks in East Grinstead are over 80% full for much of 

the time and more spaces may be needed to support the towns vitality.

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

22



Car Parks: Larger Villages
There are twelve car parks in larger villages that are currently free or enforced through a parking disc. Forecasting future 

growth suggests there are likely to be future pressures in these locations and a different approach on a case by case basis 

may need to be considered to support local vitality. This remains the case post-Covid.

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

9

Settlement Survey data Opportunities

Ardingly Street Lane is a busy car park with turnover during the day, 

there is some evidence of overnight parking by residents.

Car park is currently supporting the local economy. No 

immediate intervention required, will be kept under 

review.

Cuckfield Broad Street is very busy and over 80% full for much of the day. 

There is demand for long and short parking which is impacting 

space availability.

Consider how to balance long and short stay 

demand to support space availability for the local 

economy.

Hassocks Orion is very busy and close to 80% full at peak times, but with a 

high turnover. Dale Avenue initial findings suggest a low turnover.

With proposed growth in Hassocks and a mainline 

railway station, consider how to balance long and short 

stay demand to support space availability for the local 

economy.

Hurstpierpoint Trinity Rd is busy with a mix of long and short stay and close to 

80% full at peak times. Brown Twins is full for most of the day with 

long term parking.

Consider how to balance long and short stay 

demand to support space availability for the local 

economy.

Lindfield Denmans Lane and Tollgate are busy and 100% full for some of 

the day. This will be impacting the attraction of the village as a 

destination.

Demand for parking is high and car parks are small. 

Consider how to balance long and short stay 

demand to support space availability for the local 

economy.

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

23



Technology 
Mid Sussex have already invested in new technologies for cashless payment options, 

joined-up back office systems and online PCN and season ticket portals which 

compares favourably to other similar districts.

The challenge is how to prepare for the future as customer expectations rise and as 

connected vehicles make more of the decisions and transactions related to parking. 

Pay-on-exit systems can increase dwell times, allow for much better management 

information and allow better information such as real time occupancy data. However 

these systems tend to be more economical in larger car parks so there are implications 

for the estate.

As car parks are developed and improved, investment will be made in modern 

technologies that will provide a better customer experience.

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

10

The town’s ‘visibility’ to potential visitors Importance of data

Now Parking is being integrated into in-car systems

but people still generally ‘turn up’ hoping to 

find a space

Visitors may have information about tariffs 

in advance, but visit hoping to find a space 

without real time information

5 – 10 years In-car systems (and phones) make more of 

the decisions about not just which car-park is 

visited but also which destination based on 

user preferences. 

Failure to provide accurate real-time 

information and automatic payment 

systems could result in less footfall

10 – 20 years A vehicle drives you to most convenient 

location for your choice of activity 

Data availability is a deciding factor in 

where and when to visit

Fig. Customer expectations and the role of connected vehicles will change over time 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

24



Tariffs & Charging Regimes
Tariffs are a tool to manage car parks, influence behaviour and provide the financial support for investment and improvement.

Pay and Display tariffs in Mid Sussex towns are split between long and short stay, and season tickets offer a significant 

discount. The charging regime is the same across all car parks and all towns. Tariffs have not been reviewed since 2012. 

There are no charges within the larger village car parks. 

Neighbouring Councils do not employ a ‘one-size-fits-all’ tariff structure across all their car parks or in different towns, they 

tailor charges to reflect the vitality of local places. In general, Mid Sussex tariffs are lower than many comparable areas. 

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

11

Fig  How do Mid Sussex tariffs compare to others?  

Average 2hr Tariff

A comparison between charges in 

various car parks, including where 

differential tariffs are applied in the 

same town. 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

25



The Strategy DRAFT

12Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

Through this Strategy, the following 

benefits will be delivered:

• Investment in car parks through a planned 

Investment Strategy to ensure they are fit 

for the future

• Employment of enhanced technology and 

information to improve the customer 

experience

• Introduction of differential and appropriate 

management regimes between car parks 

and settlements to support vitality and 

economic growth.

The Strategy and Action Plan will be 

reviewed at the end of five years, and 

progress monitored through the Annual 

Parking Report.

The vision for the strategy is that the Council’s car parks will support sustainable growth and provide a positive 

parking experience.

To do this the Council needs a Strategy which sets out how it will achieve this which is realistic, evidence based and fundable.

Supporting growth through a positive 

parking experience 

How will we do to 

achieve this? 

What we want to 

achieve

By investing in our car parks and employ 

new technology 

Measure Success

Action Plan and 

Investment Strategy  
Funding to 

implement

2025 Review

Car parks that 

are fit for the 

future 

Parking that 

supports 

Sustainable 

Growth

Improved 

customer 

experience & 

technology

Tariffs and 

management 

regimes that 

support vitality

Benefits by 2030

How will we fund and 

monitor the Strategy?

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

26



13
DRAFT – WORK IN PROGRESS

Action Plan

2020 - 2025

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

27



Investing in Car Parks 
Investing in car parks to improve them is the Council’s priority to ensure it can respond to future growth in the District. The Council needs 

to make sure parking supports sustainable growth and that it is well managed.

Many smaller car parks are full at peak times, this will be generating traffic as customers drive between them searching for spaces. 

Investments in technology, such as guidance and real time occupancy systems are harder to justify in smaller car parks.

The overall strategy in the towns will be to consolidate car parks to fewer, larger car parks with up-to-date technologies which provide 

better information, reduce wasted journeys and serve town centre needs.

Continuing with this action post Covid-19, will place the Council in a strong position to respond to the 'new normal' and support the 

medium – long term recovery in local economic centres.

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

14

Action When will we do 

this?

Measures of Success

Commission an Investment Strategy setting out medium term strategic 

objectives for each of the Council’s car parks in terms of retention, disposal, 

expansion development / re-purposing to meet the economic needs of each 

settlement. 

Assess the feasibility and business case of specific actions identified in the 

Investment Strategy

Deliver the priority actions arising from the Investment Strategy and feasibility 

work.

2020

2021

2021 - 2025

Adoption of Investment 

Strategy to set out some 

strategic principles 

providing a framework to 

support future ambitions for 
the Council’s car parks

Renew the Asset Management Plan which sets out business as usual 

maintenance and investment programme.

2021 - 2025 Adoption of an Asset 

Management Plan that 

secures investment into the 

car parks

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

28



Sustainable Growth 

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

15

The District faces challenges and opportunities through the growth outlined in the District Plan and parking will contribute to supporting 

sustainable growth in towns and villages. The Council is already committed to delivering change through initiatives such as the 

Economic Development Strategy, Burgess Hill Growth Programme, Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan and the Sustainability

Strategy.

The Government has indicated that post Covid –19 , recovery will accelerate sustainable transport initiatives, so the Council will work in 

partnership with West Sussex County Council, local businesses and other key partners to identify how technology and different types of 

mobility could reduce congestion to improve air quality and local townscapes.

By investing in car parks there will be opportunities to introduce better information systems to guide customers straight to available 

spaces and support new transport initiatives such as modal shift, mobility hubs and alternative fuels.

Action When will we do 

this?

Measures of Success

Work with WSCC to ensure parking policy supports sustainable transport initiatives, 

encouraging visitors / workers to seek car alternatives to support modal shift in each 

settlement.

2020 - 2025 Evidence of reduction in 

congestion in 

settlements.

Increased take up of 

electric charging points

Explore the opportunity to support inward investment by developing a season ticket 

policy that supports travel planning and changing business needs to encourage 

economic growth. 

2021- 2022 Adoption of policy that 

supports preferential 

allocation of season 

tickets to local 

businesses with a travel 

plan

Work with WSCC to actively promote and monitor employer travel plans to 

encourage modal shift and reduce congestion

2022 - 2024 Evidence that travel plans 

are monitored and are 

making a difference 

to modal shift

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

29



Supporting Vitality 

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

16

Tariffs and stay restrictions are a tool to manage car parks more effectively, influence behaviour and provide the financial support for 

investment and improvement.

Tariffs and stay restrictions in Mid Sussex have not been revised since 2012, but costs and inflation have risen. The current ‘one-size-

fits-all’ approach to pay-and-display and season ticket pricing do not reflect the variation between individual towns and larger villages or 

manage churn and demand.

To ensure the car parks continue to support local economies, the Council will commit to an annual review of tariff structures and stay 

restrictions to reflect local vitality by managing car parks more efficiently whilst also exploring sustainable alternatives.

During the Covid-19 recovery it will still be necessary to review tariffs and restrictions to ensure they continue to support local centres, 

and whilst the ultimate implementation plan may now be different there will still be an impetus to respond to the 'new normal'.

Action When will we do 

this?

Measures of Success

Undertake an annual review of tariffs to reflect local circumstances Annual

Evidence that a 

differential management 

regime supports local 

vitality and encourages 
turnover

Commission feasibility work to explore opportunities for differential tariff regimes 

in town centres to support local vitality

2020 - 2021

Implement a differential tariff and stay restriction regime between and within town 

centres to support the local vitality.

2021 - 2022

Commission feasibility work to explore opportunities for alternative management 

regimes in the larger village car parks.

2020 -2021

Implement new management regimes that support local vitality in the larger 

villages on a case by case basis.

2021 - 2022

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

30



Customer Experience

Mid Sussex District Parking Strategy - 2020

DRAFT

17

The Council has already made a significant investment in cashless payments and online services and will continue to invest 

and modernise car parking to ensure the service is accessible to all users.

To support local vitality the Council will need to share information, such as location, capacity and pricing to digital platform

providers. As the car parks develop, the Council will invest in new technologies to enable better information sharing with 

platforms such as in-car systems and third-party apps which will improve the customer experience of finding spaces.

As the car parks change through the Asset Management and Investment Strategy, newer technologies will be implemented to 

improve the customer experience to make finding spaces and parking more convenient.

The Council will continue to collect performance data to inform the management of its car parks going forward.

Post Covid-19 an acceleration of digital technology solutions is likely to respond to changing consumer behaviours. Any 

further technology investments will be identified in the Investment Strategy.

Action When Measures of Success

As the Council invests and develops its car parks, it will utilise digital innovation 

to improve service delivery e.g. Variable Message Signage, app technology and 
alternative payment methods

2022 - 2025 Improvement in the visibility 

and usability of car parks by 

customers

Continue to develop digital platforms to provide more convenient self-service 

systems e.g. virtual season tickets

2020 - 2021 Evidence of channel shift for 

delivering parking services

Respond to the WSCC Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) Review and the 

outcomes of the MSDC Parking Strategy to manage the impact on the 

enforcement and management of the off-street estate

2021 - 2022 Evidencing the appropriate level 

of resource to effectively deliver 

the parking service

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

31



18
DRAFT – WORK IN PROGRESS

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

32



1

Mid Sussex

DRAFT – WORK IN PROGRESS

Parking Strategy
Addendum to consider the potential impacts of COVID-19 pandemic on the strategy

June - 2020

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

33



2

Introduction DRAFT

This addendum considers the impacts of the 2020 Coronavirus 

Pandemic (COVID-19) on the Mid Sussex parking service and 

recently prepared draft Parking Strategy. 

As it is far too early to predict with any degree of accuracy what 

the medium to long-term effects of the pandemic will be, we 

have used an approach which combines elements of Risk 

Assessment with SWOT Analysis (Strengths, Weakness, 

Opportunity, Threat).

Potential ‘economic’, ‘societal’ and ‘practical’ variables are 

considered in turn, alongside the potential impact of these 

variables on the service (usually financial) and strategy. 

Recommendations for mitigation within the Strategy are then 

presented and the impact summarised. 

The views expressed in this document are based on 

information available at the time and the collective experience 

and knowledge of PML with assistance from the officers’ at Mid 

Sussex District Council (MSDC). 

Economic

Practical 
(Parking)

Societal 

(and Transport)

Risk / SWOT 
Assessment

Mitigation 
Strategies

Methodology Employed

?

Pot. Positive / negative

Pot. Strong / positive negative

Pot. Neutral / Unknown

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

34



3

Economic DRAFT

Macro Economic impacts of – 2007/08 recessionThe short term impact of COVID-19 has been a 

sudden and unprecedented drop in economic activity 

with UK GDP down by 3.9% from Q1 2019 (1). The 

length of any subsequent recession is unknown at this 

stage and will depend on huge number of factors.

Recessions measurably impact traffic levels, which in 

turn effects parking demand and so revenue. The 

2007/08 recession caused upheaval within the 

parking industry, although given the myriad of factors 

in play, the direct impact of on parking turnover isn’t 

clear cut. Whilst revenue and parking construction 

reduced across the industry (2), MSDC experienced a 

steady increase in revenue throughout this period. 

Beyond the global impacts of economic activity on 

parking, there are longer term trends to the way we  

work and shop and it appears COVID-19 may have 

accelerated these. There is also pressure on public-

sector parking operators to provide free parking 

periods or discounted parking, which would directly 

the impact financial bottom line (3).

(1) Fitch Credit Ratings – London, April 2020 - https://www.fitchratings.com/site/re/10116672

(2) Parking Today – Los Angeles, May 2010 - https://www.parkingtoday.com/articledetails.php?id=903&t=post-crash-parking-market-up-down-or-out

(3) Wirral and others - https://www.wirralglobe.co.uk/news/18326766.councillor-calls-town-hall-lift-parking-charges-covid-19-pandemic/

• Q-Park were purchased by Byzantium BV (NL) and stopped filling UK accounts in 

2017

• NCP disposed of on-street operations from 2006 

• APCOA growing on-street/ leasing business from 07 onwards 

Return to ‘normal’?

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

35



4

Economic DRAFT

Retail activity and spend experienced an unprecedented 

reduction in March / April 2020. The Main Report which 

accompanies the Strategy discusses the role of the car parks in 

Mid Sussex. It identifies that the majority of Pay and Display car 

parks show usage patterns that suggest most users are 

accessing retail and services (both in terms of time of arrival / 

departures and length of stay). The impact of a retail slump is 

therefore likely to impact parking revenue income.

This is against a background of a changing high street and a 

growth in online shopping, with the proportion of sales rising 

from 5% in 2008 to 18% in 2018 (1).  

Whether the COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated these trends 

is unknown. In the short term, online and convenience shopping 

have faired well during the pandemic, as have sporting goods 

and cycles. Comparative goods and non-essentials have 

experienced significant declines with a shift to online and an 

overall reduction in spend (2).

The impact of social distancing on cultural activities and 

restaurants has been dramatic with wholesale temporary 

closure. Businesses are now re-opening and finding ways to 

deal with the new situation, for example cinemas in France are 

pre-booking seats to enforce social distancing since re-opening 

from 8th June. 

The table overleaf assesses the potential economic variables 

and their potential impact on the Mid Sussex parking operation 

and Draft Strategy. 

(1) ONS, Oct 2019, ‘How our internet activity has influence the way we 

shop’

(2) The Guardian – June 2020, 

https://www.theguardian.com/business/2020/jun/09/uk-retailers-face-

declining-sales-amid-covid-19-shutdown

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

36



5

Economic DRAFT

Variable Description Likley. Impact MSDC Impact Dur. Data 

Source

Short / medium term 

recession 

(Impact depends on depth 

and duration)

Reduction in economic activity results 

in fewer journeys and less parking 

demand

Likely MSDC faired well in the 

07/08 recession. Unclear if 

this will be repeated. 

Short –

Med

Financial

data 

Long term changes to 

retail activity. Potential to 

accelerate trends to online

shopping.

Lock-down accelerates retail trends, 

more online shopping / less bricks 

and mortar shops. A long term 

change in habits.

Unk. Retail offer in BH/HH limited. 

Will work-from-home 

increase journeys to local 

centres? 

Med –

Long

ONS and 

British 

Retail 

Consortium

More local use of centres 

for shopping and meeting 

People shop and meet closer to their 

homes and within their communities
Unk. Pot. Positive impacts to local 

centres

Long CACI 

research

Pressure for free periods / 

free parking to support 

retail recovery and growth 

Link between charges and retail 

vitality is not clear: more expensive 

parking in more attractive centres

Now Very high financial impact Short -

Med

Experience

of previous 

recessions

Social-distancing impacts 

for medium to long term in 

restaurants, cinema’s 

etc. 

Fewer trips / less density / 

unsustainability of businesses and 

cultural orgs. 

Likely Pot. Low.  Already seeing 

market respond, book cinema 

seats before arrival

Short –

Med

Press / 

media

Increased deliveries More deliveries resultant in more 

short term on-street parking
Likely Need for kerbside 

management. Delivery hubs? 

Med –

Long

Core City

Councils

Residential developments Drop in prices and change in  

preference 
??? Lower values for residential  

development sites.

Long Press

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

37



6

Economic – Potential Impact  DRAFT

The impact of the pandemic on the wider economy is unclear with 

conflicting views and predictions against fast changing situation. Whilst 

demand for transport and parking falls during recessions, any view on 

whether a recession caused by COVID-19 outlives the pandemic would be 

pure speculation. It is clear though that in the short-term the financial 

impact on MSDC has been and will continue to be severe.

The potential longer term impact of the behavioural changes are perhaps 

more of a consideration. The pandemic has the potential to accelerate 

trends already taking place in town centres across the UK; a ‘crunch’ in 

casual dining; a shift from town centre retail to internet shopping, and the 

recovery of out-of-town retail after a decade of decline (1). Whilst Mid 

Sussex has no major out-of-town retail parks, there are some in 

neighbouring areas.

The retail offer in Burgess Hill and Haywards Heath is already reasonably 

limited. The potential failure of national chains would reduce retail choice 

further. East Grinstead, with more independent shopping may be 

potentially at more risk of business failure. This is something to consider as 

car parking usage patterns suggest that the parking is dominated by retail 

visits.

The link between town centre vitality and car park charges is far from clear 

(2), but tends towards higher charges in centres with more to offer. 

Keeping charges as they are, or even reducing them is unlikely to result in 

a measurable positive impact for centres, and the reverse may be true, as 

parking availability is the more important factor in centre choice.

(1) Report for Chichester City Council, 2016 - http://www.chichester.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=29361&p=0

(2) See Main Report, S3.1

(3) CACI – Long Term Consumer Trends, June 2020 - https://www.rli.uk.com/caci-reveals-five-new-long-term-consumer-trends/

Recent CACI research offers potential positives; 

as people seem to value their local centres and 

communities more, and want to travel less. The 

impact of retail changes could be offset by shorter 

trips by residents to local centres, not only for 

convenience shopping but to meet up with 

colleagues and friends, potentially improving the 

vitality of the town centres (3).

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

38



7

Societal & Transport DRAFT

The most obvious impact of COVID-19 on behaviour to-date 

has been limiting contact between humans; firstly through 

‘lock down’ measures and now through maintaining minimum 

distances between people in public alongside limiting the 

size and type of gatherings. These precautions have already 

proven to be effective in countries that have gained control of 

the epidemic such as S. Korea, Spain and Italy (1). 

Whilst this effects parking demand in terms of events and 

cultural activities, the bigger impact for MSDC could arise 

from the trend of working from home, which looks set to 

become a long term trend for companies with office-based 

businesses or staff (2).

There are a huge number of organisations across all sectors 

adopting work from home as the ‘new normal’ (3). The ONS 

reports that around 8.7m or 30% of the workforce has 

worked from home as a result of COVID-19. 

(1) Euronews, June 2020 - https://www.euronews.com/2020/05/16/coronavirus-latest-italy-to-lift-travel-restrictions-from-june-3

(2) ONS, March 2020 – ‘Coronavirus and Homeworking in the UK’

(3) Fastcompany – May 2020 - https://www.fastcompany.com/90508784/heres-an-ever-growing-list-of-companies-that-will-let-

people-work-from-home-forever

(4) Crowd Sourced List - ‘LifeShack’ – June 2020 - https://remote.lifeshack.io/

Barclays CEO Jes Staley 

said crowded corporate 

offices with thousands of 

employees “may be a 

thing of the past.”

1 - NHS City Centre Hospital

having struggled with home working as a concept for 

years, through necessity, have embraced it and signified 

that they will not be returning to high density full time 

office based working in the future.

2 - Aeronautical Engineering Company 

Software and IT needs make home working impractical for 

some engineers; abandonment of ‘Hotdesking’ with the 

conversion of an additional building to reduce office 

density and maintain distancing.

3 – Financial Services Company 

Homeworking has been such a success that they are 

considering reducing the space leased in one of London’s 

most famous landmark buildings at the earliest 

opportunity.

Three examples of how different organisations have 

responded to COVID-19:

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

39



8

Societal & Transport DRAFT

Data shows how road, rail and bus use generally rise and fall in 

line with the economy. The key difference with the COVID-19 

pandemic is the need to avoid large numbers of people in 

confined spaces. This has very clear implications for public 

transport. To date rail and bus trips are recovering at a much 

slower rate than road (see right).  

A shift from public to private transport could be one of the 

biggest long term impacts of the pandemic. IPSOS and the RAC 

have carried out surveys considering consumer intention to 

purchase cars and have found that it has increased (1), 

although consumer confidence in making large purchases is 

low. At the same time central government is promoting walking 

and cycling as safe travel alternatives, with some cities and 

towns re-allocating road and on-street parking to pedestrian and 

cycle use. 

Specifically, railway parking could be highly impacted, with a 

triple whammy effect of; lower economic activity, more working 

from home, and, a desire to avoid public transport. This would 

impact Queens Crescent and Railway Approach as well as 

season ticket sales in Haywards Heath.

The table overleaf assesses the potential economic variables 

and their potential impact on Mid Sussex parking operation and 

Draft Strategy.

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Impact of COVID-19 on Traffic and Travel 
% against same days in previous years, 

(weekdays, data release 03/6/20) 

Cars LGV HGV All Motor Rail Bus (Exc London)

(1) IPSOS, May, 2020 - https://www.ipsos.com/en/automotive-purchase-intention-driven-covid-19-social-distancing-concerns

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

40



9

Societal & Transport DRAFT

Variable Description Likely. Impact MSDC Impact Dur. Data 

Source

Less public transport use / 

more car purchases and 

use  

Social Dist/ fears of infection result in 

fewer PT trips and higher single

occupancy driver rates (as seen in 

China already)

Now Neg. impact on Station car 

parks e.g. Queens Cres. 

Perhaps pos. in 3 towns.

Med RAC 

Foundation

MORI poll 

China

Increased working from 

Home

Changes ‘bed in’ and become long 

term. 
Now Neg. impact on commuter car 

parks in HH. BH.

Long Multiple

announce

ments

Lower office density –

fewer people in 

more/same space

Less desks p/m2 V 

likely

Impact on commuter car 

parks, easing pressure?

Med -

Long

World 

economic 

Forum post

Political pressure need to 

assist key workers and 

healthcare staff to get to 

work easily and affordably 

There is pressure politically (and 

morally?) to improve QoL of key 

workers esp. healthcare staff

Likely There is a growing 

awareness of healthcare 

worker needs which could 

lead to pressure to provide 

permit systems

Short –

Med

BPA

‘Lock in benefits’ of air 

quality resulting of COVID

Pressure to reduce car parking / 

opposition to new car parks 
??? Impact on investment 

strategy

Med –

Long

Press

Changes to built 

environment 

Removal of on street parking for 

cycle / wider pavements 
Now Loss of on-street parking Med –

Long

Trade 

Press

Stronger policy towards 

favouring EVs to maintain 

air quality levels in the 

face of higher private car 

use

Pot. Govt. push towards preferential 

treatment of EVs, through ‘Green 

Plates’ for e.g. and through 

requirements for more infrastructure

??? May need to respond to 

central govt policy, and the 

need to monitor take up and 

use of EV charging

Med Trade 

Press / 

Press

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

41



10

There are no easy answers as to how behavioural changes in society and 

transport might impact parking in the long term. A key unknown is how the 

variables interact. For example: whilst there may be less commuting overall, 

more of this may be by private car, negating the impact.

Lower employment densities within offices may also take the pressure off 

private car parks leading to less overspill into on-street and car parks. 

Walking and cycling infrastructure may start to take precedence over on-street 

parking, as is being seen in some of the larger cities in England (and globally) 

already. The UK government has made £2bn available to local authorities to 

provide temporary to permanent facilities stating that “Local authorities in areas 

with high levels of public transport use should take measures to reallocate road 

space to people walking and cycling, both to encourage active travel and to 

enable social distancing during restart”.

Whilst car park season Tickets are likely to be less attractive to car park users, 

in Mid Sussex, given the heavy discount offered and value-for-money the 

impact may not be all that significant in MSDC’s case. 

Societal & Transport - Potential Impacts  

(1) Official DfT templates for signage

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

42



11

Practical / Parking DRAFT

The British Parking Association (BPA) has considered the impact of COVID-19 

on behalf of it’s members and produced a toolkit for responding to the pandemic. 

This includes a Risk Assessment Template to help operators assess the risk of 

disease transmission in car park and template signage which can be employed 

at parking sites. MSDC are aware of this toolkit and are using it.

The risks involved in day-to-day operations from COVID-19 are to staff and 

customers and arise from parking equipment and places within car parks where 

people linger, queue or potentially crowd together. The risk primarily comes from 

stairwells, payment machines, lift lobbies and the lifts themselves (1). 

With regards to the longevity of the risk, it seems likely that this will be around for 

as long as the pandemic, so completely unknown. 

For MSDC the risk to off-street is reduced significantly as all but one of their car 

parks are surface, with only one multi-storey, itself due for redevelopment and 

without having lifts. 

At the same time, new opportunities may start to arise. Until now the use of car 

parks as hubs for mobility and as part of logistics supply chains as ‘last mile 

delivery’ has been the subject of pilot projects. It could be that the growth in 

home shopping creates demand for localised hubs for collection and delivery (2).

The table overleaf assesses the potential economic variables and their potential 

impact on Mid Sussex parking operation and Draft Strategy.

(1) British Parking Association, 2020, Template Risk Assessment, Members Area

(2) CBRE - Parking Repurposing, 2018 - https://www.cbre.fr/en/united%20kingdom/research-and-reports/our-cities/underground-parking-repurposing

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

43



12

Practical / Parking DRAFT

Issue Description Likely Impact MSDC Impact Dur. Data 

Source

Social Distancing at car 

parks / protecting staff 

Payment machines, queuing, design 

of MSCP and payments
Now Only 1 MSCP (scheduled for 

demolition)

Retrofitted design or new 

equipment.

Long BPA

Acceleration of online and 

mobile payments

Payment prior to parking or via apps Now Payment before arrival? New 

payment systems / software 

needed? Data Platform

Long BPA

Cashless Parking. Cash is 

infectious and cards that 

require a PIN machine 

may also be a risk

General move towards pay-by-phone 

payments across sectors. Issue of 

increased transaction costs for car 

park operators

V 

likely 

MSDC has cashless parking.

Transaction costs of cashless.
Long BPA

Other uses, for example 

as micro-freight hubs for 

collection and delivery

Car Clubs and freight delivery uses 

for the ‘last mile’
??? Unknown at this early stage. Long BPA

Relaxation of enforcement

by CCTV and ANPR. 

Currently LAs are still 

required to issue PCNs 

manually through a CEO.

Temporary relaxation of enforcement

rules to allow CCTV/ ANPR camera 

enforcement to protect traffic lanes 

and reduce physical contact for 

CEOs could become permanent

Now Could help to make 

enforcement more efficient 

(although off-street operation 

on its own may make this 

uneconomic)

Long BPA

Potential Impacts

MSDC are already using the BPA’s advice and implementing measures to protect their staff and customers. Charging has 

resumed in the off-street car parks and lock-down measures are relaxed. 

The long term changes to equipment (fewer or anti-viral touchscreens) and car park layout, can be considered through the 

Investment Strategy.   

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

44



13

Impacts for the Strategy 
The SWOT analysis, right, summarises key findings 

of the technical work underpinning the draft Strategy 

and considers whether they represent a strength, 

weakness, opportunity or threat within local context. 

It is important not to overstate the long term impact. 

Whilst in the depths of the pandemic and measures 

designed to contain it, it may seem that the changes 

to the way we live and work seem incredibly 

dramatic. But, countries which have managed to 

control the spread of the virus (S Korea & Germany 

for example) are starting to see life return to a sort 

of normality. Schools and business are re-opening, 

traffic is starting to return to normal levels, and 

people are getting back to work.

With reference to parking, the main impacts of the 

COVID-19 pandemic so far, appear to be:

• An economic recession of unknowable duration 

and depth;

• An acceleration of trends already underway (e.g. 

retail, home working);

• Long term changes to the way we interact with 

each other to maintain social distancing;

• Environmental benefits. 

Strength Weakness

Opportunities Threats

Local centres with character that 

serve their communities 

Retail / service car park use 

which may be less impacted by 

reductions in commuting

Surface car parks which can 

respond to social distancing 

reqs.

Investment Strategy can 

respond to changes required in 

car park design

Well run service with in-house 

expertise and knowledge

Macro-economic impacts of a 

recession

Acceleration of cashless parking 

and technologies 

‘Other uses’ for cars parks as 

they arise

Changes to retail activity and a 

shift to online

Threat to regeneration projects 

and development proposals (e.g

proposed Cinema in Burgess 

Hill)

Reasonably limited retail offers 

and reliance on national chains 

in Haywards Heath and 

Burgess Hill

Pot. permanent changes to 

enforcement methods 

(CCTV/ANPR)

Outdated tariffs which do not 

reflect the diversity between the 

three towns

Pressure to reduce / keep tariffs 

without any evidence of impact.

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

45



14

Impacts for the Strategy 
The table below considers the key themes of the strategy and the main actions set out in the Action Plan. 

Key Theme and main Actions (summarised) Response

Investing in the Estate

Commission an Investment Strategy. 

Renew the Asset Management Plan and deliver. 

Starting the Investment Strategy and Asset Management Plan work as soon as 

practical will put the Council in a strong position to respond to the ‘new normal’ if one 

emerges in 6-12 months time. Consultation on the Investment Strategy, especially 

with business will provide insight into customer needs. 

Sustainable Growth 

Work with WSCC to support sustainable travel 

initiatives including EV charging and 

infrastructure. 

The potential acceleration of trends towards technology and different types of mobility 

represent an opportunity to MSDC. This should be done through the Investment 

Strategy and will need to involve WSCC as the Highways Authority. 

Explore using season tickets to support 

businesses and inward investment. 

Home working could result in changes being needed to Season Ticket regimes, 

MSDC should consider national practice and advice as it emerges and listen to its 

customers.

Supporting Vitality 

Annual review of P+D and season ticket tariffs. 

Introduction of differential tariff and regimes 

between different towns, and in the other 

settlements

Although implementation may need to be delayed, tariff review is still urgently 

needed. The disruption caused by COVID may provide the impetus needed to 

progress this work. 

Customer Experience

Improve through investment, develop digital 

platforms to provide virtual season tickets 

Cashless and contactless are already available and virtual permitting in progress. The 

Investment Strategy will further set out how technology investment will be made 

alongside investing in the Parking Estate. 

Respond to WSCC CPE review This remains a threat to the Parking operation and service. MSDC should continue 

dialogue with WSCC to see if the work has been impacted by COVID-19. 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

46



15

Conclusions 

Short Term (~6 mo)

- Be aware of the risks 
and opportunities 

- Measure car park usage 
and trends

- Carry out technical work 

Medium Term (1yr +)

- Monitor situation 

- Implement Tariff Review

- Use Investment Strategy 
to consider impacts and 

make investment 
decisions

Long Term (> 5yrs)

- Consider ‘other uses’ 
such as last mile logistics

- Consider commuter / 
retail mix through pricing

The Strategy set out to provide a flexible framework and direction of travel within which to respond to external factors and 

support other Council policies. As such we consider it sound even in the face of such disruption. The mitigation strategy 

below sets out how MSDC should respond. 

Mitigation Strategy: 

In the short term, MSDC will experience a significant reduction in income, but in the medium to long term, there is no 

reason to believe that the Councils’ parking estate, suited as it is for town centre trips and insulated from what appear to 

be the worst impacts on commuting and public transport use, will suffer a long term or permanent reduction in use. The 

significant impacts on car park design, will in the main apply to future development and can be dealt with in the 

Investment Strategy. 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

47



16
DRAFT – WORK IN PROGRESS

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

48



 
 

HAYWARDS HEATH TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN SUPPLEMENTARY 
PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT 
 
REPORT OF: BUSINESS UNIT LEADER – PLANNING POLICY 
Contact Officer: Andrew Marsh 

Email: andrew.marsh@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477488 
Wards Affected: All Haywards Heath Wards 
Key Decision No 
Report To: Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth  

Date of meeting: 22nd October 2020 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to ask the Scrutiny Committee to consider the 

consultation draft Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD).  

2. Following its consideration, the Scrutiny Committee is asked to recommend that 
the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning approves the document for 
public consultation.  

Summary 
 
3. This report: 

a) sets out the background to why the Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan is needed; 

b) describes the process of its preparation;  

c) summarises the broad content of the Masterplan; and  

d) outlines the next steps. 

Recommendations  
 
4. That the Scrutiny Committee: 

(i) Considers the Consultation Draft Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD;  

 
(ii) Delegates authority to Divisional Leader for Planning and 

Economy, in consultation with the Cabinet Member, to make 
typographical, grammatical and photographic editorial changes 
before consultation; and  

 
(ii) Recommends that Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

approves the document for public consultation. 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background  
 
5. Town centres are at the heart of local communities. They are the retail, 

community, leisure and business focus for the town. It is vital that town centres 
remain vibrant and prosperous, supporting economic recovery and growth. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 49

Agenda Item 8

mailto:andrew.marsh@midsussex.gov.uk


 
 

 
6. The Council’s Economic Development Strategy (adopted 2018) contains an 

objective to create “viable and vibrant town and village centres with their own 
identity which meet the retail, leisure and employment needs of the growing 
population”. One of the actions to meet this objective is to “Develop a 
Masterplan to help shape the strategic long-term vision for Haywards Heath as a 
destination and to co-ordinate development and investment to deliver that 
vision”. 

7. Planning Policy also recognises the importance of Town Centres. The National 
Planning Policy Framework states that “Planning policies and decisions should 
support the role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by 
taking a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation.”  

8. The Mid Sussex District Plan (adopted 2018) supports the regeneration and 
renewal in Town Centres. Policy DP2: Town Centre Redevelopment notes that 
this should be in accordance with Town Centre Masterplans, where adopted.  

9. The District Council intends to publish a draft Town Centre Masterplan for 
Haywards Heath, for public consultation. This will give the community an 
opportunity to have their say on the future of the Town Centre.   

10. The Masterplan (once adopted) will be a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD). The SPD will provide additional guidance to Policy DP2: Town Centre 
Development and will be a material consideration in making planning decisions. 
Upon adoption, scheduled for Spring 2021, the Masterplan will supersede the 
current Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan which was adopted in 2007. 

 
What is the role of a Town Centre Masterplan? 
 
11. The role and purpose of a Masterplan is far reaching.  

12. The primary role of a Town Centre Masterplan is to provide a framework for 
economic vitality, recovery and growth. An adopted Masterplan demonstrates 
the Town’s intentions for regeneration and renewal which in turn provides more 
clarity for the community, potential investors and those planning development 
and infrastructure. It can also provide evidence to support bids for future 
investment and help prioritise investment priorities and decisions.  

13. The draft Masterplan cannot set additional planning policy or allocate sites for 
development or specific uses. Its role is to set a framework and guiding 
principles, should development opportunities arise within the lifetime of the 
Masterplan.  

14. Alongside guiding principles for specific sites, including design guidance, the 
draft Masterplan contains high-level transport improvement proposals. These 
are only indicative concepts; the consultation will enable the Council and West 
Sussex County Council to gauge the level of support for them and, should they 
be taken forward into an adopted SPD, the high-level concepts will be the 
starting point for further detailed design. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 50



 
 

15. The Masterplan is not the delivery vehicle for the proposals contained within it.  
The draft Masterplan contains an Implementation Strategy in the document 
(section 7) which provides examples of further work or studies that will be 
required to bring forward schemes, the bodies involved, as well as an indicative 
timeline.  

 
Process of preparing the draft Masterplan 
 
16. The following work has been carried out in preparing the Masterplan:  

 The Council appointed Tibbalds and Civic Engineers in early 2019 to 
provide expert guidance and support, and to draft the Masterplan.   

 The consultants carried out background research and site visits to establish 
a draft Vision and objectives for the Town Centre and recommended 
proposals.   

 A Member Workshop, including representatives from the District, Town and 
County Councils was held in July 2019 to help develop the Vision and 
Objectives, and to share early findings and potential projects and 
opportunities. 

 A recent review of the draft Masterplan to ensure it reflects (as far as 
possible) the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic to ensure it enables 
economic recovery, reflecting the likely changing role of town centres in the 
future. 

 
17. The draft Masterplan draws together a series of existing plans, projects and 

proposals into one place. These include: 

 West Sussex County Council’s previous work to assess transport 
improvements within the town (The ‘Atkins Study’ 2005) 

 The District Council’s work on revising its Parking Strategy, the Economic 
Development Strategy and Park Improvement Plans  

 Haywards Heath Town Council’s adopted Neighbourhood Plan and its 
ambitions within “The Art of the Possible” and “Destination Haywards 
Heath” (2019) 

 
Content of the draft Masterplan 
 
18. The draft Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan is included at Appendix 1. 

Vision and Objectives (Section 1) 
 
19. The draft Masterplan contains the following 8 objectives to achieve the Vision of 

re-enforcing Haywards Heath’s role as a vibrant and connected town that 
attracts business and people: 

1 Attracting people to visit, work, and live in the Town Centre 

2 Retaining and strengthening the distinct character areas 

3 Providing opportunities for sustainable travel and improving public realm 

4 Exploring and providing opportunities to improve parking provision 

5 Protecting the town’s significant green spaces (e.g. Victoria Park and Clair 
Park) 

6 Creating positive ‘gateway moments’ to define arrival into the Town Centre 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 51



 
 

7 Providing a framework for enhancing opportunities to live in the Town Centre 

8 Providing a framework for ‘meanwhile uses’ such as pop-ups to increase 
vibrancy 

 

20. The draft Masterplan identifies the following five key character areas which are 
the focus for the recommendations proposed: 

 Commercial Square and Station 

 Perrymount Road 

 The Broadway 

 South Road (including The Orchards) 

 Sussex Road 
 
21. The draft Masterplan contains recommendations and ‘Aims and Principles’ 

relating to Public Realm and Transport Infrastructure (Section 4); identifies a 
number of Opportunity Sites (Section 5) within each of these character areas; 
and establishes broad principles that apply within the whole of the Town Centre 
boundary. 

Public Realm and Transport Infrastructure Improvements (Section 4) 
 
22. The draft Masterplan identifies principles for Public Realm and Transport 

Infrastructure Improvements, with the aim of strengthening the key character 
areas, enhancing accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists, integrating the parks, 
and creating a strong identity for Haywards Heath through improved gateway 
features and signage at key locations. It is important to note that these 
proposals are only concept designs which will require further detailed design 
and development prior to implementation. 

23. A summary of the development principles for transport infrastructure and public 
realm are as follows: 

 Commercial Square and Station – This is the main point of arrival into 
Haywards Heath and the proposals for this area relate to making this arrival 
point more attractive, providing better signage and wayfinding to direct 
people to key areas such as Perrymount Road, The Broadway and South 
Road, and improving pedestrian and cycle facilities.  
 

 Perrymount Road – This area hosts the towns main cluster of commercial 
offices and is a key link between the station and the Food/Beverage and 
Retail focus, this link should be emphasised and enhanced. Proposals for 
this area relate to improving pedestrian and cycle links, particularly the 
western footway which is the main route, and improving public realm. 
 

 Muster Green Gyratory – The current configuration of the gyratory is not 
pedestrian or cycle friendly, particularly as it forms a key link between the 
Station and South Road. The proposal is to pedestrianise the Broadway arm 
which could encourage activities such as markets or events. This in turn 
would reduce the need for as many crossings and signals. 

 
 The Broadway – The Broadway is currently the food and beverage hub for 

the town, with a distinct character and function. To strengthen this, it is 
proposed to reduce the dominance of vehicles, improve pedestrian 
connectivity and enhance public realm.  

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 52



 
 

 
 South Road – South Road currently provides the retail focus for the town. It 

is vehicle dominated, both in terms of quantity and speed, making it difficult 
for pedestrians to cross. A key aim of the draft Masterplan is to discourage 
unnecessary traffic away from South Road (which is often used as a through-
route). Reducing speed limits, narrowing the carriageway, increasing the 
number of pedestrian crossings, and using features to define South Road as 
the Town Centre rather than a through route, combined with a proposal to 
make changes to the Tylers Green intersection, should encourage more 
traffic onto the relief road.  

 
 Victoria Park – Victoria Park is an important open space and provides a 

connection between The Broadway and South Road. There are opportunities 
to improving this connection whilst also enhancing the appeal of Victoria Park 
and ensuring any public realm changes enable its use for community events. 

 
 Sussex Road – There are numerous independent businesses along Sussex 

Road and it is a key route for pedestrians and vehicles. Proposals relate to 
making the roundabout more pedestrian/cycle friendly and helping to better 
define the area to ensure people recognise they are entering the town centre.  

 
 Other Measures – The draft Masterplan also includes proposals to 

manage/reduce speed limits on key routes; improving wayfinding and 
signage as well as defining ‘Gateways’ to announce arrival into a town centre 
environment; and improving the parking offer by increasing capacity, 
including consolidating car parking into a central location. 

 
Opportunity Sites (Section 5) 
 
24. The draft Masterplan identifies “Opportunity Sites” within the Town Centre 

boundary that have potential for regeneration and renewal and which could help 
deliver the Vision for the town centre.  

25. The identification of these sites does not imply they are available or viable, and 
additional work will be required to establish the precise opportunities these sites 
could provide, and how they may come forward – as set out in the 
Implementation Strategy (section 7). 

26. A series of Aims and Principles have been established for each of these areas 
to guide future development.  

 
 The Orchards Shopping Centre  

The Orchards Centre is the retail focal point within the town centre. To 
ensure viability and vitality, the Masterplan sets out three measures that aim 
to increase footfall, encourage a flourishing night-time economy, and 
maintain an attractive destination for those wishing to trade (both by retaining 
existing tenants and encouraging new ones). The Masterplan therefore 
proposes: 

 Incorporating other uses, e.g. leisure or community; 

 Improving the public realm and built environment; and 

 Enhancing Town Centre parking 
 
 
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 53



 
 

 Clair Hall  
The Clair Hall site was identified as an Opportunity Area within the 2007 
Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan given its strategic location.  
 
The site still represents an opportunity for future regeneration. The 
Masterplan sets out Aims and Principles to guide future development, this 
includes establishing the need for such a facility and whether community 
facilities could be re-provided on this site or elsewhere in the town. Other 
important principles such as the relationship with existing buildings and Clair 
Park are also set out. 

 
 MSDC Owned Car Parks  

Objective 4 of the Masterplan relates to the provision of sufficient car parking, 
to meet existing and future needs. The Town Centre includes three small car 
parks (Haywards East, Haywards West and Franklynn Road), which are often 
at capacity. This causes frustration for shoppers, who often circle between 
car parks to find a space, causing unnecessary vehicle movements, 
particularly on South Road. 
 
In conjunction with the objectives of the revised Parking Strategy (to be 
approved late 2020/early 2021), the Masterplan includes Aims and Principles 
for consolidating the smaller car parks into one or two larger capacity car 
parks at The Orchards. This in turn will present an opportunity for 
redevelopment of the smaller car parks, principally for residential use. 
 

 Additional Opportunity Sites  
The Masterplan also identifies 8 additional opportunity sites that have 
potential for smaller-scale improvements. These are located in 
prominent/gateway locations, the principles for each relate to supporting 
vibrancy and vitality.  
 

 Texaco (opposite northern station entrance) – potential for retail 
and/or residential 

 2 The Broadway – well positioned for food & beverage use on the 
ground floor with residential/commercial above 

 118-142 South Road (opposite Victoria Park) – improvements to 
elevation and/or a shop-frontage design strategy 

 59-83 South Road (opposite The Orchards) – opportunity for public 
realm enclosed by new buildings 

 3-19 South Road – potential for retail on the ground floor and 
residential above 

 The Priory – an important building, could be explored for other uses 
 Mill Green Road (Royal Mail) – appropriate for residential subject to 

relocation of existing uses 
 Muster Green/Broadway (on gyratory, adjacent The Star) – mixed use 

development potential 
  

Policy Interventions (Section 6) 
 
27. As a Supplementary Planning Document, the Masterplan cannot set new policy. 

However, this Council is scheduled to commence work to review the District 
Plan in 2021. The Masterplan provides guidance on potential changes to policy 
in relation to Town Centre uses that could be considered for inclusion in a new 
District Plan.  

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 54



 
 

Consultation 
 
28. It is important that the community comments on the draft Masterplan as it will 

shape the long-term future of the Town Centre. Therefore, the draft Masterplan 
will be subject to 6-weeks consultation following Cabinet Member approval. 
Consultation will be carried out in accordance with the Community Involvement 
Plan (Appendix 4). 

29. The Council will use the latest digital technology to ensure that the consultation 
is visual, and map based. The draft Masterplan will be published on the 
Council’s website alongside an interactive map which will allow stakeholders to 
view the proposals, find further information, and submit responses.  

Next Steps 
 
30. Following consultation officers will review the feedback and, where appropriate, 

changes will be proposed to the Masterplan. The final draft version of the 
document will be reconsidered by this Committee, before being submitted to Full 
Council in Spring 2021 for adoption as an SPD. 

31. Once adopted the Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD will carry 
weight in the planning decision making process. It will also be used as a 
marketing and promotion tool in order to stimulate inward investment and to 
inform any investment funding opportunities.   

 
Other Options Considered 
 
32. An option would be to not prepare a Masterplan and rely on District Plan Policy 

DP2: Town Centre Development. However, this is a general policy and does not 
provide the level of supplementary detail or certainty to support economic 
recovery and ensure inward investment in this location.  

Financial Implications 
 
33. The costs of preparing the Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan have been 

funded from the Development Plan specific Reserve.  

Risk Management Implications 
 
34. The Government’s focus is on economic recovery and growth, and ensuring 

vitality of Town Centres, which this Masterplan supports.  

Equality and customer service implications  
 
35. The draft Masterplan has been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment 

(Appendix 5). This concludes that the document does not discriminate against 
any members of the community that have ‘protected characteristics.’  

Other Material Implications 
 
36. Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) (Appendix 2) and Habitats 

Regulations Assessment (HRA) (Appendix 3) Screening have been carried out 
on the draft Masterplan. Both conclude that SEA and HRA are not required.  

   

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 55



 
 

Appendices 
 

1. Draft Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan (October 2020) 
2. Strategic Environmental Assessment – Screening (October 2020) 
3. Habitats Regulations Assessment – Screening (October 2020) 
4. Community Involvement Plan (October 2020) 
5. Equalities Impact Assessment (October 2020) 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 56



HAYWARDS HEATH 
TOWN CENTRE 
MASTERPLAN

Supplementary Planning Document
October 2020

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 57



Tibbalds Planning and Urban Design 
19 Maltings Place 
169 Tower Bridge Road 
London SE1 3JB

Telephone 
020 7089 2121

mail@tibbalds.co.uk 
www.tibbalds.co.uk

Quality Assurance

Project title Haywards Heath Town Centre

Document title Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan Supplementary 
Planning Document

Client Mid-Sussex District Council

Checked by Project Runner Richard Crutchley

Approved by Project Director Katja Stille

Project number 5738

Location of file on server TPUD - Main/Job Server/5738 
Haywards Heath Town 
Centre/5738 4.0 Design 
Work/5738 4.4 Reports & 
Output/5738 4.4 indd/PDF

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 58



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

1

 ❚ CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 3

1.0 VISION AND OBJECTIVES 4

1.1  VISION STATEMENT 5

1.2  TOWN CENTRE OBJECTIVES 6

2.0 BACKGROUND 7

2.1  PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 9

2.2 PURPOSE OF THE MASTERPLAN 10

2.3  STUDY PROCESS 11

2.4  POLICY CONTEXT 12

3.0 UNDERSTANDING HAYWARDS HEATH 15

3.1 CONTEXT WITHIN MID SUSSEX AND THE WIDER  
SUB REGION 16

3.2 BASELINE ANALYSIS 20

3.3 PROTECTING AND ENHANCING UNIQUE EXISTING 
FEATURES  32

3.4 THE MASTERPLAN FRAMEWORK: SUMMARY OF 
DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 34

4.0  PUBLIC REALM AND TRANSPORT  
 INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 37

4.1 DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 39

4.2 COMMERCIAL SQUARE ROUNDABOUT AND STATION 
AREA 42

4.3 PERRYMOUNT ROAD 43

4.4 MUSTER GREEN GYRATORY  44

4.5 THE BROADWAY  46

4.6 SOUTH ROAD  49

4.7 SUSSEX ROAD 52

4.8 SPEED LIMIT 54

4.9 CYCLING 55

4.10 PARKING  56

4.11 VICTORIA PARK 58

4.12 GATEWAYS AND WAYFINDING SIGNAGE 59

4.13 OTHER SMALL-SCALE IMPROVEMENTS 61

4.14 MEANWHILE USES 63

5.0 OPPORTUNITY SITES 64

5.1 DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES 66

5.2  ADDITIONAL OPPORTUNITIES  67

5.3 A.  THE ORCHARDS SHOPPING CENTRE 
REDEVELOPMENT                  69

5.4 B.  CLAIR HALL  72

5.5 MSDC-OWNED CAR PARKS  73

6.0 POLICY INTERVENTIONS 74

7.0 IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY 76

LIST OF PROJECTS AND FURTHER WORK REQUIRED 77

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 59



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

2

©TIBBALDS 2020
Eastern entrance to Victoria Park

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 60



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

3

The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan has been 
prepared to develop a vision, objectives and guiding 
principles for the Town Centre. The Masterplan builds upon 
the recognition within the adopted Mid Sussex District 
Plan, and national planning policy, that Town Centres 
can play a vital role in facilitating economic vitality and 
economic growth which is particularly important given 
their changing role in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, and 
the need to support recovery. The Masterplan covers the 
plan period to 2031 and sets a framework for projects 
both short-term and long-term within this period. This 
is particularly important given the changing role of town 
centres in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the need to 
support recovery. 

A Town Centre Masterplan was adopted for Haywards 
Heath in 2007. This was very retail-focused and is 
no longer fit-for-purpose given changes to the retail 
environment since it was adopted. The Masterplan will be 
adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), 
providing additional support and guidance to District Plan 
policy DP2: Town Centre Development. The production 
of a Masterplan is an action within the District Council’s 
Economic Development Strategy (2018). 

The Masterplan sets out the current baseline position and 
identifies key character areas that contribute to Haywards 
Heath’s USP and opportunity areas and projects. This will 
provide a framework for future planning decisions as well 
as investment. 

This version of the Masterplan is a Consultation Draft. It will 
be subject to public and stakeholder consultation, whereby 
the community and key partners will be able to provide 
their views. Comments will be collated and inform the next 
version of the Masterplan, ahead of adoption as SPD by 
the District Council upon which it will contain weight in 
determining planning applications within the Town Centre 
boundary. 

 ❚ EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 61



 ❚ 1.0   

VISION AND 
OBJECTIVES

        

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 62



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

5

As the ‘Heart of Mid-Sussex’, Haywards 
Heath Town Centre is a vibrant, connected 
town with a beating heart of its own. 

Haywards Heath attracts and retains 
business and people because of its good 
communications and strategic transport 
links. The town offers diverse attractions, 
facilities, and community events - set 
within high quality public realm and 
parkland which makes it easy and 
enjoyable for people to come together and 
live their lives. 

 ❚ 1.1  VISION STATEMENT

        

South Road

Houses facing Victoria Park

The Orchards Shopping Centre

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 63



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

6

©TIBBALDS 2020

1.            To strengthen its position as ‘The Heart of Mid Sussex’ 
encouraging economic recovery and growth by ensuring 
investment and development is focused on nurturing community 
and attracting people to visit, work, and live in, the town centre.

 ❚ 1.2  TOWN CENTRE OBJECTIVES

2.   To retain and strengthen the distinct character areas and activity 
assets of the town centre so they connect and complement one 
another and are commercially viable.

8.   To provide a framework for meanwhile uses to explore the viability 
of alternative uses and increase the vibrancy of the town centre for 
residents and visitors.

7.            To provide a framework for enhancing the opportunity to live 
in the town centre, giving life to the town centre’s overall viability 
and the opportunity to give momentum to a flourishing evening 
economy.

6.   To create key positive and welcoming gateway moments to clearly 
define the arrival into the town centre (e.g. through markers or 
public art).

5.    To protect, integrate, and enhance the town’s significant green 
spaces which provide both a context for making connections and 
a place to reflect , relax and hold cultural events and activities to 
enhance the vibrancy of the town.

4.   To explore and provide opportunities to consolidate and improve 
the town centre’s parking provision to facilitate access and improve 
traffic flow, that meets the needs of visitors and businesses and is 
not dominated by the appearance and movement of cars.

3.    To provide opportunities for sustainable travel throughout the 
town centre, particularly between the town centre’s character 
areas, by improving public realm so that walking and cycling are 
attractive options for residents and visitors alike, and discouraging 
unnecessary traffic from using key routes such as South Road and 
The Broadway. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 64



 ❚ 2.0   

BACKGROUND

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 65



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

8

©TIBBALDS 2020
Play area within Victoria Park, looking towards the west across sports pitches

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 66



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

9

The need for a Haywards Heath masterplan was set out 
in the Mid-Sussex Economic Development Strategy (2018 
- 2031).  It included an action to, “develop a masterplan 
to help shape the strategic long-term vision for Haywards 
Heath as a destination and to co-ordinate development and 
investment to deliver that vision.”  In addition, the previous 
masterplan from 2007 has become out of date due to 
the influences on town centres being very different now, 
particularly in terms of retail.

The ambition at the outset of the work was to ensure the 
vitality of the town centre into the future. During the course 
of preparing the Masterplan, the Covid-19 pandemic hit. 
It therefore adds extra significance to ensuring the town 
centre is fit-for-purpose into the future and provides a 
framework that will stimulate economic recovery and 
growth. In order to do this it will seek to:

	■ provide an umbrella for transport and other infrastructure 
improvements;

	■ provide a framework for sites coming forward for 
development;

	■ protect key sites and the town’s unique characteristics 
from inappropriate development;

	■ engage and collaborate with partners including 
Haywards Heath Town Council, town centre businesses 
and other stakeholders to ensure the framework has 
support to be implemented; and

	■ provide an opportunity to review existing policy around 
factors that influence town centre development. 

The District Council recognises its fundamental role in the 
future of Haywards Heath as planning authority, with a role in 
place shaping, as a provider of services and as a significant 
landowner – notably in relation to the Orchards Shopping 
Centre, Clair Hall and a series of surface car parks across 
the town centre.  These landholdings comprise the most 
significant mixed use development opportunities in the town 
centre and the masterplan has worked to test options for 
supporting the town centre alongside the development of a 
planning and transport strategy.

The masterplan has a number of overlapping purposes 
which guide its scope and format. The purposes of the 
masterplan are set out below:

	■ develop a vision, objectives and guiding principles 
for the future of Haywards Heath in the context of the 
District Plan and Haywards Heath Neighbourhood Plan: 
a strategic plan for the town centre;

	■ further understand (and develop) the USP and role of 
Haywards Heath and complementary functions with 
respect to East Grinstead and Burgess Hill – given 

 ❚ 2.1  PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT

the scale and pattern of growth proposed across the 
District;

	■ develop proposals to support the viability and vitality 
of the town centre in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and address 
leakage of retail spend to other centres outside of the 
District to other centres;

	■ provide a future-proofed framework that facilitates 
economic recovery and growth, recognising the 
contribution town centres make to the local and regional 
economy;

	■ encourage the economic potential of non-retail activity, 
such as employment and the evening economy;

	■ identify key development sites and projects – scale, 
nature and mix of uses;

	■ enable the work on any proposals for the Orchards 
redevelopment to be integrated into the wider proposals 
for the town centre;

	■ provide an overview of potential redevelopment 
opportunities for other Council-owned land (principally 
car parks), in conjunction with the parking study, which 
will consider both on and off-street parking provision 
serving the town centre;

	■ provide a framework for prioritising investment in 
transport infrastructure in /around the town centre;

	■ improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience in the town 
centre in order to encourage people to travel to the town 
centre by means other than the private car;

	■ improve green infrastructure links and resources in the 
town centre; and,

	■ provide an evidence base and help inform the 
determination of planning applications in the town centre 
going forward.

Status of the document
The Mid Sussex District Plan, adopted in March 2018, 
includes policy DP2: Town Centre Development. This 
supports regeneration and renewal of the district’s three 
town centres.

The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan is intended 
for adoption as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
A SPD provides further detail to the adopted District Plan 
policy, and provides further guidance for development within 
the Town Centre Masterplan boundary. Once adopted, it will 
be a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications within the area and will replace the 2007 
masterplan.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 67



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

10

©TIBBALDS 2020

This consultation draft Town Centre Masterplan will 
be subject to public consultation, all comments will be 
considered ahead of the production of a final version of the 
Masterplan which will be adopted by the District Council.

This masterplan identifies:

	■ Policy interventions required to facilitate appropriate 
development to enhance vibrancy and vitality of the 
town centre including during economic recovery from 
Covid-19;

	■ Character areas, defined by their function and identity, 
and highlighting objectives within them such as improving 
the quality of the ‘green lungs’ or strengthening retail / 
leisure areas;

	■ Key routes and desire lines for all modes of transport, 
such as links to the station and between different 
character areas;

	■ Opportunities for improvement of buildings and public 
realm, such as ways to reduce the barrier effect (i.e. 
the dominance of roads in the environment) of Muster 
Green gyratory and how to improve gateways;

	■ Key townscape groups, views and Listed Buildings, 
those that need to be improved, as well as those that 
need protecting;

	■ Development principles, capacity and concept layout for 
key town centre sites, including urban design principles 
which will help to guide landowners and developers 
who wish to develop their sites on the principles that the 
Council expects; and,

	■ High level concept options for Orchards as the town 
centre’s focal point, exploring different ways of 
accommodating parking, land uses, scale and massing.

 ❚ 2.2 PURPOSE OF THE MASTERPLAN

South Road, looking west

The Broadway

View from Haywards Road towards South Road

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 68



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

11

The methodology was split into three steps:

Understanding Haywards Heath Town Centre

	■ Baseline analysis, including context, urban design / 
townscape, heritage, transport, routes and connections, 
land uses and emerging development proposals;

	■ Identify opportunities and barriers, including 
development sites, transport, connections and linkages, 
strategic initiatives, land uses; emerging retail and 
consumer trends and character areas; and

	■ Agree key opportunity sites as well as areas that need 
protection.

Vision Stakeholder Engagement 

	■ Propose a draft Vision based on the existing policy and 
emerging growth. This work was based on existing 
studies, the District Plan evidence base, and studies 
undertaken by developers / landowners taking forward 
strategic sites.  

	■ Engagement with stakeholders, including Town Council 
and officers (workshop) and landowners (individual 
conversations), to learn from their knowledge and agree 
the Vision and Objectives for Haywards Heath Town 
Centre.

	■ Each of these stakeholders has a role, alongside the 
statutory providers, to bring forward the ideas and 
proposals expressed in the masterplan.                                      

Through this process, the Council has sought to bring 
different studies and stakeholders together to ensure that 
the masterplan becomes the central reference document 
for Haywards Heath town centre. This has included West 
Sussex County Council, who have an oversight of transport 
planning, the Council’s Economic Development team who 
assist with the delivery of the Economic Development 
Strategy objectives, and those involved in planning and 
managing different Council services and functions such as 
the parks, events and property interests.

Each of these stakeholders has a role, alongside the 
statutory providers, to bring forward the ideas and 
proposals expressed in the masterplan.

Developing a Vision, Objectives and the Town 
Centre Masterplan

	■ Develop the draft Vision based on feedback and input 
received from stakeholder engagement (this will be also 
be updated to reflect any comments received during the 
public consultation period);

	■ Define the key objectives for the town centre which 
identify how proposals within the masterplan will be 
measured in terms of their success;

	■ Develop the a series of proposals and projects to achieve 
the objectives, categorising them into ‘Public Realm and 
Transport Infrastructure Improvements’ and ‘Opportunity 
Sites’, as well as by scale (i.e. small, medium and large);

	■ Define the policy interventions required to implement the 
masterplan; and,

	■ Set out an implementation strategy which identifies the 
further studies required, the lead agents, and timescale 
associated with each proposal / project.

 ❚ 2.3  STUDY PROCESS

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 69



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

12

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 2.4  POLICY CONTEXT

Mid Sussex District Plan (2014 - 2031)
The District Plan supports the regeneration and renewal 
of the main town centres in the district, recognising the 
role they play in providing shops and services for their 
communities.  The most recent retail reviews (2014/2016) 
conclude that the town centres are generally performing 
well, but below their potential, and need to improve their 
attractiveness in order to compete with surrounding centres.

The Retail Study 2016 found that there was no quantitative 
need for additional convenience goods, for the plan period, 
this effectively being met by the Waitrose development at 
Haywards Heath station (though this doesn’t necessarily 
stall interest from a range of operators).  The same is true of 
comparison goods in the short term (again, partly through 
the offer at Waitrose in Haywards Heath).  Later in the plan 
period (post-2029), the retail study anticipates a capacity 
in comparison goods of 3,675m2 in Haywards Heath (with 
other need in other centres).

The town centre boundary, as defined in the Local Plan, 
takes in the main shopping areas and the focus of food and 
drink, so including South Road and the Orchards, Sussex 
Road and The Broadway.  This boundary – unlike the wider 
boundary used for the masterplan study – does not include 
Perrymount Road and the area around the station.

Policy DP2 promotes retail development within the primary 
shopping areas (defined in the plan as South Road and The 
Orchards), and Class A uses and other suitable town centre 
uses are promoted in the secondary shopping frontages, i.e. 
The Broadway and Sussex Road.

The Policies Map recognises the Neighbourhood Plan policy 
B3, which identifies and protects the employment area along 
Perrymount Road and Clair Hall.

530000 530500 531000 531500 532000 532500 533000 533500 534000 534500 535000 535500

12
10

00
12

15
00

12
20

00
12

25
00

12
30

00
12

35
00

12
40

00
12

45
00

12
50

00
12

55
00

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100021794
1:12,500

Map 13:
Haywards Heath

March 2018

I

DISTRICT PLAN POLICY NUMBERS

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
POLICY NUMBERS

District Boundary

#

# ## Neighbourhood Plan Areas

Parish Boundary

! Provision of terminus for Bluebell Railway

Proposed Bluebell Railway western extension

St Francis Sports Site

Proposed green corridor

Open Space

Major employment sites

Housing Allocation

FloodZones

Bluebell Railway Extension

High Weald AONB

Conservation Area

Park or Garden of Historic Interest

Local Nature Reserve

Ancient Monuments

SNCI - Site of Nature Conservation Importance

Built up Area Boundary

Countryside Area of Development Restraint

Town Centre Boundary

Area of Townscape Character

Ashdown Forest 7km Zone of Influence

!!! Primary Shopping Frontage

!!! Secondary Shopping Frontage

530000 530500 531000 531500 532000 532500 533000 533500 534000 534500 535000 535500

12
10

00
12

15
00

12
20

00
12

25
00

12
30

00
12

35
00

12
40

00
12

45
00

12
50

00
12

55
00

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100021794
1:12,500

Map 13:
Haywards Heath

March 2018

I

DISTRICT PLAN POLICY NUMBERS

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
POLICY NUMBERS

District Boundary

#

# ## Neighbourhood Plan Areas

Parish Boundary

! Provision of terminus for Bluebell Railway

Proposed Bluebell Railway western extension

St Francis Sports Site

Proposed green corridor

Open Space

Major employment sites

Housing Allocation

FloodZones

Bluebell Railway Extension

High Weald AONB

Conservation Area

Park or Garden of Historic Interest

Local Nature Reserve

Ancient Monuments

SNCI - Site of Nature Conservation Importance

Built up Area Boundary

Countryside Area of Development Restraint

Town Centre Boundary

Area of Townscape Character

Ashdown Forest 7km Zone of Influence

!!! Primary Shopping Frontage

!!! Secondary Shopping Frontage

530000 530500 531000 531500 532000 532500 533000 533500 534000 534500 535000 535500

12
10

00
12

15
00

12
20

00
12

25
00

12
30

00
12

35
00

12
40

00
12

45
00

12
50

00
12

55
00

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100021794
1:12,500

Map 13:
Haywards Heath

March 2018

I

DISTRICT PLAN POLICY NUMBERS

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
POLICY NUMBERS

District Boundary

#

# ## Neighbourhood Plan Areas

Parish Boundary

! Provision of terminus for Bluebell Railway

Proposed Bluebell Railway western extension

St Francis Sports Site

Proposed green corridor

Open Space

Major employment sites

Housing Allocation

FloodZones

Bluebell Railway Extension

High Weald AONB

Conservation Area

Park or Garden of Historic Interest

Local Nature Reserve

Ancient Monuments

SNCI - Site of Nature Conservation Importance

Built up Area Boundary

Countryside Area of Development Restraint

Town Centre Boundary

Area of Townscape Character

Ashdown Forest 7km Zone of Influence

!!! Primary Shopping Frontage

!!! Secondary Shopping Frontage

530000 530500 531000 531500 532000 532500 533000 533500 534000 534500 535000 535500

12
10

00
12

15
00

12
20

00
12

25
00

12
30

00
12

35
00

12
40

00
12

45
00

12
50

00
12

55
00

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100021794
1:12,500

Map 13:
Haywards Heath

March 2018

I

DISTRICT PLAN POLICY NUMBERS

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
POLICY NUMBERS

District Boundary

#

# ## Neighbourhood Plan Areas

Parish Boundary

! Provision of terminus for Bluebell Railway

Proposed Bluebell Railway western extension

St Francis Sports Site

Proposed green corridor

Open Space

Major employment sites

Housing Allocation

FloodZones

Bluebell Railway Extension

High Weald AONB

Conservation Area

Park or Garden of Historic Interest

Local Nature Reserve

Ancient Monuments

SNCI - Site of Nature Conservation Importance

Built up Area Boundary

Countryside Area of Development Restraint

Town Centre Boundary

Area of Townscape Character

Ashdown Forest 7km Zone of Influence

!!! Primary Shopping Frontage

!!! Secondary Shopping Frontage

Key

District Plan – Strategic Objectives

Priority 
themes

Strategic Objectives for the District Plan

Protecting and 
enhancing the 
environment

	■ To protect valued characteristics of the built 
environment for their historical and visual 
qualities

	■ To create and maintain easily accessible green 
infrastructure, green corridors and spaces 
around and within the towns and villages to act 
as wildlife corridors, sustainable transport links 
and leisure and recreational routes

	■ To ensure that development is accompanied by 
the necessary infrastructure in the right place at 
the right time that supports development and 
sustainable communities.  This includes the 
provision of efficient and sustainable transport 
networks

Promoting 
economic 
vitality

	■ To promote a place which is attractive to a 
full range of businesses, and where local 
enterprise thrives

	■ To provide opportunities for people to live and 
work within their communities, reducing the 
need for commuting

	■ To create and maintain town and village centres 
that are vibrant, attractive and successful and 
that meet the needs of the community

	■ To support and enhance the attractiveness of 
Mid Sussex as a visitor destination

Ensuring 
cohesive 
and safe 
communities

	■ To support sustainable communities which are 
safe, healthy and inclusive

	■ To create environments that are accessible to 
all members of the community   

Supporting 
healthy 
lifestyles

	■ To create places that encourage a healthy and 
enjoyable lifestyle by the provision of first class 
cultural and sporting facilities, informal leisure 
space and the opportunity to walk, cycle or ride 
to common destinations

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 70



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

13

Extract from Mid Sussex District Plan 2014-2031 Policies Map (with road labels added) Which defines the “Shopping Area” boundary,  which 
links directly to policy Dp2, as the Town Centre boundary. The Town Centre Boundary is now considered to be the Masterplan Boundary as 
defined in this document. 

530000 530500 531000 531500 532000 532500 533000 533500 534000 534500 535000 535500

12
10

00
12

15
00

12
20

00
12

25
00

12
30

00
12

35
00

12
40

00
12

45
00

12
50

00
12

55
00

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100021794
1:12,500

Map 13:
Haywards Heath

March 2018

I

DISTRICT PLAN POLICY NUMBERS

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
POLICY NUMBERS

District Boundary

#

# ## Neighbourhood Plan Areas

Parish Boundary

! Provision of terminus for Bluebell Railway

Proposed Bluebell Railway western extension

St Francis Sports Site

Proposed green corridor

Open Space

Major employment sites

Housing Allocation

FloodZones

Bluebell Railway Extension

High Weald AONB

Conservation Area

Park or Garden of Historic Interest

Local Nature Reserve

Ancient Monuments

SNCI - Site of Nature Conservation Importance

Built up Area Boundary

Countryside Area of Development Restraint

Town Centre Boundary

Area of Townscape Character

Ashdown Forest 7km Zone of Influence

!!! Primary Shopping Frontage

!!! Secondary Shopping Frontage

HAYWARDS HAYWARDS 
HEATH HEATH 
STATIONSTATION

SU
SSEX RO

A
D

SU
SSEX RO

A
D

SOUTH  ROAD

SOUTH  ROAD

PE
RR

YM
O

U
N

T 
 R

O
AD

PE
RR

YM
O

U
N

T 
 R

O
AD

TH
E 

BR
O

AD
W

AY

TH
E 

BR
O

AD
W

AY

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 71



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

14

©TIBBALDS 2020

Mid Sussex Sites Development Plan 
Document (DPD)
The Council is currently preparing a Site Allocations 
Document that will identify sufficient housing sites to 
provide a five-year housing land supply to 2031.  It will also 
make sure that enough land is allocated to meet identified 
employment needs.

The Council carried out public consultation for the draft 
document in late 2019 and are due to submit to the 
Secretary of State by the end of 2020.  It is anticipated that 
the document will be adopted in 2021.

Haywards Heath Neighbourhood Plan 
2014-2031 (adopted 2016)
The Neighbourhood Plan covers the built up area of 
Haywards Heath, excluding Lindfield to the east.  It sets out 
the following vision to achieve: 

	■ A healthy, family focused and safe town; 

	■ A strong community spirit embracing both young and 
older people; 

	■ Support for a vibrant economy; 

	■ Excellent public services; 

	■ High quality public spaces with the countryside on its 
doorstep.

It has six key aims and a series of policies grouped under the 
following topics:

	■ Environment, sustainability and design quality; 

	■ Business and retail; 

	■ Highways and transportation; 

	■ Housing; 

	■ Leisure, recreation and community buildings. 

Within the town centre, as defined by the District Plan, 
the Plan encourages a diverse range of uses including 
new office, leisure, community, hotel, retail and residential 
uses which can be shown to support the core retail offer 
and generate vitality and add viability to the town centre 
whilst avoiding harm to existing businesses and residential 
properties.

The Town Council prepared a Neighbourhood Plan in 
which their future priorities were defined as part of “The 

Art of the Possible” and “Destination Haywards Heath” 
documents. 

Mid Sussex Design Guide
Parallel to the development of this masterplan, the Council 
has progressed work on a Design Guide for the whole 
of the Council area.  This was produced through 2019, 
and has been subject to consultation.  It will be used as a 
means of ensuring high design standards within the district 
are upheld.  The proposals and opportunity sites identified 
within this masterplan would have to come forward 
in accordance with this guide, alongside other policy 
considerations. The Design Guide SPD is scheduled for 
adoption by the District Council in Autumn 2020.

Haywards Heath Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (Urban Initiatives, 2007)
Previously, a masterplan for the town centre was adopted 
as an SPD by Mid Sussex District Council (MSDC) in June 
2007. It envisaged extensive retail-driven development. 
That masterplan predated the 2008 financial crash and the 
significant (and ongoing) restructuring of the retail economy 
nationally.  It is too early to predict the full impact of the 
Covid-19 global pandemic on the economy, particularly retail 
and leisure industries, however it is likely to have accelerated 
retail decline and will require more significant restructuring of 
town centres and their uses.

The document provides pointers about the town centre that 
remain relevant. This masterplan will superseded the 2007 
masterplan upon adoption.

Haywards Heath Town Council Neighbourhood Plan: Our Bright Future – Made Version                            

1 
 

Haywards Heath Town Council
Neighbourhood Plan

Our Bright Future 
December 2016

2014 - 2031

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 72



 ❚ 3.0  

UNDERSTANDING  

HAYWARDS 
HEATH

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 73



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

16

©TIBBALDS 2020

Mid Sussex is a predominantly rural district set in beautiful 
and varied countryside, much of which is ancient woodland. 
Almost all of the northern part of the district is within the High 
Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and a smaller 
proportion to the south - around 10% - is within the South 
Downs National Park. 

Between these two designations is an area of small-stream 
valleys and hedgerows within a gently rolling landscape 
known as the Low Weald. Like the major designations, it also 
has many sites valued for their biodiversity including Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest, Local Wildlife Sites, Local Nature 
Reserves and Biodiversity Opportunity Areas. 

The district is also rich in built heritage with over 1000 listed 
buildings, 36 conservation areas, 25 scheduled ancient 
monuments and 9 historic parks and gardens.

Mid Sussex has three large market towns. Burgess Hill 
and Haywards Heath are in the Low Weald, south of the 
AONB, and East Grinstead is located in the north of the 
borough beyond the northern boundary of the AONB, 
close to Crawley.  There is a good mix of large and smaller 
villages/hamlets, such as Hassocks and Balcombe. These 
are distinct communities with their own characteristics and 
aspirations for the future.

The AONB and national park present significant challenges 
to accommodating the district’s growth, pushing 
expectations upon Haywards Heath, Burgess Hill and East 
Grinstead as the main towns.

A number of factors make the accommodation of new 
development difficult.  These include:

	■ The rural setting and topography

	■ The general lack of brownfield sites within the towns

	■ The pressure to provide housing owing to the proximity to 

London and Brighton and the natural beauty of the area

Haywards Heath
Haywards Heath is set in the natural, green landscape at the 
heart of Mid-Sussex, nestled between areas of outstanding 
natural beauty.   Safe, creative and family focused, Haywards 
Heath offers a spacious green setting in which to live 
combined with the diversity and convenience of services, 
open spaces and cultural activities offered by a thriving town.

 ❚ 3.1 CONTEXT WITHIN MID SUSSEX AND THE WIDER   
 SUB REGION

Though recognised as a place as far back as the 17th 
Century and was the site of a minor battle during the First 
English Civil War in 1642, at Muster Green. 

Either side of the heathland, Cuckfield and Lindfield were 
more significant as settlements, but local resistance to the 
new railway in Cuckfield pushed the route between the two 
in 1841, creating significance for the settlement of Haywards 
Heath.. From this point, Haywards Heath grew rapidly, 
becoming firmly established as a retreat from urban life in the 
Sussex countryside.  ‘Haywards Heath’ describes the heath 
on which the core of the town was built following the opening 
of the London-Brighton railway in the early 1840’s. 

By 1864, Haywards Heath had, “a railway station with 
telegraph, a hotel, corn stores, a church built in 1864, an 
Independent chapel, a large school, and numerous new 
villas. A weekly market is held on Wednesday; and fairs on 
23 April and 18 Nov” . Its population had reached 1,000 
people, from only a handful prior to the arrival of the railway.

Haywards Heath established a large cattle market in 1859, 
close to the station, and processed up to 100,000 cattle a 
year up to its closure in 1989.  The station area developed 
a commercial hub which it retains to today. However, the 
traditional ‘high street’ was established half a mile further 
south between St. Wilfrid’s Church (1863) and the Priory 
(1886). South Road forms part of the more direct east-west 
route across Haywards Heath and it developed shops and 
services for the growing population and is also the location 
of Victoria Park, a part of the heath acquisitioned to create 
a public recreation ground in 1887, and which has become 
something of a focus for civic events. 

The town maintains this unique geography, with the station 
remaining a busy hub for commuters and visitors served by a 
large Waitrose and located close to a Sainsbury’s superstore 
on the old cattle market.  The main retail core remains up the 
hill to the south, with the Orchards Centre the main shopping 
mall supplementing the traditional high street environment.  
Major office development fills the gap between the two, 
taking advantage of both the town centre and the good 
communication.

Engagement during the project with local organisations 
suggest that Haywards Heath has an emerging sense of 
pride and confidence about it, and a sense that the town 
centre has potential in developing an independent shopping 
experience alongside a cultural and social offer.  This could 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 74



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

17

London
(45 min by train)

Lindfield
Cuckfield

Haywards
Heath

Burgess Hill
(5 mins by 

train)

East
Grinstead

Crawley

Brighton
(20 min by train)

A23

A272

A22

A272

A27

A2
6

A22

A27

A23

A26

0 5km

Gatwick
Airport

A272

High Weald Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty

South Downs
National Park

Wide context map

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 75



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

18

©TIBBALDS 2020

be boosted by the quality of the open spaces that exist 
within the central parts of the town, particularly Victoria Park 
and Clair Park.

Against this, the central area is elongated and linear, 
stretching from the station in the north to the Orchards 
Shopping Centre in the south - an undulating walk of 
between 15 and 20 minutes.  Whilst this area has all of the 
ingredients of a successful centre - a retail core, a cluster of 
restaurants and a strong employment base - these suffer 
from a lack of clear connections between them.  Nearby 
local centres of Cuckfield and Lindfield also offer something 
different and, perhaps, more upmarket, which may deter 
some people within Haywards Heath’s natural catchment 
from coming into the town centre.

South Road and the Orchards Centre are the natural focus 
for the town’s shopping function.  The Orchards Centre is 
a significant site within the centre, as it has been acquired 
by the Council.  This provides a significant opportunity and 
catalyst for change in the town centre, and the Council’s 
brief for the masterplan is to ensure that any development at 
the Orchards is tied into the remainder of the town centre as 
well, and not for the benefit of the Orchards alone.

Haywards Heath is also distinct from Mid Sussex’s 
other large market towns, and have their own unique 
characteristics.  These are described in more detail in the 
Mid Sussex Design Guide and are summarised below:

Burgess Hill is railway town established in the mid 19th 
century.  It has a more mainstream shopping centre 
concentrated on Church Road with some commercial 
businesses on London Road.  The town centre lacks a 
strong focus / congregating point, though St John’s Park 
is an attractive nearby open space. Burgess Hill did have a 
traditional brick, tile and pottery industry, but this has been 
replaced by the banking and finance sectors 

East Grinstead is a hill town, situated on the northern edge 
of the High Weald on a ridge overlooking the valleys of the 
eastwards flowing rivers – the Medway (to the south) and the 
Eden (to the north).  The historic core of the town sits on the 
high ground whilst the suburbs spread out over the slopes 
surrounding the earlier town.  The street layout of the town 
centre has seen only minor changes since the 19th century, 
and leather working and iron production were important to 
the local economy.

Church Walk, Burgess Hill

London Road, East Grinstead

Commercial Square roundabout by the station, Haywards Heath

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 76



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

19

Existing issues: opportunities within Haywards 
Heath
Haywards Heath has a number of specific issues relevant to 
the masterplan:

	■ Data suggests that although the town centre performs 
relatively well in the current climate, it underperforms in 
terms of meeting the needs of the residents within its 
catchment. 

	■ Perrymount Road has a number of large office 
buildings and has traditionally provided a base for office 
employment in the centre of Haywards Heath. This area 
is at risk from permitted development conversions to 
residential use and redevelopment proposals which offer 
reduced office floorspace, potentially undermining the 
employment offer in the town.

	■ Muster Green gyratory is an important junction at the 
western end of South Road and the southern end of 
The Broadway, and also forms part of the cap over the 
railway cutting. The gyratory is dominated by traffic, and 
making this a more pleasant environment whilst also 
accommodating the needs of transport is crucial to the 
success of any wider masterplan.

	■ The effectiveness of the new relief road in taking 
traffic out of the centre of Haywards Heath, potentially 
compromised by the Butlers Green roundabout. The 
Relief Road is currently not operating to its full potential, 
impacting on the quality of the main South Road 
character area.

	■ Existing / emerging proposals within the land ownership 
of the Orchards Centre. To the north-west of the site, the 
feasibility of demolishing difficult to-let retail units and 
creating a site for a leisure facility / facilities alongside 
the centre has already been prepared. Further, interest 
in convenience retail remains high, and the car park at 
Hazelgrove had been identified as a potential option.

	■ The role of Clair Hall. Clair Hall was a cultural and 
community facility within the town centre boundary. The 
site is owned by the District Council, who will need to 
consider all future viable options for this site.

	■ Victoria Park and Clair Park are both major assets of 
public open green space within the town centre.  They 
are valued for their recreation uses as well providing 
vital ‘green lungs’ for Haywards Heath.  Each park has 
specific characteristics that need to be protected and 
enhanced, while both provide alternative walking and 

cycling routes.  Victoria Park’s northern edge along South 
Road provides an opportunity for the park to become 
better integrated with the town centre.

	■ Public realm is generally considered to be fairly poor 
with patchy and uneven surfaces, inconsistent and 
unattractive street furniture, and narrow footpaths in 
places with few areas of integrated trees and/or planting. 
Any proposals to update highways to improve traffic flow 
and movement also brings the opportunity to significantly 
improve the public realm and increase the town centre’s 
overall attractiveness.

Existing evidence base

	■ Local Data Company (an analytical tool comparing 
centres nationally on a range of indicators including 
vacancy rates, openings and closures, town centre 
health checks and so on);

	■ Pedestrian footfall figures from June 2019, December 
2019, April 2020 and June 2020 focussing on South 
Road, The Orchards and The Broadway;

	■ Evidence base for the forthcoming 2020 revision to the 
Parking Strategy

	■ Evidence base for 2015/16 Atkins Transport study

	■ District Retail Study Update (Carter Jonas, 2016);

	■ 2016 GRRIP report for BMO Global Asset Management:

 - Identified that Haywards Heath town centre 
underperforms, partly because the town centre does 
not attract the surrounding residents

 - Despite this, Haywards Heath has great potential if it 
can begin to bring these people in

 - The immediate catchment is affluent and increasing in 
number through house building

 - Identified the Orchards as having a key role in doing 
this

 - Identified The Broadway as performing well, but 
compromised by detachment from The Orchards

 - Recognised a need for new high quality, cultural offer 
and the deficiencies in the current cultural offer (i.e. 
Clair Hall)

 - Considered the parking offer fragmented and untidy

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 77



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

20

©TIBBALDS 2020

Town centre boundary
The town centre masterplan boundary is shown on the 
plan opposite.  It stretches from Haywards Heath station 
to the southern extent of retail offer on Sussex Road, at the 
intersection with Triangle Road.  It also includes:

	■ Clair Hall;

	■ Perrymount Road;

	■ The area known as ‘The Broadway’;

	■ Muster Green gyratory;

	■ South Road;

	■ The Orchards;

	■ Clair Park;

	■ Victoria Park; and,

	■ A variety of existing residential, including flats/
apartments, detached, semi-detached and terraced 
houses and care homes.

This town centre Masterplan boundary is distinct from 
the ‘town centre boundary’ defined in the Mid Sussex 
Local Plan.  All references to ‘town centre’ refer to the 
masterplanning boundary unless specifically defined 
otherwise. 

 ❚ 3.2 BASELINE ANALYSIS

Sydney Road, looking west towards the station

South Road 

Clair Park

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 78



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

21

Clair  
Hall

The 
Orchards 
Shopping 

Centre

Key

Th
e 

Br
oa

dw
ay

MSDC 
offices

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Town centre boundary

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 79



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

22

©TIBBALDS 2020

Character areas
Haywards Heath consists of five distinct character areas:

	■ Station area: including Waitrose, Commercial Square 
roundabout, and other ground floor retail units

	■ Perrymount Road: predominantly employment uses, 
with buildings typically  4-6 storeys along the frontage

	■ The Broadway: known for its thriving food and beverage 
uses with many building frontages set back to allow for 
tables and seating, or forecourt parking. Main focus for 
the night-time economy.

	■ South Road and The Orchards: the main retail ‘high 
street’ including The Orchards Shopping Centre

	■ Sussex Road: secondary retail area dominated by 
independent businesses

The town centre’s ‘green lungs’, Clair Park and Victoria Park, 
also vary in character.  Clair Park hosts the Haywards Heath 
Cricket Club and pitch to the north, while the rest of the park 
retains its naturalistic setting of densely planted mature trees 
and undergrowth. Pedestrian routes connect users between 
Sydney Road (B2028), Perrymount Road (B2028) via Clair 
Road), Oathall Road (B2112), and Heath Road. 

Victoria Park is more sparsely planted, with mature trees 
predominantly along footpaths and around the site’s edges.  
The main area is open and grassed, and has been used 
for football matches, open-air concerts and community 
events. To the east and south-east, a play area, skate park, 
cafe and tennis courts are also well-used facilities. To the 
west, an elevated woodland plateau can also be accessed.  
The park rises up to the north and east.

Heritage

There are two conservation areas which partially lie within 
the Haywards Heath town centre boundary.  These cover 
Clair Park and Muster Green.  There are also two Grade II-
listed buildings within the town centre (Church of St Wilfrid 
and a tomb), with a further four buildings immediately 
outside the town centre boundary.  Most listed buildings 
are inconsequential to this masterplan, however the 
former Priory Chapel on Franklynn Road is proposed as a 
potential development opportunity (refer Chapter 5.0).

The Haywards Heath Neighbourhood Plan also recognises 
two areas of townscape character on the edge of the town 
centre as shown on the adjacent map.  The neighbourhood 
plan provides more detail on what is expected in these 
areas.

Commercial Square roundaboutm with Waitrose and the station 
area behind

Sutton Road, looking north

Key

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 80



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

23

Character areas diagram

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 81



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

24

©TIBBALDS 2020

Intersection between The Broadway, Church Road and South Road

South road signage for parking areas

Access and movement

Pedestrian environment
The town has a good network of footways, however 
many are narrow, are not equipped with dropped kerbs 
at crossovers and lack tactiles.  There is an inconsistent 
use of surface treatment materials which detracts from 
the public realm. Street furniture, such as guard rails 
and balustrades, hinder movement. A high number of 
formalised crossings (e.g. where The Broadway meets 
South Road) prevent ease of movement. There is a 
general lack of legibility for pedestrians preventing visitors, 
and even some residents, from taking advantage of 
quieter pedestrian routes, e.g. through Clair Park. There 
is not a clear route from the station to the Civic Centre 
(Council offices and Library) and onto The Broadway 
and retail centres at South Road, Sussex Road and the 
Orchards Shopping Centre. The town centre streets are 
car dominated. Connectivity is affected by disjointed 
crossing facilities and hampered by forecourt parking. 
Movement into and out-of the Town Centre in an east and/
or west direction is compromised due to there only being 
two crossing points of the railway line, marked ‘A’ and ‘B’ 
on the adjacent access and movement diagram. There 
is a recognised need to ensure these points are legible, 
attractive and accessible. 

Footfall 

Footfall data was commissioned from Visitor Insights 
to cover the period 2019/20 to monitor average historic 
footfall as well as the short-term impacts of Covid-19. This 
data shows: 

• Over 100k visits on average to the Town Centre  
 each month 

• Average dwell time was 2.5 hours 

• On average, people visited 2-3 locations per visit 

• The entrance to the Orchards on South Road  
 generates the most footfall 

• Average footfall decreased by approximately  
 40% between June 2019 and June 2020 as a  
 result of the Covid-19 pandemic

Key

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 82



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

25

A

B

Existing access and movement diagram

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 83



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

26

©TIBBALDS 2020

Vehicular movement
East / west vehicular movement in Haywards Heath is severed 
by the Brighton to London train line. There are limited points to 
cross. Within the study area, there is the crossing to the north 
of the station along Market Place to the west of the station 
entrance and at  Muster Green South which caps the railway 
cut and fill at the gyratory. There is a third crossing point to the 
north where Balcombe Road meets Mill Green Road.

The impact of the Haywards Heath relief road  

The Haywards Heath relief road (A272) opened in summer 
2014 with the aim to allow through traffic the option to 
divert away from Haywards Heath town centre. It was 
envisaged that this would allow improved accessibility for 
all users to the town centre, promote regeneration and 
economic growth with an opportunity to create a less traffic 
dominated, more people focused town centre.

The relief road has not functioned as intended with the route 
through the town centre being sometimes quicker in both 
perceived and in real time terms depending on the time of 
day. No accompanying traffic reduction schemes had been 
implemented in the town centre to discourage through traffic 
and change driver habits. At Tylers Green, the wide, direct 
approach to Haywards Heath tends to channel approaching 
vehicles towards the town centre, instead of directing them 
onto Isaac’s Lane to continue on the relief road.

Traffic survey data from the 2015 Atkins study, reported 
approximately 15,000 vehicles per day (24hr) on South 
Road. It observed higher flows during the morning in the 
westbound direction and higher flows during the evening in 
eastbound direction. It was noted that the movement pattern 
may be due to commuters travelling to and from Haywards 
Heath station or that traffic is still using this road to access 
the A23 five miles west of the town, rather than the relief 
road. 

The Broadway recorded approximately 9,500 vehicles per 
day. In general, more traffic travelled southbound throughout 
the day compared to the northbound traffic flow.

Butler’s Green recorded approximately 23,000 vehicles per day. 
The eastbound flow is generally higher than the westbound 
flow in the AM and westbound flow is generally higher than 
the eastbound in the PM.  This may be a result of commuters 
travelling to work in the town centre or travelling to Haywards 
Heath rail station in the morning and returning in the evening  
from the town centre / rail station.

Analysis of the Butler’s Green Gyratory traffic data 
indicates that Broadway and the Muster Green North and 
South approaches all had a higher proportion of vehicles 
exiting onto South Road than travelling to the other arms 
of the gyratory which indicates that vehicles were either 
entering South Road for to access the retail offer or 
travelling to the A272 towards the Lewes Road.

Speed
A 30mph speed limit operates within the study area. The 
2015 Atkins Study reported that the 85th% and mean speeds 
were above 30mph on South Road and Butler’s Green Road, 
indicating that vehicles are taking advantage of the long 
sightlines and wide carriageway. A contributing factor could 
be that vehicles are speeding through the town centre as a 
through route instead of using the relief road. The Broadway 
recorded speeds of between 20 and 24mph. The lower 
recorded speeds could be attributable in part by the road 
narrowing effect of parked cars and the traffic control signals at 
Muster Green Gyratory.

Cycling environment
Haywards Heath lacks a coherent, identifiable and legible cycle 
network. The cycle provision is fragmented with some facilities 
provided on Muster Green North, and an off-road route from 
Church Road to Heath Road along a marked path. To the west 
of the town centre, there is a marked route on Bolnore Road, 
Bolnore Farm Road, and off road route on Isaac’s Lane.

Generally, the volume, dominance and the speed of 
through traffic on Perrymount Road, Broadway and South 
Road creates an unattractive environment for cyclists.

Facilities for cycle parking are relatively limited in the 
town centre, though there is a covered cycle stand in 
Haywards Road. Additionally, in 2012 as part of the station 
regeneration, high-quality facilities were provided on Boltro 
Road and Perrymount Road. The extent to which these are 
already used by commuters suggests there could be latent 
demand for cycle journeys if the infrastructure within the 
town was improved. 

Parking
The car parks are primarily managed by Mid Sussex District 
Council (MSDC) and operate as pay and display. There are 
ten car parks in and around Haywards Heath town centre 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 84



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

27

(excluding Waitrose and Clair Hall). Of the ten, nine operate 
Mon-Sun providing 1768 spaces all week.  The Council’s car 
parks are pay and display from Monday to Saturday, and 
Franklynn Road is designated as a long stay car park.The 34 
spaces at Muster Green are open only to the public on Saturday 
(it provides parking for businesses during the week).

Many of the car parks are small and fragmented and are 
concentrated around the Orchards Shopping Centre and 
South Road. Parking is also provided within the Orchards 
Shopping Centre and at Hazelgrove, and to the north in 
Heath Road. According to the Atkins 2015 study, there are 
323 on-street parking spaces.

The parking survey indicates that most town centre car 
parks except for Muster Green and Franklynn Road 
experience an occupancy rate of above 80% during the 
peak day time period.  When parking occupancy is over 
80%  this indicates high levels of parking pressure/stress 
where supply is either struggling to meet demand.

The Orchards, Hazelgrove, Heath Road, Haywards Heath 
West Gower Road, Haywards Heath East and Haywards 
Heath Avenue car parks operating near capacity during the 
peak daytime period.

The largest car park, with 826 spaces, is the station multi-
storey car park which is operated by Saba.  It functions 
as a commuter car park with a day rate pricing structure. 
Anecdotally it reaches full occupancy on weekdays and is 
less used at weekends.

On-street parking is provided throughout Haywards Heath 
town centre. Various restrictions are in operation, providing 
various free parking options to assist town centre visits.

	■ South Road: Mon-Sat 8am to 8pm, free 30 minutes, no 
return within 30 minutes.

	■ The Broadway: Mon-Sat 9am-6pm, free 1 hour parking, 
no return within 4 hours.

	■ Sussex Road: Mon-Sat 8am to 6pm, free 30 minutes, 
no return within 30 minutes.

	■ Perrymount Road: Mon-Sat 8am-6pm, free 2 hours, no 
return within 4 hours.

According to the Atkins 2015 study, there are a 323 on-
street parking spaces. 

In addition, there is both formal and informal parking on 
forecourts along The Broadway, Sussex Road and Muster 
Green South.

Haywards Heath alternative parking signage showing the dispersed 
nature of town centre parking

Forecourt parking on The Broadway

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 85



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

28

©TIBBALDS 2020

Key

Heights and topography diagram

Heights and topography
Across the town centre, Haywards Heath varies in 
topography by around 37 metres with Church Road located 
at the highest point relative to sea level, and the northern 
entrance to the station at the lowest point.  Between the 
station and the South Road entrance to The Orchards 
Shopping Centre, there is around 29 metres difference.

Buildings heights have been considered in respect to 
the ground level along their street frontage.  Employment 
buildings along Perrymount Road are primarily four to six 
storeys, however also take advantage of the changing 
topography across their sites by gaining additional storeys 
where the ground level slopes down towards the railway.  
The tallest building is Stockwell Court, a nine storey mixed-
use residential block, on the corner of Sussex and Gower 
Road.

The Mid Sussex Design Guide recommends 4-6 storeys as 
an appropriate height for new buildings generally.

35 Perrymount Road

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

The station forecourt area with Waitrose and the station entrance

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 86



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

29

Key

Council-owned land

Council-owned land
Mid-Sussex District Council have a number of landholdings 
within their title within the Masterplan boundary. This 
consists of public car parks and a handful of building assets 
including Clair Hall and The Orchards. The Council also 
owns and manages the two significant areas of open space, 
Clair Park and Victoria Park.  Ownership helps to bring some 
certainty and control to these elements of the town centre 
and any plans put in place for them.

West Sussex County Council (WSCC) also owns sites 
and areas within Haywards Heath. Within the town centre 
boundary, their landholdings primarily consist of areas within 
the public realm.  As the highway authority, the County 
Council are responsible and influential over the use of the 
roads and the streets.

There are no further significant public ownerships within the 
red line area.

The Orchards Shopping Centre

Clair Hall

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 87



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

30

©TIBBALDS 2020

Uses
Haywards Heath town centre hosts a diverse range of uses, 
including various types of retail, employment, cultural, food 
and beverage, small businesses, outdoor recreation and 
residential.  Worth noting is the fact that retail is spread 
across four main areas with South Road, the main shopping 
‘high street’ 15-20 minute walk from the station.  Meanwhile, 
Clair Hall, is close to the station but separated from the main 
food and beverage area at The Broadway.

Primary frontage includes retail along South Road and The 
Broadway. Secondary frontage includes The Broadway 
and along Sussex Road.  In terms of the wider town centre, 
Perrymount Road employment and the retail surrounding 
Commercial Road roundabout all serve to provide elements 
of the town centre’s overall offer and remain important 
elements. 

Key

Residential units over retail on South Road

Large family homes and a converted dental surgery

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Cultural

Health

Education

Church

Commercial / business

Primary Shopping FrontageResidential

Secondary Shopping 
FrontageRetail

Surface parking

Food & beverage

Multi-story parking

Mixed use
Surface parking associated 
w/ specific uses

Public green areas
Clair Hall

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 88



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

31

Existing uses diagram

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 89



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

32

©TIBBALDS 2020

The character areas introduced in section 3.2 contain unique 
existing features that contribute fundamentally to the way 
the town centre functions.  These features tend to be unique 
to the town centre and therefore should be protected, and 
enhanced where necessary, to ensure that they continue to 
contribute to the town centre’s diversity.  

As part of the character areas, these features are spread out 
along a long distance between Sussex Road and the station 
(around 1.6km in total), and improving the relationships 
between these different features will be essential to creating 
a unified town centre.

This section gives an overview as to how these town centre 
assets can be improved. Further detail on this can be read 
within the following chapters. 

Perrymount Road: concentration of office 
buildings
One of Haywards Heath’s key assets is having a high 
density of commercial employment uses located centrally 
within 5-10 minute walk of the train station.  Located in the 
important gap between the station and the main commercial 
and retail part of the town centre, the office uses along 
Perrymount Road in Haywards Heath should be maintained 
and enhanced to create a positive feature of the town so 
businesses are more likely to stay, as well as to attract new 
interest. The offices also, potentially, bring other people 
into the town who can use the facilities available in the town 
centre.  

Design policy needs to ensure active frontages, attractive 
forecourt design to appear integrated as part of the 
streetscape of Perrymount Road, and should provide the 
opportunity for small and start-up businesses to be a part of 
the Perrymount Road commercial scene.

Perrymount Road could also benefit from public realm 
enhancements to make it a more attractive pedestrian 
environment with integrated street trees and widened 
footpaths.  As it has a noticeable incline when travelling 
north to south, which also obscures the view towards The 
Broadway, people may be less inclined to walk when car 
traffic dominates the feeling of the street.  Cycle lanes within 
the carriageway could also help to reduce this feeling as well 
as encourage more people to cycle within Haywards Heath, 
provided standards can be met.

 ❚ 3.3 PROTECTING AND ENHANCING UNIQUE EXISTING   
 FEATURES 

The Broadway: enhancing the food and drink 
offer / environment
The success of The Broadway and its food and beverage 
offering, in particular, has been notable.  It provides a vibrant 
area of activity during operating hours and is well-loved 
by local residents, and provides an attraction for visitors.  
Part of this is because of the character of some of the older 
buildings, and whilst this is not a conservation area, some of 
the buildings are locally significant and say something of the 
town’s development.

Design policy needs to ensure that the ability for businesses 
to spill out onto the street is protected and enhanced 
to further improve the environment for customers.  This 
requires some consideration of the parking strategy, which 
currently allows forecourt parking and on-street parking 
which serves some of the businesses.  This is a potential 
area of conflict between improving the environment for 
eating and drinking, and maintaining access for customers 
and the servicing of businesses. 

Perrymount Road

The Broadway

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 90



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

33

There are opportunities for The Broadway to be improved to 
ensure its continuing popularity.  If changes are made to the 
Muster Green gyratory, the southern area of The Broadway 
could become pedestrianised to create a dedicated area of 
public realm for the town centre.  The Broadway has hosted 
markets and festivals in the past, and this could provide 
an area for this and other such community events to occur 
without affecting traffic.  Other public realm improvements 
could include widening pedestrian footpaths and introducing 
street planting. (Refer to section 4.5) 

South Road and The Orchards Shopping 
Centre: strengthening the retail heart
South Road (B2272) is Hayward Heath’s main retail high 
street.  It currently hosts a high proportion of independent 
retailers, more than the national average for similar-sized 
town centres.  South Road sees a lot of through traffic which 
needs to be diverted, as intended, to the relief road (A272) 
in order to create a more pleasant high street experience 
for pedestrians and cyclists.  Other public realm upgrades 
should include integrated street trees, widened footpaths, 
and more dedicated areas for cycle parking to reduce the 
dominance of vehicle traffic, and the ease of which traffic can 
move through South Road. (Refer to section 4.6)

The Orchards Shopping Centre

The Orchards is a well-frequented semi-enclosed shopping 
centre towards the eastern end of South Road. It is 
anchored by Marks & Spencer to the north, and served by 
a large at-grade parking area situated to the north and east 
which is used by shopping centre visitors, as well as visitors 
to the town centre. There are currently 31 residential units 
above the single level ground floor retail units. Built in the 
early 1980’s, it is due for a makeover.  Some refurbishment 
of shopfronts and internal spaces were delivered in 
2015, however further upgrades are required to ensure it 
remains popular and relevant within the town centre. Any 
redevelopment should also aim to attract new visitors, and 
at different times of the day to support an evening economy 
past its current daytime operation hours. (Refer to 5.2). 

Station Area: Clair Park 
Clair Park (around 6.4ha) consists of two parts: an 
established heathland to the south, home to trees that 
have existed since the settlement of Haywards Heath, and 

a cricket ground to the north, complete with club house.  It 
is part of a designated Conservation Area (refer to section 
3.2).  Public right-of-ways lead pedestrians and cyclists 
from Heath Road north into Clair Park, as well as west from 
Oathall Road and south from Sydney Road.  The main 
entrance to Clair Park is accessed to the south of Clair Hall 
via a wide footpath which is slightly offset from Clair Road, 
and leads directly from the eastern entrance of the station. 
This main entrance, however, is not particularly obvious from 
Perrymount Road and should be improved to increase the 
visibility of Clair Park.

As Clair Park is embedded behind the property line of 
numerous homes and buildings, it is well hidden from the 
view of people on the surrounding streets.  The entrance 
of the footpaths that lead to it, therefore, are the public 
face of Clair Park and could be improved with signage 
that is currently lacking.  As a pleasant alternative route for 
pedestrians and cyclists to and from the station and South 
Road, and beyond, lighting along these paths should be 
provided to improve the safety and usability of these paths, 
particularly in winter months (Refer to 4.10 and 5.2).

The Broadway and South Road: Making a 
feature of Victoria Park
Victoria Park (around 6.0ha) is a well-used public area of 
green space, located centrally along South Road. It contains 
a network of footpaths, lined with multiple park benches, 
and contains a play area, dedicated skate park and cafe 
to the east, adjacent to Haywards Road. Victoria Park has 
previously hosted outdoor concerts and local sports with 
space for two football pitches. Tennis courts are located 
to the south and can be accessed easily via the Park Road 
entrance. To the west, an elevated area of wooded parkland 
can be accessed from within the park. Unlike Clair Park, 
Victoria Park benefits from a wide frontage onto South Road 
along the length of its northern edge. However, a hedge 
on that northern edge obscures immediate views from the 
footpath on South Road across the park, and back to South 
Road from within the park.  

As Victoria Park lies between The Broadway and South 
Road’s high street shopping area, it has the potential to 
create a connecting link between these two character areas.  
If the existing hedge was removed, in whole or in part, an 
area of public realm could be introduced to better integrate 
the popular park within the town centre.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 91



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

34

©TIBBALDS 2020

Medium-scale Objectives (refer to Section 1.2)

Commercial Square 
roundabout / station area 
(PR/TI) (refer 4.2)

   

Perrymount Road (PR/TI) 
(refer 4.3)

   

The Broadway (PR/TI) (refer 
4.5)     

Sussex Road (PR/TI) (refer 
4.7)     

Parking strategy (PR/TI) (refer 
4.10)  

Franklynn Road car park (D) 
(refer 5.3) 

Haywards East car park (D) 
(refer 5.3) 

Haywards West car park (D) 
(refer 5.3) 

 ❚ 3.4 THE MASTERPLAN FRAMEWORK:      
 SUMMARY OF DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Small-scale Objectives (refer to Section 1.2)

Speed limit (PR/TI) (refer 4.8) 

Cycling (PR/TI) (refer 4.9) 

Gateway features (PR/TI) 
(refer 4.12)    

Wayfinding signage (PR/TI) 
(refer 4.12)     

Other small-scale 
improvements (PR/TI) (refer 
4.13):

	■ Tylers Green intersection 

	■ Clair Road and 
connection with Clair 
Park

 

	■ New crossing points 
along Heath and Church 
Road

 

	■ Lighting to pedestrian-
only routes  

	■ Create new pedestrian 
connection between The 
Broadway and Heath 
Road car parks



Meanwhile uses (D) (refer 
4.14)  

Policy change (P) i.e. 
possible changes to current 
planning policy to meet 
the expectations of the 
masterplan (refer 6.0) 

   

Summary of Opportunities 
The opportunities that this masterplan has identified for 
improvement and redevelopment within Haywards Heath 
town centre can be categorised into three scales of: small-, 
medium- and large-scale.  They are also split between public 
realm/transport infrastructure (PR/TI), development sites (D) 
and policy (P).  

These proposals seek to meet the eight objectives of the 
masterplan set out earlier, and in doing so help to improve 
the quality and diversity of Haywards Heath as a unique, 
distinctive and desirable place in which to live. 

Further detail regarding each of these  can be read in the 
following chapters.

Objectives summary (refer to Section 1.2)

1.  Strengthening ‘The Heart of Mid Sussex’

2.  Strengthening the distinct character areas

4.  Improving the town centre’s parking provision

7.  Enhancing opportunities for town centre living

3.  Improving the public realm for pedestrians & cyclists

6.  Creating positive and welcoming gateway moments

5.  Protecting and integrating the town’s green spaces

8.  Providing a meanwhile uses framework

Large-scale Objectives (refer to Section 1.2)

Reconfiguration of Muster 
Green gyratory and The 
Broadway south (PR/TI) (refer 
4.4)

    

South Road (PR/TI) (refer 4.6)     

Victoria Park (PR/TI) (refer 
4.11)     

The Orchards Shopping 
Centre redevelopment incl. 
Orchards Car Park and 
Hazelgrove site(D) (refer 5.2)

     

Clair Hall (D) (refer 5.3)     

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 92



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

35

Summary of develpment proposals diagram

Key

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 93



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

36

©TIBBALDS 2020
Intersection between The Broadway, Church Road and South Road

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 94



 ❚ 4.0  

PUBLIC REALM 
AND TRANSPORT 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 95



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

38

©TIBBALDS 2020

Key

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Public realm and transport infrastructure opportunities diagram

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 96



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

39

This masterplan identifies strategic development principles 
for transport infrastructure and public realm improvements.  
Responding to masterplan objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6, 
the proposals seek to: strengthen the key character areas 
through public realm improvements and branding through 
wayfinding signage; enhance accessibility for pedestrians 
and cyclists throughout the town centre; integrate Clair 
Park through improved wayfinding and new public realm 
at Victoria Park; and propose a gateway feature strategy 
at key locations as an opportunity for creating a strong 
identity for Haywards Heath.  The identified proposals, 
which will require further detailed design prior to 
implementation, include the following:

Small-scale

	■ Speed limit

	■ Cycling environment

	■ Gateway features

	■ Wayfinding signage 

	■ Other small-scale improvements:

 - Butlers Green intersection

 - Clair Road and connection with Clair Park

 - New crossing points along Heath and Church Road

 - Lighting to pedestrian-only routes

 - Create new pedestrian connection between The 
Broadway and Heath Road car parks

Medium-scale

	■ Parking strategy

Public realm and junction improvements at:

	■ Commercial Square roundabout / station area

	■ The Broadway

	■ Perrymount Road, including Clair Road intersection

	■ Sussex Road and Sussex Road roundabout

Large-scale

	■ Reconfiguration of Muster Green gyratory and 
pedestrianisation of The Broadway south

	■ South Road

	■ New public realm at Victoria Park / South Road interface 

 ❚ 4.1 DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES

Gateway Feature, Example Altrincham

Gateway feature at Stamford New Road, Altrinham

Example of pedestrian priority street. New Road Brighton

Pedestrian priority space at New Road, Brighton

Terraced open space at HafenCity, Hamburg, Germany

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 97



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

40

©TIBBALDS 2020

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 98



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

41

Key

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Development Principles 
Locations

Development principles diagram

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 99



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

42

©TIBBALDS 2020

The station is a main point of arrival into Haywards Heath. 
However, the station is located away from the retail and 
commercial areas of the town centre and suffers from 
a poor sense of arrival at the station forecourt car park, 
compounded by a lack of clear routes to where people want 
to travel.  The side access and egress into Clair Road and 
Market Place east and west of the station are similarly weak.

Some destinations are within short distances of the station, 
for example Sainsbury’s, the civic centre off Boltro Road, 
Perrymount Road commercial offices, the retail offer 
to the south on The Broadway, and The Dolphin leisure 
centre and Burrell Road commercial areas to the west of 
the railway – however, it is not obvious that there is a more 
prominent retail and town centre core (i.e. on South Road) 
elsewhere.

There are long-standing aspirations for the Bluebell 
Railway to extend its route to Haywards Heath. The route 
itself is safeguarded within the District Plan (policy DP19: 
Sustainable Tourism). Commercial Square therefore has 
the potential to be a tourist hub for users of this facility.

Recommended proposals

	■ Ensure that Commercial Square is an attractive arrival 
point to the town for those arriving by public transport, 
particularly the mainline station and potential Bluebell 
Railway extension.

	■ Signage and wayfinding to The Orchards shopping 
centre / South Road, Clair and Victoria Parks, the civic 
centre, and other destinations and character areas. 

	■ Gateway features at Commercial Square roundabout 
and at the railway bridge to announce the arrival into 
Haywards Heath to those travelling by car and by those 
who have arrived via the main station entrance.

	■ Improved surface treatment and lighting at the railway 
viaduct, in addition to creation of gateway feature 
(for example, public art/art project) to make it a more 
attractive and user-friendly route

	■ Revised junction layout:

 - Potential to tighten carriageway geometry on 
approach arms to reduce pedestrian crossing widths 

 - Improve pedestrian and cycle crossing facilities to assist 
with interchange between the station and buses

 - Removal of  unnecessary guard railing and street 
clutter to enhance the public realm and improve 
the pedestrian environment, utilising any additional 
space for planting and wider footways

 - Introduce a 20mph speed limit

 ❚ 4.2 COMMERCIAL SQUARE    
 ROUNDABOUT AND STATION   
 AREA

Walking isochrone from Haywards Heath train station

Station arrival

5 m
in

10
 m

in
15

 m
in

Haywards 
Heath station

The railway bridge provides an opportunity for an attractive gateway 
feature

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 100



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

43

 ❚ 4.3 PERRYMOUNT ROAD

Perrymount Road hosts a large proportion of Haywards 
Heath’s commercial offices and acts as the primary route 
through the town centre, from the railway station towards the 
retail core, for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists.  Vehicles 
travelling from Balcombe, Ardingly and Lindfield will also be 
likely to use this route to travel south. 

For pedestrians and cyclists, alternative routes to the town 
centre core exist via Clair Park yet the entrance to Clair Park 
and the pedestrian/cycle route lacks signposting.  The public 
realm should seek improvements to create a more attractive 
environment, especially as the northern end of Perrymount 
Road serves as an important interchange between buses and 
the train. However, there are challenges to providing enhanced 
pedestrian and cycle improvements here due to gradient, 
traffic flow, parking and on-street pinch points. Any proposals 
should take these constraints into account and arrive and the 
most optimal solution.

Due to the proximity to the station and The Broadway / South 
Road, Perrymount Road is increasingly becoming the focus for 
residential developments, with a new Premier Inn and other 
planning applications for residential/mixed-use developments 
within the planning system.  Perrymount Road also provides 
access to the station commuter and Waitrose car parks, and 
Clair Hall and Clair Park, however as mentioned above, access 
to the latter are less visible due to the lack of any significant 
signage.

Recommended proposals

	■ Opportunity to provide advisory cycle lane on Perrymount 
Road; linking with new off-road routes through Clair Park.

	■ Consider options for cycle facility improvements between 
Commercial Square/railway station and the Broadway/
Town Centre

	■ Provide an improved crossing at Clair Road junction to 
facilitate pedestrians and cyclists accessing the station and 
cycle hub to / from Perrymount Rd and the new Clair Park 
east-west Cycle route.

	■ Introduce street trees/planting to improve public realm, 
including within the vicinity of the northbound bus stop to 
animate the blank frontage of the Waitrose building

	■ Improve the western footway which is the main desire line 
between the retail core and the station

	■ Assist vulnerable road users by introducing dropped 
kerbs and tactile paving at crossovers

Employment uses on Perrymount Road

Perrymount Road, looking north towards Commercial Square

Parallel / tiger crossing for pedestrians and cyclists in Hackney, 
London (Source: London Cycling Campaign)

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 101



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

44

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 4.4 MUSTER GREEN GYRATORY 

Recommended proposals

	■ Convert the Muster Green North, Dolphin Road and 
South Road sides of the gyratory to two-way operation

	■ Close the Broadway arm of the gyratory to vehicle 
through traffic and form a new pedestrian priority zone

	■ 20mph speed limit around the gyratory

Dolphin Road currently forms the western side of the existing 
gyratory and is framed by a raised embankment to the east 
and a pedestrian path along the edge of Muster Green to the 
west. A more informal pedestrian path also runs along the 
east edge but is not suitable for prams or wheelchair access.

The proposal is to introduce two-way traffic through this area 
with new mini-roundabouts controlling traffic to the north 
and south of Dolphin Road and allowing two-way movement 
around the former gyratory. This is a variant of the previous 
Atkins Town Centre Study proposal. The traffic implications of 
different junction arrangements would need to be modelled 
and considered alongside the optimal crossing arrangements 
to serve pedestrians and cycle movements.

The lower end of The Broadway is currently bordered by 
a long bus stop and a loading bay to the east and narrow 
shop frontages to the west. The pedestrian and vehicular 
junctions at the southern end of The Broadway are formed 
by a variety of islands, traffic lights, signs and road markings. 
The pedestrian routes are unclear and traffic queues form in 
three directions.

The proposed pedestrian zone will be an important link from 
The Broadway to South Road and the Orchards providing 
a traffic free route for pedestrians and a visual link between 
the streets.  It would also allow businesses to utilise outdoor 
space, with the potential to become a key focal point for the 
town centre, hosting community events and/or markets.

	■ The proposed pedestrian priority zone would have a 
uniform (trafficable) treatment

	■ Provide a quantum of disabled parking

	■ Consider cycle provision through the pedestrian zone, 
subject to reviewing potential conflicts with pedestrians at 
design stage.

	■ Provide a turning head for service vehicles

	■ The existing bus stop would be relocated to the north 
side of the gyratory

	■ Vehicular access restricted to servicing and disabled 
parking and only accessible from the northern end of the 
new pedestrian zone

	■ New planting and potential SuDS elements to be installed 
to guide pedestrians towards The Broadway and prohibit 
vehicle access to new pedestrian priority zone

	■ Signal-controlled junction and crossings at the South 
Road / Church Road junction will provide more direct 
crossings on raised table.

	■ Simplify existing signalised junction by narrowing road 
widths and providing a raised table / unifying surface 
treatment. Signalised crossings maintain pedestrian desire 
lines and the connection between The Broadway and 
South Road, while rationalising and reducing the number 
of crossings and lights in comparison to the existing 
arrangement.

	■ The existing tree at the north-east corner of the gyratory 
would be preserved on an island both act as a traffic 
calming measure and to link The Broadway with the new 
pedestrian priority zone.

Precedent for a pedestrian priority zone in Shaw’s Road, Altrincham

Example of pedestrian priority street. Shaw’s Road Altrincham

Current configuration of The Broadway / Church & South Road junction

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 102



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

45

Standard Notes Notes and KeysNotes and Keys Notes and Keys

Status

Title

Project

Project Number Originator Drawing Number RevisionScale @ A1 Date Created Drawn Checked Discipline

www.civicengineers.com

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant Architect's and Engineer's drawings and the
specification.

2. This drawing should not be scaled.
3. All dimensions are to be verified by the contractor on

site.
4. All discrepancies should be reported to the C.A. prior

to the commencement of the works.

© CIVIC ENGINEERS

Location Plan

Date Rev Description Drawn Chk

Carver's Warehouse, 77 Dale Street, Manchester, M1 2HG. Tel: 0161 228 6757
Reeds Wharf, 33 Mill Street, London SE1 2AX. Tel: 020 7253 2977
Tower Works, Unit 02-01, Globe Road, Leeds, LS11 5QG. Tel: 0113 2025 130
Gresham Chambers, 45 West Nile St, Glasgow, G1 2PT. Tel: 0141 370 1829

MANCHESTER
LONDON
LEEDS
GLASGOW

Haywards Heath
Town Centre Masterplan 

Muster Green Gyratory
Public Realm and Road Layout
Option 2 of 2

1100-01 CIVIC UI (GA)006 P011:500 June '19 CY GA

INFORMATION

1

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

9

10

11
12

13

2

3

4

5

Existing mature tree to be retained on central island act as 
a traffic calming measure and to announce the entrance to 
revised Broadway streetscape

Service/disabled vehicle access to pedestrian priority zone 
from north end only

Removal of gyratory allows road to be reclaimed as a 
pedestrian priority zone between The Broadway and South 
Road; potential to be used as a market and events space, 
framed and enhanced with new planting and surface 
treatment. Vehicle access from the north only for disabled 
parking, market traffic and servicing.

New planting to guide pedestrians towards The Broadway 
and prohibit vehicle access to new pedestrian priority zone.

Existing signalised junction simplified with narrowed road 
widths and a raised table or unifying surface treatment 
to create gateway feature (refer section 4.12). Signalised 
pedestrian crossings provided to maintain pedestrian desire 
lines and the connection between The Broadway and South 
Road.

Proposed left-turn only exit from car park

Informal pedestrian crossing to be provided with dropped 
kerb

Potential for formal pedestrian crossing

Mini roundabouts to replace existing junctions and allow two-
way movement around the former gyratory

Informal pedestrian crossings to be provided with dropped 
kerbs

New planting to replace existing guard railings and potential to 
act as a rain garden for the road surface water run-off

Muster Green gyratory changed to two-way operation

Relocated bus stop

Location of high priority gateway feature signifying entry into 
Haywards Heath town centre (refer section 4.12)

Indicative location for cycle parking infrastructure

CHURCH ROAD

SOUTH ROAD

D
O

LPH
IN

 RO
A

D
TH

E 
BR

O
A

D
W

AY

MUSTER GREEN

14

14

15

15

15

15

Proposed Muster Green gyratory plan

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 103



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

46

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 4.5 THE BROADWAY 

There is potential to build on and reinforce The Broadway 
as Haywards Heath’s food and beverage hub, contributing 
further to an already active night-time economy. The 
place function could be greatly increased by reducing 
the dominance of vehicles, slowing speeds further and 
improving pedestrian connectivity and permeability. 
Currently, some businesses utilise forecourt space for 
outdoor seating, however the presence of forecourt parking 
detracts from the public realm and occupies space which 
could be used for other purposes.

These proposals would create a more coherent public realm 
and enhance the streetscape which will benefit existing 
businesses, encouraging further footfall and increasing 
dwell times.  Proximity to Heath Road may assist this aim, 
particularly if a more direct link can be found (see 4.13)

There are a number of locally significant buildings within the 
Broadway that help to tell the story of Haywards Heath’s 
growth and social history.  Work to identify these buildings 
and ensure that they continue to add to the character of the 
Broadway would beneficial in continuing to attract people to 
the area.

Standard N
otes

N
otes and Keys

N
otes and Keys

N
otes and Keys

Status

Title

Project

Project N
um

ber
O

riginator
Draw

ing N
um

ber
Revision

Scale @
 A1

Date Created
Draw

n
Checked

Discipline

w
w

w
.civicengineers.com

1.
This draw

ing is to be read in conjunction w
ith all

relevant Architect's and Engineer's draw
ings and the

specification.
2.

This draw
ing should not be scaled.

3.
All dim

ensions are to be verified by the contractor on
site.

4.
All discrepancies should be reported to the C.A. prior
to the com

m
encem

ent of the w
orks.

©
 CIVIC EN

GIN
EERS

Location Plan

Date
Rev

Description
Draw

n
Chk

Carver's W
arehouse, 77 Dale Street, M

anchester, M
1 2HG. Tel: 0161 228 6757

Reeds W
harf, 33 M

ill Street, London SE1 2AX. Tel: 020 7253 2977
Tow

er W
orks, U

nit 02-01, Globe Road, Leeds, LS11 5Q
G. Tel: 0113 2025 130

Gresham
 Cham

bers, 45 W
est N

ile St, Glasgow
, G1 2PT. Tel: 0141 370 1829

M
AN

CHESTER
LO

N
DO

N
LEEDS
G
LASG

O
W

Hayw
ards Heath

Tow
n Centre M

asterplan 

The Broadw
ay

Public Realm
 and Road Layout

1100-01
CIVIC

U
I

(GA)001
P01

1:500
June '19

CY
GA

IN
FO

RM
ATIO

N

9

13

1

2

3

12

4

10

5

11

Proposed gateway feature (refer section 4.12) 

On-street parking spaces maintained

Raised table and surface treatment at junction with Heath 
Road to announce entrance to The Broadway

Proposed planter/SuDS element to break up parking spaces 
and frame entrance to The Broadway

Indicative locations for cycle parking infrastructure

Existing bus stop retained

Proposed pedestrian crossing on raised table to improve 
pedestrian permeability

Vehicle access maintained for side entrances

Proposed planter/SuDS element to break up parking spaces

New planter to restrict parking on the pavement

Proposed planter/SuDS element

Existing tree and island to be retained

East end of gyratory redeveloped into new pedestrianised 
zone with vehicle access for deliveries, disabled parking and a 
potential location for markets or community events

6

8

8

7

7

8

6

9

4

10

2

11

3 HEATH ROAD

5

5

12

13

1

Proposed The Broadway plan (indicative only)

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 104



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

47

Forecourt parking means parked vehicles dominate the streetscape

~4.7m (varies) ~4.7m (varies)2.4m 2m2.1m 2.1m2.5m 2.5m

Priv
ate 

foreco
urt

Priv
ate 

foreco
urt

Footp
ath

Footp
ath

Carria
geway

 

Parking / 

loading
Parking / 

loading

Existing Section of The Broadway (indicative only)

The Star pub at the corner of The Broadway and South Road

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 105



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

48

©TIBBALDS 2020

~4.7m (varies)

Priv
ate fo

reco
urt

Priv
ate fo

reco
urt

Footp
ath

Footp
athCarria

geway
  

with
 ra

ise
d  

textured m
edian

Raise
d parking / 

loading
Raise

d parking / 

loading

2m2m 2m2.4m
0.4m

~4.7m (varies) 2.4m 2.4m

Proposed Section for The Broadway (indicative only)

Recommended proposals

	■ Raised table and surface treatment at junction with Heath 
Road to announce entrance to South Road (as the main 
retail core) as gateway feature (refer section 4.12) subject 
to sensitive design to ensure buses are able to navigate 
unimpeded

	■ Explore potential for cycling facilities to improve 
connectivity between the Station and South Road, and 
opportunities for cycle storage 

	■ Slow vehicle traffic (e.g. 20mph limit) to improve safety 
and comfort for pedestrian’s healthy street - seating, 
planting, lighting and landscaping 

	■ Increase the number of crossing points 

	■ Delineate the space by creating boundaries between 
vehicles and pedestrians through increased planting and 
SuDS elements 

	■ Resurface footways (currently tarmacked) to improve 
public realm

	■ Raised tables at pedestrian crossings to provide level 
crossing to assist vulnerable users and to act as a traffic 
calming vertical deflection

	■ Introduce SuDS elements to deal with road rainwater run-
off, treat pollutants and improve local biodiversity

 - Build out into parking spaces and utilise space for 
street trees to break up long banks of parked cars

	■ Provide designated loading bays and restrict loading to 
certain time periods 

	■ Control parking on forecourts and prohibit where not 
necessary 

	■ Formalise crossovers and clearways

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 106



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

49

4.9m 3.9m2m 3m5.9m

Footp
ath

Footp
ath

Bus s
top

Tw
o-w

ay
 

ca
rria

geway
 

Parking / 

loading

Existing South Road Section (indicative only)

 ❚ 4.6 SOUTH ROAD 

South Road is Hayward Heath’s main retail street, with The 
Orchards Shopping Centre located to its eastern end, and 
leads onto Sussex Road to the south. The link between 
South Road and The Broadway is currently not well-defined, 
disconnecting South Road from the rest of the town centre 
despite being the main retail street.  It is also difficult to cross 
due to fast moving traffic, and long banks of parked cars with 
extensive road markings in some areas. 

South Road currently prioritises vehicular movementSussex Road and South Road intersection 

South Road has the potential to be an attractive and vibrant 
focal point for Haywards Heath, however needs significant 
improvements.  It benefits from already being of a substantial 
width (around 20m) with generous footpaths in areas, 
however currently feels very cluttered from ad-hoc street 
furniture and inconsistent surface treatments that impact on 
South Road’s ability to feel a sense of pride as a place for 
locals and visitors to enjoy spending time in.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 107



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

50

©TIBBALDS 2020

Recommended proposals
Road narrowing will indicate to vehicles that South Road 
is a minor arm off The Broadway/Church Road junction, 
encouraging use of alternative routes for through-traffic 
and providing opportunities to enhance the public realm 
by redirecting traffic to the Relief Road (A272), and improve 
active travel choices to the retail heart of Haywards Heath.

	■ Narrow road by extending kerbline to achieve a road 
width of 6.8m

	■ Visually reduce road  in width by the addition of a central 
median strip and side channel to reduce speeds and 
emphasise the place function of the high street setting 

	■ 20mph speed limit enforced through tightening up of the 
road geometry, introduction of vertical features such as 
raised tables, crossings and by announcing gateways

	■ Central bus stop (east-bound) moved to allow for a new 
pedestrian crossing; all bus stops to be moved into the 
carriageway to act as traffic calming measures

	■ Raised tables added at crossing locations to assist 
crossing and to slow traffic subject to sensitive design to 
ensure buses are able to navigate unimpeded

	■ Consider HGV and delivery restrictions at peak 
pedestrian times, subject to consultation with traders

	■ Rationalise junction with Haywards Road; no right-turning 
lane removed, junction geometry tightened to slow 
speeds and aid pedestrian connectivity.  Junction to 
be a raised table with blended crossing treatment, and 
entrance framed with SuDS/landscaping elements. 

	■ Integrate new SuDS/planting to break up road-pavement 
boundary and between parking spaces to provide 
amenity and break up long sightlines

	■ Widen pavement adjacent to Victoria Park and add 
crossings at both ends to aid pedestrian desire lines

	■ Extend kerb line to the south to allow space for inset 
parking bays

	■ Maintain existing number of on-street parking spaces 
overall 

	■ Maintain taxi rank location in front of the Orchards 
entrance

	■ Crossings to align with entrances to the Orchards

	■ Declutter signs and enforcement of ‘A boards’

	■ Introduce a 20mph zone with raised crossings, tables 
and vertical calming features

6

6

7
8

95
4

2

CHURCH ROAD

11

co
nt

in
ue

d 
on

 o
pp

os
ite

 p
ag

e

10 33

3
1

Proposed South Road plan (indicative only) (1 of 2)

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 108



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

51

1

2

8

Location of gateway feature (refer section 4.12)

Reconfigured junction with Church Road/The Broadway, 
announcing entrance to South Road

Indicative location of cycle parking infrastructure 

Existing parking to be retained with additional SUDS/planting 
elements. 

New pedestrian crossing to improve access to the park and to act 
as a traffic calming measure. 

Existing pedestrian routes to be retained and access improved.

Existing parking to be retained.

Carriageway narrowed and central median strip added.

Public realm along north edge of park to be redeveloped and 
increase pavement widths along both sides of the road. (Also refer 
section 4.8 Victoria Park)

3

4

5

6

7

13

Bus stops to be relocated and/or moved onto the carriageway

New pedestrian crossing to improve pedestrian permeability 
between the park and the Orchards.

Existing loading bay retained, and new parking space added.

New planting and SuDS added to create a barrier between the 
carriageway and the pavement.

Existing junction narrowed and separate right turn lane removed; 
pedestrian Copenhagen crossing at junction.

Raised table added to existing pedestrian crossing. 

SuDS and planting elements added to existing pedestrian 
crossing location.

New parking spaces added in front of bus stop.

Existing taxi and disabled parking bays retained.

8

14

9

10

12continued on opposite page

11

THE ORCHARDS 
SHOPPING  

CENTRE

12

18

13

15

14

10

10

15

1716

15

16

17

18

3

3
1

4.9m 6.1m2m
0.5m

3.1m 3.1m

Footp
ath

  

and plantin
g

Footpath (incl. cycle 
stands, etc.)

Carriageway with central 
raised medianParking / 

loading

Proposed South Road Section (indicative only)

Proposed South Road plan (indicative only) (2 of 2)

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 109



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

52

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 4.7 SUSSEX ROAD

Sussex Road is an extension of the retail offer of South 
Road and important link to the town centre. Many 
independent businesses operate on Sussex Road which 
start and end at the intersection with Triangle Road. There 
is a generous footway on the western edge but the street 
suffers from inconsistent surface treatments and there is a 
lack of pedestrian crossing opportunities. Street markings 
indicate the traffic-focused environment.

On-street parking is primarily located on the eastern 
edge with parking on forecourts, formally and informally 
occurring on the western edge.

The amount of highway owned land is more limited in 
Sussex Road and therefore the opportunities to provide 
for off-carriageway cycle facilities are more limited, 
however there is the potential to provide for improved 
off-carriageway cycling facilities and pedestrian crossing 
facilities at the Sussex Square roundabout.

Recommended proposals

	■ Regulate forecourt parking where possible

	■ Reduce the speed limit to 20mph

	■ Remove guard railing at Sussex Square roundabout. 

	■ Tie in material palette for surface treatments with South 
Road proposals to create a coherent high street which 
assists with wayfinding.

	■ Introduce a raised table and crossing facility towards 
the Sussex Road roundabout to provide a clear route for 
pedestrians and dissuade unnecessary through traffic 
onto South Road

	■ Tighten up junction road geometry to reduce speeds 
and enforce 20mph zone; utilise space for public realm 
improvements such as planting, SuDS and/or places to 
rest. 

	■ Dependent on the proposals for the Orchards car 
parking, increase in trip generation will have to be 
modelled and added to the previous modelling work 
undertaken by the Atkins study to ascertain any further 
impact on Sussex Square roundabout proposals.

	■ Explore potential to provide for off-carriageway cycle 
facilities on shared use paths around the Sussex Road 
roundabout, explore potential to accommodate off-
carriageway cycle movements around junction

Sussex Road, looking north

Sussex Road roundabout, dominated by the movement of vehicles

Sussex Road, looking south

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 110



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

53

1

1

1

2

2

3

3

4
4

5

5

Use the same paving as that proposed for the South Road 
interventions to integrate into the town centre areas.

Coloured pedestrian crossing to emphasise entrance to 
South Road, slow vehicle speeds and form part of a gateway 
feature.

Geometry of existing roundabout to be tightened to restrict 
speeds, widen footways and crossing points. All guardrails 
to be removed from perimeter of roundabout.

New planting and SUDS elements to be installed to create a 
barrier at the ends of the parking spaces and collect highway 
run-off where possible. 

Existing cycle parking to be retained. 

Proposed raised table to slow vehicle speeds entering Sussex 
road. 

Blended crossing on raised table to create continuous 
pedestrian pavement. 

Existing highway narrowed to 6.5, with 20mph speed limit. 

Existing number of parking spaces to be retained and raised 
to pavement level. 

Privately owned building forecourts used for parking and 
business premises. 

Existing crossing moved approximately 10m North to avoid 
existing vehicle access routes to rear of properties. Crossing 
surface to be coloured to enhance visual impact. 

Existing boundary between public pavement and forecourts 
acting as drainage channel to be retained. Pavement and 
parking spaces to be re-surfaced up to this boundary. 

6

6

7

7

8
4

9

9

8

10

10

11

12

11

12

9

GOWER ROAD

TRIANGLE  ROAD

Proposed Sussex Road plan (indicative only)

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 111



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

54

©TIBBALDS 2020

CHURCH  R
OAD

P

P

P

P

P P
P

SOUTH  ROAD

TH
E BRO

AD
W

AY

Refers to proposed 
cycle parking

P

 ❚ 4.8 SPEED LIMIT

Currently a 30mph speed limit operates in Haywards Heath 
study area. The speed data from the 2015 Atkins study 
indicated that, on South Road and Muster Green, the limit 
was being exceeded.

Evaluation studies have demonstrated a link between the 
introduction of 20mph limits / zones and a subsequent 
reduction in casualties. Evidence suggests that the use of 
traffic calming measures reduces speed further in 20mph 
zones. In addition to road safety benefits, 20mph zones 
can encourage more physical activity, such as walking 
and cycling, by contributing towards a safer environment, 
improving the character of an area and the quality of life of 
visitors, worker and residents.

Creating a self-enforceable 20mph zone within Haywards 
Heath town centre would contribute to creating a safer 
environment for pedestrians and cyclists and encourage 
more people to travel by those modes.

Recommended proposal

	■ To introduce a 20mph speed limit in Haywards Heath 
town centre and adjoining residential streets.

 A self-enforceable 20mph speed limit can be achieved by 
the introduction of raised tables at junctions, road narrowing, 
tighter junction geometry, raised pedestrian crossings to act 
as speed control measures, street planting to break up long 
sightlines, strategically positioned on-street parking bays 
with buildouts and continuous crossings at side roads.

A reduction in the speed limit in conjunction with new 
road treatments and gateways will disincentivise and 
discourage drivers currently cutting through the town 
centre avoiding the relief road but allow those who need to 
travel into the town centre for shopping, leisure, business 
to do so.

co
nt

in
ue

d 
on

 o
pp

os
ite

 p
ag

e

Plan showing indicative  cycle park locations (refer 4.9) (1 of 2)

The Orchards 
Shopping Centre

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 112



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

55

SUSSEX ROAD

P

P

E

Refers to existing 
cycle parking

SOUTH ROAD

The Orchards 
Shopping Centre 

entrance

Refers to proposed 
cycle parking

 ❚ 4.9 CYCLING

Future commercial and residential development in Haywards 
Heath have the potential to increase vehicular trips. This 
can be mitigated by the provision of improved public 
transport, walking and cycling facilities which will support 
development, by providing active travel opportunities as an 
alternative to car use. 

Cycle routes from Commercial Square have been identified 
and a route travelling east to west through Clair Park is being 
developed. A clear legible route from the station through 
Perrymount Road, The Broadway and to the Orchards is 
required to encourage more journeys by bike. 

The proposed Haywards Heath to Burgess Hill cycle 
network, set out by policy SA37 in the Draft Site Allocations 
DPD, will provide an alternative to car travel for longer 
distances linking two important town centres. The network 
ties in with existing cycle routes and the public rights of way 
network and is currently safeguarded for delivery.

In addition, reconfiguring South Road and The Broadway, 
as part of the proposed transport infrastructure and public 
realm improvements, will reduce vehicular speeds and 
create a less intimidating environment for cyclists. 

A quiet route network and enhanced cycle facilities can 
provide an alternative to those cyclists wishing to avoid 
busier routes. Potential to develop a route from Sydney Road 
via Clair Park to the Orchards Shopping Centre. The route 
would require the Clair Park route to change from a footway 
to a shared use path.  At Heath Road the route would  tie into 
Trevelyan Place cycle route and link and with appropriate 
way finding link to St Wilfred’s Place and onto the Orchards 
and South Road.

Potential to link Cuckfield to Haywards Heath Station via 
the bridleway off Wheatsheaf Lane, connecting onto Blunts 
Wood Crescent and onto the station via Blunts Wood Road/ 
Harlands Road were segregation or a shared footpath 
would be required. This would allow cycle travel option for 
commuters to the station and provide a safe cycle route  for 
secondary school children from Haywards Heath to Warden 
Park Secondary School in Cuckfield.

A raised parallel / tiger crossing between Clair Park and Clair 
Road, across Perrymount Road, will assist cyclist crossing at 
this point and those looking to access the station cycle hub.  
Perrymount Road also provides an opportunity for advisory 
cycle lanes which would require a reconfiguration of parking 
to the south, as it meets The Broadway.

continued on opposite page

Plan showing indicative  cycle park locations (refer 4.9 and to 
previous page) (2 of 2)

Potential link from Cuckfield to Haywards Heath Station, and a safe 
cycle route via Clair Park

Recommended proposals                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                              

	■ Provide a clear, logical cycling route from the station 
through Perrymount Road, The Broadway and the 
Orchards.   

	■ Investigate opportunities for reconfiguring existing road/
pedestrian/cycle layouts (Individual proposals are set 
out under 4.1 – 4.7)   

	■ Investigate opportunities for improved cycle 
connectivity with adjoining settlements, such as 
Cuckfield and Burgess Hill. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 113



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

56

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 4.10 PARKING

Whilst opportunities to increase levels of walking 
and cycling to the town centre will be facilitated and 
encouraged through potential public realm and 
infrastructure improvements set out within this Masterplan, 
the success of the town centre will still be reliant on 
provision of adequate car parking capacity to meet current 
as well as future predicted need. Provision of adequate 
parking capacity is a driver for economic vitality. 

Forecast Parking Demand 

There are 10 Car Parks within the Town Centre boundary. 
Nine of these are Council-owned and located primarily to 
serve the leisure and retail core (Broadway / South Road), 
with a high-capacity multi-storey at Haywards Heath 
station (privately owned).  

Within the leisure and retail core, capacity totals 642 
spaces. 

Car Park Spaces

Orchards (St. Wilfrids Way) 194

Hazelgrove Road 118

Heath Road 99

Haywards West 52

Franklynn Road 80

Gower Road 21

Haywards East 49

Muster Green* 29

TOTAL 642

*Saturday only

Parking data has been captured to inform the forthcoming 
Parking Strategy, due for adoption in 2020/21. This 
suggests that, on average, the above car parks are 
operating at between 80-99% capacity during traditional 
retail hours of 9-5pm, but generally less than 30% 
capacity from 5pm onwards.  

This, coupled with the fact that the Car Parks are largely 
small in scale and scattered, can lead to frustrations 
from shoppers. Anecdotal evidence, supported by 
comments received at the stakeholder workshop, 
indicated that shoppers are often circling between car 
parks looking for a space. Circling for spaces within the 
town centre increases unnecessary traffic movements, 
which is unsustainable and does not contribute towards 
a pedestrian-friendly environment. Provision of easy 
to access car parks can enhance a destinations 
attractiveness. 

The Covid-19 pandemic significantly reduced parking 
demand in early-mid 2020, however this is expected to 
increase as High Streets recover. However, it is difficult to 
predict the long-term impacts of the pandemic on future 
parking demand – this will depend on the retail and leisure 
offer within town centres generally as well as whether new 
habits (such as increased online purchases, shopping 
more locally, or using sustainable travel methods – as well 
as changes to worker behaviour) become established. 
Future trends in dwell time and consequently the length of 
time parked are also difficult to predict long-term. 

As the economy recovers, so too will demand for town 
centre facilities. Both on and off-street parking will need 
to evolve to meet the new and changing demands. The 
Government is committed to ensuring Town Centres 
thrive into the future; this includes encouraging a range 
of uses (retail, commercial, leisure and residential) 
which are reflected and supported by the principles 
and opportunities set out within Sections 4 and 5 of this 
Masterplan. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 114



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

57

Parking Strategy 

The District Council is currently revising its Parking Strategy, 
to be adopted in 2020/21. The Parking Strategy sets out 
a flexible and agile approach to respond to future parking 
demand to ensure economic recovery post-Covid and long-
term growth and vitality.  There are synergies between the 
Parking Strategy and this Masterplan, with the two together 
providing a high-level framework to meet this aim.  

The Parking Strategy has four key objectives, all of which are 
relevant to future proposals for Haywards Heath Town Centre: 

• Investing in Car Parks – to ensure future growth can  
 be accommodated and is well managed 

• Sustainable Growth – to support post-Covid   
 economic recovery and long-term economic growth   

• Supporting Vitality – to ensure car parks continue to  
 support local economies, providing parking in the   
 right places   

• Customer Experience – to ensure that car parking   
 meets user expectations 

Recommended Proposals 

	■ To consolidate the current fragmented, low capacity   
car parks – in order to increase overall capacity,    
improve wayfinding and a clearer ‘destination’ for   
vehicle users to improve traffic management, and   
improve the overall user experience to support    
prosperity   

	■ Once consolidated, and subject to sufficient parking   
capacity, explore opportunities for redevelopment of   
the small, low capacity car parks for alternative uses   
(such as residential – see section 5.4)

	■ To focus on the Orchards Shopping Centre as the   
location for increasing capacity – by providing for a   
multi-storey at Orchards and/or Hazelgrove Road   
(see section 5.2) 

	■ To implement the objectives of the Parking Strategy   
by investigating alternative management regimes

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 115



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

58

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 4.11 VICTORIA PARK

Conversations during engagement have suggested that 
the character areas at The Broadway and South Road are 
not often seen as well connected or close by. Some have 
expressed an awareness of one area, but not the other, 
despite their proximity. The northern area of Victoria Park, 
along South Road, has the potential to develop into a key 
focal point for Haywards Heath, where people can meet 
and gather for community events, for lunch during the 
working week, or as they stop to take a moment to enjoy 
the attractive green open space. To enhance and protect 
Victoria Park as a valued asset within a well-connected and 
cohesive town centre.

The council are currently preparing a masterplan for Victoria 
Park that will be guided by this masterplan document. Any 
redevelopment of Victoria Park should take into account the 
existing topography and retain other current facilities.

Precedent for Victoria Park / South Road interface

Recommended proposals

	■ Removal of the hedge along its entirety

	■ Consider additional lighting in order to improve security 
and deter anti-social behaviour.

	■ New area of public realm along the South Road frontage 
to create a key gathering and meeting point

	■ Considering the new area of public realm as a potential 
area to hold community events, e.g. outdoor film 
screenings, concerts, etc.

	■ Considering the potential for a built element (e.g. kiosk, 
public toilets, or a pavilion, etc) along the South Road 
frontage that does not obstruct views

Development principles for Victoria Park / South Road interface

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 116



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

59

 ❚ 4.12 GATEWAYS AND WAYFINDING SIGNAGE

Key

Gateway and wayfinding signage locations.  

The Boltro Road access and egress at the station is an additional 
gateway to consider, but lies outside of the town centre study area. 
It provides the quickest route to the Council’s offices and other 
services in the vicinity. 

Some of Haywards Heath town centre’s issues arise from 
it being relatively elongated, with around 1.6km (i.e. around 
20 mins walk) between the station and the southern end 
of the town centre at Sussex Road. It is currently unclear 
where the town centre begins and ends, and where local 
destinations are for both residents and visitors - particularly 
when you arrive via the train station.  The town centre’s 
natural topography also changes perceptions of proximity 
and distance. 

Recommended proposals

The introduction of gateway features and wayfinding 
signage in key locations will:  

	■ help to inform people that they are entering the town 
centre,  

	■ act as traffic calming measures, 

	■ indicate where key destinations are located, as well as 
where there are pedestrian and cycle-only routes.  

These elements are also an opportunity to reinforce the 
identity and branding of Haywards Heath, and could 
be supported and developed by defining a Business 
Improvement District (BID). 

Gateway features 
Gateway features can vary between signage, public art, 
murals, lighting and supergraphics on the road’s surface.  
Strategies have been recommended for the identified 
gateway locations, which have been prioritised in terms of 
delivery:

High priority

1.  Station approach: Painted mural on and/or under 
railway bridge tunnel; improved lighting.

2.  Commercial Square roundabout: Public art or 
supergraphics

6.  South Road west approach: Signage, public art or 
supergraphics

7.  South Road east approach: Signage, public art or 
supergraphics

Medium priority

4.  Clair Road station entrance / Clair Park access: 
Signage or supergraphics

5.  The Broadway (north and south): Supergraphics

Low priority

3.  Sydney Road approach: Supergraphics

8.  Sussex Road roundabout: Public art or supergraphics

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 117



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

60

©TIBBALDS 2020

Wayfinding signage
Wayfinding signage can reinforce town centre identity 
and branding, and should support the gateway features 
in establishing character areas and the location of key 
destinations.  The key function of the wayfinding signage, 
however, will be to indicate the less known pedestrian 
routes and ‘shortcuts’, particularly to and from Clair Park.

Wayfinding signage can vary from signposts (which can 
include maps, walking times, directions, etc), supergraphics, 
and street furniture with incorporated graphics.  High profile 
locations (e.g. The Broadway, South Road) will require more 
detailed information, while others (marking routes to Clair 
Park) will benefit from a clear and simple signage post.

South Road aspirations … north-western end

Gateway precedents: sculpture

Gateway precedents: mural

Wayfinding precedents: signposts with varying levels of information

Gateway and wayfinding precedents: sculpture and street furniture

Gateway and wayfinding precedents: supergraphics

Gateway precedents: signage

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 118



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

61

 ❚ 4.13 OTHER SMALL-SCALE IMPROVEMENTS

A. Tylers Green intersection
Tighten geometry at Haywards Heath approach arm to 
indicate it is the minor approach and encourage the use of 
the relief road on Isaac’s Lane (including signage directing 
users to the relief road). Mark the entrance to Haywards 
Heath by a gateway feature or visible threshold.

B. Clair Road and connection with Clair Park
The railway station can be accessed from Clair Road. 
It is already the direct entrance for the station car park, 
from which the station platforms can be accessed, and is 
adjacent to the Waitrose car park, from which the Waitrose 
supermarket can be accessed. This alternative access is 
currently not obvious to pedestrians, nor is the pedestrian 
link to Clair Park. In addition to a gateway feature and 
wayfinding signage (refer 4.9) at the Perrymount Road 
junction, the public realm along the Clair Park access should 
be improved to be more inviting and attractive to residents 
and passersby.

Lighting with lamppost banners, as well as a low-
maintenance landscaping scheme (i.e. using native 
plant species) leading up to the entrance of Clair Park is 
recommended along this accessway.

C. New connection between The Broadway 
and Heath Road car park
If frontages to businesses on The Broadway are to become 
more attractive to sitting out, forecourt parking needs to 
be resolved.  There is also a lack of available parking to 
customers in the vicinity of The Broadway, aside from on-
street parking.  A solution to this might be connecting the 
Heath Road car park more directly to The Broadway.  This 
is complex to achieve, because no obvious or available 
solution exists.

Notwithstanding this, a vacant single-storey unit has been 
identified at 42 The Broadway. This location would provide 
the kind of opportunity needed to create a new and direct 
pedestrian connection between The Broadway and the 
retained car parks accessed via Heath Road. 

Clair Road, looking west towards the railway line

Proposed Tylers Green intersection (Atkins study 2015)

London
(45 min by train)

Lindfield
Cuckfield

Haywards
Heath

Burgess Hill
(5 mins by 

train)

East
Grinstead

Crawley

Brighton
(20 min by train)

A23

A272

A22

A272

A27

A2
6

A22

A27

A23

A26

0 5km

Gatwick
Airport

A272

High Weald Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty

South Downs
National Park

Isaac’s Lane

Tylers 
Green

Location of Tylers Green/Isaac’s Lane in relation to the town centre

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 119



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

62

©TIBBALDS 2020

Small-scale improvements

Any identified unit would need to be demolished to create 
the new connection. If designed with positive public realm 
attributes, the benefits this new link would provide are: 

	■ direct pedestrian access from The Broadway to nearby 
car parks 

	■ increased pedestrian permeability within the block, 
providing additional choices for people to move around 

	■ increased patronage in The Broadway

D. New crossing points along Church and 
Heath Road
Pedestrian-only routes connect the station and South 
Road via Clair Park and two north-south pedestrian routes 
between Church and Heath Road.  Currently, there is 
minimal signage to indicate their locations.  While signage 
is proposed as part of the strategy to increase awareness 
of these routes, designated pedestrian crossings (e.g. 
tiger crossings or raised surfaces) at these locations would 
reinforce the location of these routes.  They would also act 
as traffic-calming measures to ensure pedestrian safety is 
prioritised.

New pedestrian crossing points are recommended in three 
locations as indicated on the adjacent diagram.

E. Lighting to pedestrian-only routes
There are several pedestrian-only routes within Haywards 
Heath town centre.  These primarily lead towards or through 
Clair Park, or to rear parking areas.  To encourage more 
people to use these pedestrian routes, lighting needs to be 
provided to increase safety particularly during short daylight 
hours.

Pedestrian-only routes that would benefit from lighting are 
indicated on the adjacent diagram.  A lighting specialist 
would need to be engaged to determine an appropriate 
strategy for these routes, being cognisant of not being 
disruptive to any existing ecology, adjoining residential 
amenity, and the Conservation Area. Key

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 120



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

63

 ❚ 4.14 MEANWHILE USES

With leisure and activity patterns changing, meanwhile uses 
have become an integral part of vibrant and successful places.  
It reduces the negative impacts of vacant retail units, and 
multiple sites clustered together can help to provide a critical 
mass and varied offer.

Meanwhile uses, or ‘pop-up shops’, can also help to assess 
the viability of the town centre.  Short-term leases would 
provide an attractive means to test business ideas for potential 
entrepreneurs, or allow established companies or online 
brands to set up a temporary shop in a location which may not 
be viable on a long-term basis.

Uses could include retail, food and beverage, or interactive 
experiences (e.g. workshops, escape rooms, etc), depending 
on the available unit.  A meanwhile uses strategy may take 
advantage of seasonal themes and characteristics specific to 
Haywards Heath.

This masterplan proposes that MSDC works together with the 
Town Team and/or BID (if formed) and the Orchards Centre 
manager to identify available sites and units, and set up a 
programme of activities and events, and a brief to attract 
entrepreneurs or companies to engage in meanwhile uses in 
the town centre.

Appear Here (http://www.appearhere.co.uk) are a 
commercial meanwhile uses framework that operates 
across the UK that demonstrates the ability for landlords to 
list vacant spaces for rent, and for businesses to select a 
space and the period of time that they wish to rent for.  

A vacant ‘Appear Here’ unit on Columbia Road in East London.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 121



 ❚ 5.0  

OPPORTUNITY 
SITES

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 122



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

65

Key

Town Centre Masterplan 
Boundary

Opportunity sites diagram

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 123



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

66

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 5.1 DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPLES

This masterplan identifies strategic development principles 
for opportunity sites within Haywards Heath town centre.  
Responding to masterplan objectives 1, 2, 4, 7, and 8, the 
proposals seek to: ensure any redevelopment of commercial 
sites enhances the vibrancy and attractiveness of Haywards 
Heath; utilise the potential of The Orchards as a key local 
destination to reinforce South Road as the main shopping 
area; utilise the potential of The Orchards site to consolidate 
town centre parking as much as possible; recommend 
sites for providing new homes within the town centre; and, 
propose a meanwhile uses strategy.

As a significant landowner, the Council can use its 
landholdings to effectively manage the town centre. It is 
therefore important that principles are established to assist 
the Council with its consideration of future opportunities. 
The following sites identified under “large-” and “medium-
scale” proposals are within the Council’s ownership.

Large-scale proposals

A. The Orchards Shopping Centre 

B. Clair Hall

Medium-scale proposals

C. Haywards West car park

D. Haywards East car park

E. Franklynn Road car park

	■ Meanwhile uses

This chapter sets out the principles for redevelopment on 
these sites based on the masterplan objectives.

Mid Sussex Design Guide SPD (2020) 

In addition to the principles set out for each Opportunity 
Site in this section, future proposals must also be 
consistent with the principles within the Mid Sussex Design 
Guide SPD (2020).  

The Mid Sussex Design Guide provides clear design 
principles that aim to deliver high quality new development 
across Mid Sussex that is inclusive and responds 
appropriately to its context while prioritising sustainability 
in the design process. These principles are based on the 
policy framework provided by District Plan Policy DP26: 
Character and Design. 

 

The Design Guide identifies the Haywards Heath town 
centre opportunity sites within the coarse grain areas (as 
defined in paragraphs 2.5.9 to 2.5.11 and Figure 2F of the 
Design Guide) where the quality of the existing built fabric 
is varied. 

 

 

Whilst all proposals identified within the Masterplan must be 
consistent with all relevant principles within the Design Guide, 
the following are particularly relevant for the opportunity 
areas set out within this chapter: 

Principle DG11: Respond to the existing townscape, heritage 
assets and historic landscapes is particularly applicable to 
areas defined as ‘coarse grain’.  

 

Principle DG32: Managing increased density in town centres 
notes that Development density should be appropriate to the 
location and respond to and/or enhance the character of the 
existing settlement. 

 

Principle DG33: Potential for tall buildings (over 6 storeys) 
notes that tall buildings may be acceptable in Town Centres 
in exceptional circumstances such as where they would 
improve legibility or contribute towards overall town centre 
regeneration.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 124



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

67

This could include cleaning, repainting in a consistent 
colour, and/or implementing a consistent shop signage 
strategy. 

I. 59-83 South Road (opposite The Orchards 
Located opposite The Orchards, the intention of any 
redevelopment in this location would be to create an area 
of public realm which relates to The Orchards entrance.  It 
should be enclosed by a new building, or group of buildings, 
which provides active frontage onto the public realm with the 
opportunity for some spill-out activity.

J. 3-19 South Road (corner of Sussex and South Road) 
Due to its prominent location at the south-eastern gateway 
to South Road, this group of buildings has the potential to 
host a taller architecturally-designed building (e.g. up to 
five storeys), with retail on the ground floor & residential 
above.

K. The Priory site 
Previous planning applications have proposed the 
refurbishment of The Priory chapel and conversion of 
existing buildings and the erection of a new building for 
residential uses.  Redevelopment of this nature would be 
appropriate for this site, however must ensure a carefully 
considered response to the character and setting of the 
Grade II-listed Priory Chapel (listed as ‘The Minstrels Gallery 
Restaurant The Priory Club and Squash Courts’).  A well-
designed modern and contemporary approach would be 
welcome to not risk pastiche.  A refurbished Priory Chapel 
would be appropriate for community uses.  

L. Mill Green Road site 
If existing uses were to be appropriately relocated, this site 
would suit residential use.  Due to its proximity to the railway 
line, flats would be preferred where parking could provide a 
buffer to the railway.  This site could accommodate a building 
up to four storeys, taking into account the site level difference 
to the north.  Combined with the Texaco site, this area could 
become a new quarter for urban living near the station.

M. Muster Green/Broadway site 
Opportunity exists for a redevelopment of the western 
terrace of The Broadway, north of The Star pub.  A taller 
development, that helped frame the street and bring 
ground floor activity, could assist in bringing further life to 
The Broadway.  Mixed-use development, could also bring 
people directly into the centre, and help to bridge the gap 
between South Road and this part of the town centre.

Additional opportunities for improvement within the built 
environment
This masterplan also identifies additional sites where 
redevelopment could support the vibrancy and vitality 
of Haywards Heath, particularly as many are located in 
prominent / gateway site locations (objective 6). Some of these 
opportunities could be supported and developed through the 
BID, should a Haywards Heath BID be formed. The following 
text briefly sets out the opportunities held by these sites, 
however this does not imply that these sites are available or 
viable. Further work is required to establish if and how these 
sites could come forward. 

F. Texaco site (opposite northern station entrance) 
Located opposite the station, this petrol filling station is the first 
thing many visitors see as they arrive into Haywards Heath. 
It is closely located to the northern gateway locations and 
has a strong impact upon those visiting the centre.  With its 
south-facing aspect, this site has potential to accommodate 
retail, commercial and/or residential uses in an architecturally-
designed three- to four-storey building. 

G. 2 The Broadway 
This corner building, located in a prominent location at the end 
of The Broadway, is well-positioned to host food and beverage 
uses at ground level with potential to spread to the storey 
above, due to the topography change on Church Road.

It could comfortably accommodate four storeys, with 
residential or small business units above.

H. 118-142 South Road (opposite Victoria Park) 
This group of buildings marks the north-western entrance to 
the main South Road retail area, as well as providing frontage 
onto Victoria Park. It is adjacent to St Wilfrid’s church cemetery 
and has the potential to be developed into a new mixed-use 
building with active frontage uses on the ground floor with 
residential above. As a minimum, a‘facelift’  to the South Road 
frontage elevation could help to elevate the prominence of 
these buildings at this gateway location which is likely to be a 
realistic and viable option. 

 ❚ 5.2 ADDITIONAL OPPORTUNITIES

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 125



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

68

©TIBBALDS 2020

Hazelgrove Rd elevation - 1:500@A1

S
u
s
s
e
x
 R

o
a

d
R

o
u

n
d

a
b

o
u

t

S
t 

J
o

s
e

p
h

s
 W

a
y

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

d

Hazelgrove Road carpark

S
it
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

S
it
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
re

v
is

e
d

s
it
e

 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

Victoria Park - 1:250@A1

S
o
u
th

 R
d

A

The Orchards Shopping Centre site constraints and opportunities

Hazelgrove Road elevation (illustrative only)

Lack of frontage 
activity along 
pedestrian routes

Lack of frontage 
activity along 
pedestrian routes

Blank frontage

Blank frontage

1

2

3

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 126



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

69

Hazelgrove Rd elevation - 1:500@A1

S
u
s
s
e
x
 R

o
a

d
R

o
u

n
d

a
b

o
u

t

S
t 

J
o

s
e

p
h

s
 W

a
y

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

d

Hazelgrove Road carpark

S
it
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

S
it
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
re

v
is

e
d

s
it
e

 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

Victoria Park - 1:250@A1

S
o
u
th

 R
d

The Orchards Shopping Centre is at the heart of retail in 
Haywards Heath with 37 ground floor units, including Marks 
& Spencer as the principal anchor tenant.  The centre hosts 
occasional events and markets in the mall that increase 
footfall.  There are also 31 residential units at first floor 
level, two surface car parks (one to the north, and one on 
Hazelgrove Road), and a two-storey building on Hazelgrove 
Road with Tesco on the ground floor, and an independent 
gym above.  Whilst trading well, there are three aspects of 
redevelopment that The Orchards could pursue to ensure its 
ongoing viability and vitality, as a key part of the town centre.  
These are:

	■ Incorporating other uses, e.g. leisure or community, 

	■ Improving the public realm and built environment, and,

	■ Enhancing town centre parking.

Incorporating other uses

As the largest building parcel of MSDC-owned land (3.7 ha 
/ 9.2 acres) within the town centre, there is an opportunity 
to introduce alternative uses within the town centre, 
particularly where uses gaps have been identified.  The 
leisure offer within the town centre is currently limited, with 
Clair Hall disconnected from the main area of activity, and 
no local cinema (the closest will be in Burgess Hill).  

Investigative work has already been started around the 
possibility of using a site around the north western side of 
the Orchards (marked ‘1’ on the adjacent plan) for a leisure 
facility to complement the existing offer in the district.  Such 
a facility could work with the retail offer in the heart of the 
main commercial area and have the benefit of extending 
the hours of the central area into the evening, for example, 
complementing the food and drink offer at The Broadway.

In light of the changing retail environment other 
complementary town centre uses should be considered for 
the Orchards to help harness its potential to provide a central 
and diverse hub for the town centre.

Residential uses within the town centre, particularly around 
the South Road/high street environment would also benefit 
from being increased.  If Haywards Heath would like to 
nurture and encourage a flourishing night-time economy, 
residential uses will provide passive surveillance and an 
increased number of potential regular visitors.

Improving the public realm and built environment

In 2015, some public realm and external appearance 
improvements were made to the units adjacent to M&S 

 ❚ 5.3 A.  THE ORCHARDS SHOPPING  
 CENTRE REDEVELOPMENT  

(units 1-8), however a large part of The Orchards retains 
canopies with closely spaced posts and downpipes.  These 
could be removed to open up the sense of space, and to 
create a bright and inviting environment.   This may also 
further support events and markets.  Shopfront/residential 
façades could be improved to be more contemporary and 
light-coloured (to promote natural light), however could be 
designed to minimise future maintenance requirements.

There are multiple pedestrian routes to The Orchards, 
including those used by vehicles to access the two surface 
parking areas (e.g. St Wilfrid’s Way and St Joseph’s Way).  
Currently, with the exception of the main entrance off South 
Road, none of these routes have active frontages to help 
make them feel safe or attractive.  Where service accesses 
are indicated on the adjacent diagram, these consist 
primarily of close-boarded doors and waste bins.  The 
northern M&S elevation and southern Tesco elevations are 
also blank.

Any redevelopment of The Orchards must improve outward-
facing activity particularly along key pedestrian routes, and 
the public realm generally, to encourage walking to and 
from The Orchards and the rest of the town centre.  As a 
minimum, this could include creating a clear and dedicated 
pedestrian network of routes along key desire lines, which 
connects the internal and external Orchards environments, 
e.g. with consistent or similar material surfacing.

Enhancing town centre parking

The Hazelgrove Road site (‘3’, on The Orchards site 
constraints and opportunities diagram) provides the 
opportunity for a multi-storey car park within the town 
centre. Any proposals for a multi-storey car park in this 
location would need to be architecturally designed to 
ensure the overall appearance is well-considered and not 
over-dominating, particularly for pedestrians walking along 
Hazelgrove Road. This could be up to four storeys, with 
additional rooftop parking to maximise capacity, and could 
take advantage of the topography of the site which rises to 
the north.  

Increasing capacity at Orchards car park (‘2’ on the 
diagram) is an opportunity, potentially the provision of 
a multi-storey or decked car park. Any proposals in this 
location would need to ensure they respect the amenity 
of adjacent residential properties (Beacon Heights and 
The Heights) and take advantage of the topography which 
slopes to the south.  

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 127



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

70

©TIBBALDS 2020

In determining an appropriate quantum of spaces, the 
integration of parking resulting from any future consolidation 
of Haywards Road East (49 spaces), Haywards Road West 
(47 spaces), and Franklynn Road (77 spaces) will have to be 
considered. In addition, proposed new uses at The Orchards 
such as commercial leisure facilities and F&B offer could 
generate new trips along with the forecasted growth in parking 
demand will have to be factored in. 

Aims and Principles

• Leisure facility*, to work alongside the existing retail offer and    
   to encourage growth in the night-time economy 

• Support complementary town centre uses to increase         
   footfall, increase diversity of uses and provide a town centre  
   focus point 

• Support residential uses, to increase footfall and number of  
   visitors and to provide passive surveillance 

• Reconfiguration of existing retail units will be supported to      
   ensure they are fit-for-purpose and reflect current and future  
   retail (and other town centre use) needs 

• Public Realm Improvements – to create an inviting   
   environment and improve access 

• Enhanced town centre parking , ensuring that provision of   
   parking supports existing and proposed new uses.

*This could include facilities such as a cinema, or for     
  community use.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 128



The Orchards Shopping Centre

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 129



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

72

©TIBBALDS 2020

 ❚ 5.4 B.  CLAIR HALL 

The Clair Hall site was home to a community facility. It had a 
series of spaces for hire, including a large hall which provides 
for different activities. The site also includes the Redwood 
Centre which is hired to local community groups.

The 2007 Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan 
identified Clair Hall as an opportunity site. The Masterplan 
noted that the facilities were “outdated and not considered 
credible by the community”, and that the building was 
nearing the end of its economic life.  Since the 2007 
Masterplan was adopted, this position has worsened.

It is therefore now considered that the facility is beyond 
its economic lifespan. The estimated costs of maintaining 
and repairing the building are significant, in addition to 
the likely significant costs of bringing the building up to 
required energy efficiency standards commencing in 2023. 
Therefore, major investment would be required to bring 
the facility up to standard and to maintain its appeal and 
condition. Figures provided by the District Council shows 
that usage has steadily declined over the last four years. 
Its original purpose was for hosting live performances, 
however in 2019/20 only 5% of bookings were for shows. 
Other uses (such as meetings, talks, training and classes) 
make up the majority of bookings and are generally for 
fewer than 50 attendees. There is potential for these users 
to be accommodated elsewhere. 

Given these factors, it was decided that Clair Hall should be 
closed and the site redeveloped. Redevelopment should 
follow the principles set out below.

Aims and Principles

The important aspects to any redevelopment would be: 

	■ An assessment to establish the need for such a facility, 
and whether community facilities could be re-provided 
on site or elsewhere within the town;

	■ the relationships with adjacent buildings and the open 
space, particularly in creating a coherent and attractive 
street scene with frontages to active spaces; 

	■ the relationship with Clair Park, including protecting the 
setting of The Heath conservation area in accordance 
with District Plan policy DP35: Conservation Areas;

	■ the link between the station and Clair Park via existing 
pathways (discussed elsewhere in the masterplan) with 
enhanced crossings at Perrymount Road;

	■ the location and accessibility of other crossings of 
Perrymount Road;

	■ maintenance of important trees on site and adjacent to 
the park; and

	■ the potential for active ground floor uses, particularly on 
the Perrymount Road frontage.

Current entrance to Clair Hall and its carpark, with employment uses 
in the background

Clair Hall

Opportunity sites diagram extract

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 130



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

73

 ❚ 5.5 MSDC-OWNED CAR PARKS 

C. Haywards West car park
This corner site on Haywards Road currently provides 
47 parking spaces for Iceland supermarket, as well as 
for Victoria Park and South Road generally.  It has ample 
frontage and benefits from being located nearby South 
Road and to the eastern edge of Victoria Park, where the 
play area, skate park and cafe are located.

The key development principles for this site are:

	■ Due to the interface between South Road, Victoria 
Park and surrounding residential, a three- to four-storey 
residential apartment building would be appropriate in 
this location, with parking provided on site at ground 
level; 

	■ Active frontage must be provided along eastern 
and northern edges to ensure passive surveillance, 
particularly over the link to Victoria Park;

	■ The eastern elevational treatment should, in particular, 
respond to the existing built character within the area;

	■ The pedestrian / cycle link to Victoria Park must be 
enhanced; and,

	■ All residential ground floor units should be directly 
accessible from the street.

D. Haywards East car park
The area covered by Haywards East car park currently 
provides 49 parking spaces, according to MSDC carpark 
data, and is accessed via the service route behind units 
with frontage along South Road.  The car park sits 
between houses on Haywards Road and Gower Road. 
Gower Road is a quiet residential street, predominantly 
consisting of two storey semi-detached houses. 

The key development principles for this site are:

	■ Due to the fairly consistent built character along 
Gower Road, 2 or 3 two-storey terrace houses would 
be recommended on this site, at a similar scale and 
character to surrounding homes. 

	■ Parking for existing homes along Gower Road is 
currently accommodated on-plot and/or on-street; 
further site analysis and capacity testing will need to 
inform how parking can be accommodated on the site, 
or whether it should be provided on-street.

The second parking area along Gower Road (known as 
Gower Road car park), should be retained. This space 

provides pay-and-display parking for shoppers and is well 
used on account of the access it provides to South Road.

E. Franklynn Road Car Park
This site is located opposite The Priory on Franklynn Road 
and currently provides around 77 parking spaces.  Adjacent 
apartment buildings are three to four storeys tall, with some 
retail units on the corner of Franklynn and Sussex Road.  
Some servicing of these units currently occurs from the car 
park, and there is a narrow footway that connects the car 
park to Sussex Road.  Some businesses are serviced via the 
car park as well.

The key development principles for this site are:

	■ Due to the surrounding context, a three- to four-storey 
residential apartment building would be appropriate in 
this location, with parking provided on site at ground 
level;  

	■ Neighbouring residential units along the south-eastern 
boundary overlook the site and therefore a reasonable 
distance of open space must be provided to ensure 
their outlook and privacy, as well as for future residents - 
parking could potentially be provided in this location as a 
‘buffer’;

	■ Elevational treatment, particularly on Franklynn Road, 
should respond to the Grade II-listed Priory Chapel, as 
well as surrounding buildings; and,

	■ Open space should be retained to the rear (i.e. south-
west) of the site to preserve existing access to Sussex 
Road and the Church, however security and privacy for 
the new residential units must be considered carefully.

Opportunity sites diagram extract

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 131



 ❚ 6.0  

POLICY 
INTERVENTIONS 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 132



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

75

Town centre boundary
The adopted District Plan contains a boundary for the 
town centre that is based on the current concentration of 
retail and commercial uses around South Road and The 
Broadway. This boundary is a “Shopping Policy” boundary 
and reflects the retail and commercial centre of Haywards 
Heath. This serves a purpose and need not be changed, but 
Haywards Heath is unusual in having a series of character 
areas strung along a long linear stretch of the town between 
the retail core in the south (and including Sussex Road) and 
the station in the north.

The masterplan area arguably covers most of the functions 
expected to be seen in a traditional town centre – retail, 
leisure, employment, cultural and transport services.  This 
masterplan endeavours to strengthen the distinct areas 
whilst ensuring that moving between them becomes easier, 
so residents and visitors can both make sense of the town 
and make the most of its assets and attractions.  Thinking at 
this scale is useful.

The small opportunities at the Priory and at Mill Green Lane 
discussed earlier might also warrant these sites being 
included in a wider town centre masterplan area.

In terms of the National Planning Policy Guidance, 
the definition of the town centre is important from the 
perspective of ensuring that town centre uses do not stray 
into areas that would not be appropriate, or would result 
in the town centre itself being undermined.  In this sense, 
the inclusion of large residential areas in the town centre 
boundary – particularly in the eastern and north eastern 
areas – may not be effective in policy terms, and a balance 
needs to be found, particularly in terms of defining edge of 
centre locations. 

The importance of the Perrymount Road employment 
area is acknowledged through its designation in the 
neighbourhood plan, and the area contributes to Haywards 
Heath’s economy through the provision of purpose built 
modern office space.  It is important that this function is 
retained, to ensure that businesses can continue to find 
space and grow within the town. The buildings are flexible 
enough to support different business needs in the space 
available, and potentially to accommodate more active 
ground floor uses.  The presence of employees in the 
centre of the town provides greater breath to the people 
using the town centre, which could further sustain the 
shops and services that exist.  There will be pressure to 
create residential space from employment space in the 
town centre, but employment space that is lost is unlikely to 
return to employment uses.

Primary shopping areas
The intent of the masterplan is to retain South Road and 
the Orchards as the core retail area in Haywards Heath, and 
to focus pure shopping functions here.  However, given 
changes in the retail market which have been accelerated 
by Covid-19, the masterplan recognises that a range of uses 
help a town centre thrive. This is particularly noted in relation 

to the Orchards, whereby introducing mixed uses (such as 
commercial leisure, food & beverage and residential) will 
encourage a varied economy which functions not only during 
the day, but in the evening. Recent Government changes to the 
Use Class order reflect these ambitions, by placing these uses 
into Class E. To this extent, the primary shopping area needs 
to be defined in a form not dissimilar to the current Local Plan 
definition.

The secondary areas remain The Broadway and Sussex 
Road.  The former is a current focus for restaurants and 
other evening activities, alongside some retail and services 
(class A1 and A2).  The proposals of this masterplan seek to 
nurture the evening economy and the café culture alongside 
other A-uses, and to provide a more environment to go with 
that function.

Sussex Road appears to be a healthy mix of secondary 
shopping shops and services at the current time, and no 
specific proposals are included in this masterplan.

District Plan policy DP2: Town Centre Development 
includes the definition of ‘Primary’ and ‘Secondary’ 
shopping frontages and restricts changes of use away 
from A1 (Primary) and A1-5 (Secondary). Given the outlook 
for retail, the changing economy in relation to Covid, and 
changes to the Use Class Order in September 2020, the 
definition of Primary and Secondary Shopping Frontages 
should be reviewed as part of the District Plan Review 
to ensure policy DP2 does not restrict uses which may 
revitalise the town centre. 

Protection of employment uses
The adopted Neighbourhood Plan currently supports the 
presence of the offices on Perrymount Road, and recognises 
them as a key contributor to the Haywards Heath economy.  
The Local Plan Policies Map identifies these as a cluster, and 
policy B3 of the Neighbourhood Plan supports their continued 
use for employment. The consultation draft Site Allocations 
DPD also proposes protection for employment uses and 
support for expansion, redevelopment and intensification.

The presence of these office buildings, and their scale, 
gives the town a status in employment terms that many 
towns fail to manage.  The presence of modern, multi-storey 
buildings offers a wide range of employers the space to take 
advantage of Haywards Heath’s strong communications, 
available workforce and attractive location.  It also brings 
people to the town who are then available to use other 
services the town has to offer.

Changes in the permitted development regime has made 
offices like this vulnerable to changes of use, ordinarily 
to residential use.  It is felt that this would undermine the 
breath of the town’s economy and deny space to new and 
existing businesses to establish or expand in the locality.  
The masterplan therefore recommends that the office 
cluster remains on Perrymount Road and policy, where 
possible, is resistant to changes of use that would diminish 
the availability of good quality B1 space.

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 133



 ❚ 7.0  

IMPLEMENTATION 
STRATEGY 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 134



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

77

The Masterplan contains a number of potential projects 
and opportunities for development. However, it only 
provides guidance for making planning decisions if 
proposals are brought forward. 

The following table is a high-level Implementation Strategy. 
It describes the further information required to bring 
schemes forward, as well as the likely lead. An indicative 
timescale is provided – whilst some projects are by their 
nature long term (as they depend on other projects being 
completed first, or significant additional work) there 
are also several ‘quick-wins’. Given current economic 
circumstances and the important role the Masterplan 
will take in facilitating economic growth and recovery, 
opportunities to accelerate any medium to long-term 
projects should be explored where practical. 

 ❚ LIST OF PROJECTS AND FURTHER WORK REQUIRED

Project Further studies required Lead agents (MSDC / 
WSCC / Private sector)

Timescale

Small-scale proposals

Speed limit (PR/TI) (refer 4.8) This proposal is an over-arching proposal to reduce speed limit within the town centre. 
Individual schemes are listed in Section 4, the implementation of these is set out below 
(under Medium-Scale Proposals)

Cycling (PR/TI) (refer 4.9) • Wider cycling infrastructure (Multi-
Functional Network) and connection 
with Burgess Hill being addressed 
through the Place and Connectivity 
Programme. 

• Reconfiguring Broadway and 
South Road to include cycling 
infrastructure is considered in Section 
4, implementation of these is set out 
below

WSCC/MSDC Short - medium

Gateway features and 
Wayfinding Signage (PR/TI) 
(refer 4.12) 

• Link to the WSCC Signage Project 
(funding allocated) has prioritised 
signage to business parks and could 
be expanded

WSCC/MSDC Short

Policy change (P) (refer 6.0) • Amendments to the Shopping Policy 
Boundary and Primary and Secondary 
Shopping Frontages can be assessed 
as part of the District Plan Review 

• A policy on Protection of Employment 
Uses is included within the Site 
Allocations DPD

MSDC Short

Other small-scale 
improvements (PR/TI) (refer 
4.13):

Tylers Green intersection • Liaise with WSCC to assess the 
achievability of these small-scale proposals 
and seek inclusion on Local Transport 
Improvement Programme

WSCC/MSDC Medium

Objectives summary (refer to Section 1.2)

1.  Strengthening ‘The 
Heart of Mid Sussex’

2.  Strengthening the 
distinct character areas

3.  Improving the public 
realm for pedestrians & 
cyclists

4.  Improving the town 
centre’s parking provision

5.  Protecting and integrating 
the town’s green spaces

6.  Creating positive and 
welcoming gateway 
moments

7.  Enhancing opportunities 
for town centre living

8.  Providing a meanwhile 
uses framework

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 135



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document

78

©TIBBALDS 2020

Project Further studies required Lead agents (MSDC / 
WSCC / Private sector)

Timescale

Clair Road and connection 
with Clair Park  

New crossing points along 
Heath and Church Road 

Create new pedestrian 
connection between The 
Broadway and Heath Road 
car parks

• Liaise with WSCC to assess the 
achievability of these small-scale 
proposals and seek inclusion on Local 
Transport Improvement Programme 

• Clair Park Cycle Scheme identified within 
WSCC’s Local Transport Improvement 
Programme (updated annually)

WSCC/MSDC Medium

Lighting to pedestrian only 
routes

• Seek advice from lighting specialist 
to determine an appropriate strategy 
(to avoid disruption to ecology and 
respect Conservation Area/residential 
amenity).

MSDC/WSCC Short

Meanwhile uses 
(refer 4.14)

• Review of the current portfolio of pop-
ups managed by Estates / Orchards team 

• Liaison with partners to understand 
meanwhile uses that work for them 
(Crawley town centre regeneration 
programme, Brighton and Hove BID, and 
others.) 

• Liaison with potential pop-up providers 
(workspace providers, Crate UK,  
appearhear.co.uk to test their appetite).

MSDC 

 

Working with private 
sector pop-up agents 
including appearhear.
co.uk, possible pop-
up space providers 
including Boxpark.co.uk 
and crateuk.com, and 
workspace providers 
such as freshmill.
co.uk basepoint.co.uk, 
Freedomworks.org and 
cotribe.co.uk

Medium

Medium-scale proposals

Commercial Square 
roundabout / station area 
(PR/TI) (refer 4.2)

• Identified within WSCC’s Local Transport 
Improvement Programme (updated 
annually) 

• Design and Consultation work 
programmed by WSCC for 2020/2021 
for South Road and Commercial Square 
schemes

WSCC/MSDC Medium

The Broadway (PR/TI) (refer 
4.5)

South Road (PR/TI) (refer 
4.6)

Perrymount Road (PR/TI) 
(refer 4.3)

Sussex Road (PR/TI) (refer 
4.7)

Large-scale proposals

The Orchards Shopping 
Centre redevelopment (D) 
(refer 5.3)

• Ongoing feasibility/development 
appraisals in the short term to assess 
options 

• MSDC Parking Strategy/Investment Plan

MSDC Feasibility work – 
Short term 

 

Development work – 
Short-Medium term

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 136



Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan    Supplementary Planning Document©TIBBALDS 2020

79

Project Further studies required Lead agents (MSDC / 
WSCC / Private sector)

Timescale

Clair Hall (D) (refer 5.4) • Ongoing feasibility

• Assessment of need and potential for    
reprovision

• Options appraisal

MSDC Medium - Long

Reconfiguration of Muster 
Green gyratory and The 
Broadway south (PR/TI) 
(refer 

• Liaise with WSCC to assess the 
achievability of these proposals and 
seek inclusion on Local Transport 
Improvement Programme

WSCC/MSDC Medium

Victoria Park (PR/TI) (refer 
4.11)

• Victoria Park Masterplan programmed. MSDC Medium

Franklynn Road car park (D) • Parking Strategy / Investment Plan MSDC Initial feasibility / 
Investment plan – 
short term 

Future development – 
medium to long term

Haywards East car park (D) 

Haywards West car park (D) 
(refer 5.5)

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 137



Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 138



APPENDIX 2 

 

Mid Sussex  
 

 
 
 
 
Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan 
SPD 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Screening Report 

 
October 2020 

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 139



1 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Mid Sussex District Council has prepared a Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The document sets out principles and potential 
improvements within the Town Centre. As it is SPD, it does not set policy or allocate sites for any 
particular use. 

 
This document comprises the Screening Report to determine whether or not the SPD being 
prepared within the Mid Sussex District will require a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in 
accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC and associated Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. 
 

2. Background  
 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) can be prepared to build upon and provide more 
detailed advice or guidance on the policies within the development plan.  
 
The Mid Sussex District Plan 2014-2031 (the District Plan) was adopted on 28th March 2018. 
These policies have already been subject to Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SA/SEA).  
 
The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD provides additional advice and guidance that 
would apply within the defined town centre boundary. This supplements adopted District Plan 
policy DP2: Town Centre Development [extract below]. 

 

DP2: Town Centre Development 
 
Strategic Objectives: 9) To create and maintain town and village centres that are vibrant, attractive 
and successful and that meet the needs of the community. 
Evidence Base: Mid Sussex Retail Study Update 2014; Neighbourhood Plans; Town Centre 
Masterplans and accompanying work. 

 
Town Centres 

These are defined as the town centres of Burgess Hill, East Grinstead and Haywards Heath 

which meet the needs of their communities and those of the surrounding large and small 

villages and countryside areas. 

To support the regeneration and renewal and environmental enhancement of the town 

centres as defined on the Policies Map – development, including mixed use and tourism 

related development, will be permitted providing it: 

 is appropriate in scale and function to its location including the character and 

amenities of the surrounding area; 

 has regard to the relevant Town Centre Masterplans and is in accordance with the 

relevant Neighbourhood Plan. 

[…] 
 
Policy DP2: Town Centre Development is supportive of the regeneration, renewal and 
environmental enhancement of town centres. The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD 
provides additional guidance and principles for development, including the principles that would 
apply on an individual site/area basis, and identifies opportunity areas for enhancement within the 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 140



2 
 

town centre boundary. All of these would assist an applicant in making a planning application, for 
them to demonstrate that proposed schemes are compliant with DP2.  
 
The adopted District Plan was accompanied by Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic 
Environemntal Assessment) which fully appraised the social, environmental and economic impacts 
of policy DP2. It was concluded that no negative impacts would arise on any of the objectives, and 
that the policy was likely to lead to positive impacts overall – particularly in relation to making 
efficient use of land, providing access to community facilities, stimulating economic growth and 
encouraging sustainable transport.  
 

3. Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) involves evaluation of the environmental impacts of a 
plan or programme. The requirement for SEA is set out in the European Directive 2001/42/EC 
adopted into UK law as the “Environmental Assessment of Plans or Programmes Regulations 
2004”. The SEA Directive sets out a legal assessment process that must be followed. Often within 
the planning context, the SEA requirements are met by incorporating it within a Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA), which is a requirement for Development Plan Documents. 
 
There is no legal requirement for Supplementary Planning Documents to be accompanied by 
Sustainability Appraisal, and this is reinforced in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG ref: 11-008-
20140306).  
 
Planning Practice Guidance notes that “A strategic environmental assessment is unlikely to be 
required where a supplementary planning document deals only with a small area at a local level 
(see regulation 5(6) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004), unless it is considered that there are likely to be significant environmental effects.” The 
Town Centre boundary is a small area at a local level. 
 
However, “in exceptional circumstances” there may be a requirement for SPDs to undertake 
Strategic Environmental Assessment where it is felt they may have a likely significant effect on the 
environment that has not been assessed within the SEA/SA of the Local Plan (District Plan).  As 
noted in section 3, SEA/SA was carried out on the policy that this SPD will supplement. 
 
To establish whether the SPD is thought to have significant environmental effects and therefore 
require SEA to be undertaken, a Screening Process has been followed and forms the main content 
of this report.  
 

4. The Screening Process 
 
The screening process is based upon consideration of standard criteria to determine whether the 
plan or programme (in this case the Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD) is likely to 
have “significant environmental effects”. The result of the screening process is included in section 
5 of this report.  
 
The three consultation bodies (Historic England, Environment Agency and Natural England) have 
been consulted to determine whether they agree with the conclusion of this report, in determining 
whether the SPD has a “significant environmental effect” and therefore requires SEA. Should it be 
determined by the local authority and consultation bodies that SEA does need to be undertaken, 
the District Council will need to undertake the Scoping stage of SEA. 
 
The ODPM publication “A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive” 
(2005) sets out a useful approach to be taken in order to determine whether SEA is required (figure 
1).  
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 141

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/regulation/5/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/regulation/5/made


3 
 

 
Figure 1: Application of the SEA Directive (from “A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Directive”) 

 
This approach has been followed in two parts, below. Part 1 follows the flow-chart outlined above, 
whilst Part 2 sets out whether it is considered that the SPD is likely to have a ‘significant effect on 
the environment’ (i.e. stage 8 of the above). 
 
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 142



4 
 

Assessment Part 1 – Establishing the Need for SEA 
 

Table 1 - Establishing the Need for SEA 

Stage Y/N Justification 

1. Is the PP (plan or programme) subject 
to preparation and/or adoption by a 
national, regional or local authority OR 
prepared by and authority for adoption 
through a legislative procedure by 
Parliament or Government (Art. 2(a)) 

Y 

The Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) will be adopted by Mid Sussex 
District Council. It will be a material 
consideration in planning decisions. 
 
PROCEED TO QUESTION 2 

2. Is the PP required by legislative, 
regulatory or administrative provisions? 
(Art. 2(a)) 

Y 

SPDs are optional; there is no legislative 
or regulatory requirement to prepare them. 
This particular SPD has been produced to 
supplement the statutory Local Plan (the 
District Plan). 
 
PROCEED TO QUESTION 3 

3. Is the PP prepared for agriculture, 
forestry, fisheries, energy, industry, 
transport, waste management, 
telecommunications, tourism, town and 
country planning or land use, AND does it 
set a framework for future development 
consent of projects in Annexes I and II to 
the EIA Directive? (Art 3.2(a)) 

Y 

Whilst the SPD has been prepared for 
town and country planning purposes, they 
do not set policy. The policies that the 
SPD supplement have been subject to 
SA/SEA.  
 
The Masterplan will contain a framework 
for future development consent for urban 
development projects (including shopping 
centres and car parks) which is listed as 
10b in Annex II of the EIA Directive. 
PROCEED TO QUESTION 5 

4. Will the PP, in view of its likely effect on 
sites, require and assessment for future 
development under Article 6 or 7 of the 
Habitats Directive (Art. 3.2(b)) 

N/A Not applicable. 

5. Does the PP determine the use of small 
areas at local level, OR is it a minor 
modification of a PP subject to Art. 3.2? 
(Art. 3.3) 

Y 

The Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan boundary is a small area in 
relation to the town and district as a whole. 
PROCEED TO QUESTION 8 

6. Does the PP set the framework for 
future development consent of projects 
(not just projects in annexes to the EIA 
Directive)? (Art. 3.4) 

N/A Not applicable. 

7. Is the PP’s sole purpose to serve the 
national defence or civil emergency, OR is 
it a financial or budget PP, OR is it co-
financed by structural funds or EAGGF 
programmes 2000 to 2006/7? (Art 3.8, 
3.9) 

N/A Not applicable. 

8. Is it likely to have a significant effect on 
the environment? (Art. 3.5) 

N 

The purpose of the SPD is to provide 
guidance to assist in the interpretation of 
adopted policies in the District Plan. The 
policies to which the SPD relates were 
subject to SEA (incorporated within the 
Sustainability Appraisal) through the 
District Plan process, and no significant 
effects were expected. Therefore the SPD 
will not itself have any significant effects 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 143



5 
 

on the environment.  
(Assessment Part 2 provides details) 

Conclusion: DIRECTIVE DOES NOT REQUIRE SEA 

 
 
Assessment Part 2 - Likely Significant Effects on the Environment 

Table 2 – Assessment of the Likely Significant Effects of Neighbourhood Plans 

SEA Directive Criteria Response Is there a 
likely 

significant 
environmental 

effect? 

1. The Characteristics of Plans and Programmes, having regard, in particular, to: 

1a) The degree to which the 
plan or programme sets a 
framework for projects and 
other activities, either with 
regard to the location, nature, 
size and operating conditions 
or by allocating resources. 

The SPD will not set a framework for other 
projects or activities. It will provide 
additional guidance on existing policies 
within the District Plan that have been 
subject to SEA (concluding no significant 
effects expected). 
 

N 

1b) The degree to which the 
plan or programme influences 
other plans and programmes 
including those in a hierarchy. 

The District Plan provides the adopted 
policies to which the SPD will supplement. 
The SPD will only be able to expand and 
provide more guidance on the policies 
within the District Plan, and will not be able 
to introduce new policy. The SPD will be at 
the bottom of the hierarchy and will have no 
influence on the documents above it. 

N 

1c) The relevance of the plan 
or programme for the 
integration of environmental 
considerations in particular 
with a view to promoting 
sustainable development. 

The SPD will contribute to sustainable 
development by providing more detail and 
guidance to support the policies within the 
District Plan. The Masterplan recognises 
the dominance of the private car within the 
Town Centre and seeks to reclaim car-
dominant areas by removing unecesarry 
traffic and proposals for improved public 
realm (including walking and cycling 
routes). It encourages efficient use of urban 
land for retail, leisure and residential which 
reduces the need on which reliance is 
placed on greenfield sites. It provides 
guidance for improving public open space, 
including parks. 

N 

1d) Environmental problems 
relevant to the plan or 
programme. 

The policies within the District Plan that the 
SPD supplements are not expected to have 
any likely significant effects on the 
environment. There are no environmental 
designations (either national or local) within 
the SPD boundary. 

N 

1e) The relevance of the plan 
or programme for the 
implementation of Community 
legislation on the environment 
(e.g. plans and programmes 
linked to waste management 
or water protection). 

The SPD is not relevant to the 
implementation of EC legislation such as 
waste management or water protection. 

N 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 144



6 
 

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard, in 
particular, to: 

2a) The probability, duration, 
frequency and reversibility of 
the effects. 

The anticipated effects on the sustainability 
of the district are expected to be positive by 
providing guidance to support policies 
designed to create mixed sustainable 
communities.  
The duration and frequency of the effects is 
difficult to define; the effects will be linked to 
a planning permission which is (usually) 
permanent unless superseded by a 
subsequent permission on the same site.  

N 

2b) The cumulative nature of 
the effects. 

The District Plan SA/SEA expects overall 
positive impacts to arise from the specific 
policy (DP2: Town Centre Development) 
that the SPD relates to.  

N 

2c) The trans boundary nature 
of the effects. 

The SPD is related to a specific boundary 
within the district, it is not expected that any 
cross-boundary impacts will arise. 

N 

2d) The risks to human health 
or the environment (e.g. due to 
accidents). 

The SPD does not present any risks to 
human health or the environment; 
conversely they aim to encourage 
improvements in these areas.  

N 

2e) The magnitude and spatial 
extent of the effects 
(geographical area and size of 
the population likely to be 
affected). 

The SPD will be applied to all relevant 
planning applications in the Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD boundary. 
 

N 

2f) The value and vulnerability 
of the area likely to be affected 
due to:  
i) special natural 
characteristics or cultural 
heritage.  
ii) exceeded environmental 
quality standards or limit 
values.  
iii) intensive land-use. 

The SPD itself will not be able to set policy 
related to specific land uses. The SPD 
supports an existing policy (DP2: Town 
Centre Development). There are no effects 
expected for i), ii) or iii).  

N 

2g) The effects on areas or 
landscapes which have a 
recognised national, 
Community or international 
protection status. 

None identified. Any applications for 
development will be required to satisfy the 
relevant policies for protection of the 
character of the area before permission is 
granted.  

N 

Part 2 Overall Conclusion: NO LIKELY SIGNIFICANT ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECT 

 
 

5. Statement of Reasons for Determination 
 
The policy that the SPD will supplement (listed in section 2) has itself been subject to Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Sustainability Appraisal (SA). In particular, the appraisal for 
DP2: Town Centre Development, the specific policy to which the SPD relates, concludes there will 
be no significant environmental effects. The appraisal concluded that positive impacts could be 
expected for social and economic objectives, and that largely neutral or possible positive impacts 
could be expected for environmental objectives.  
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 145



7 
 

As the SPD is only entitled to provide guidance to existing policies, it is not expected that it would 
alter the conclusions reached in the District Plan SA/SEA. 
 
The SPD cannot set new policy. It has been prepared to build upon the District Plan policies and 
provide guidance for development proposals within the Town Centre boundary. 
 
Applying the guidance set out in “A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Directive”: 

 Assessment Part 1 (table 2) concludes that the Directive Does Not Require SEA 

 Assessment Part 2 (table 3) concludes that there is No Significant Environmental Effect 
 
On this basis, and taking account of the SA/SEA undertaken at a higher level through 
preparation of the District Plan and the effects expected, Mid Sussex District Council 
concludes that the Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD does not require a full 
SEA to be undertaken. 
 
A draft of this screening report was subject to consultation with the three statutory bodies (Historic 
England, Environment Agency and Natural England) between Wednesday 8 July 2020 and 
Wednesday 29 July, 2020. All three bodies agreed with the conclusion that the Haywards Heath 
Town Centre Masterplan SPD does not require a full SEA to be undertaken. 
 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 146



APPENDIX 3 

Page 1 of 6 
 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document  

Consultation Draft (October 2020) 

 

Please note that all references to the Habitats Regulations in this HRA refer to the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 

HRA details 

HRA completion date: October 2020 

 

Introduction 

In accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, a proposed 
plan or project can only be adopted or permitted if it can be determined that the plan or 
project will not adversely affect the integrity of a European site (Special Area of 
Conservation, Special Protection Area or Ramsar site) with the exception of certain 
circumstances. 

Under Regulation 105(1) of the Habitats Regulations, it is the responsibility of the 
plan-making authority to undertake the HRA process. This HRA screening report has been 
undertaken by Mid Sussex District Council in respect of the Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (October 2020). The aim of this HRA 
screening report is to assess whether there would be any likely significant effects on 
European sites from the Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD. 

Details of the land use plan 

European sites for nature conservation 
potentially impacted by the land use 
plan: 

Ashdown Forest Special Protection Area (SPA) 
and Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

Proximity to the Ashdown Forest SPA: Haywards Heath is outside the 7km zone of 
influence for the Ashdown Forest SPA 

Is the land use plan directly connected 
with or necessary to the management of 
the European sites for nature 
conservation? 

No. 

From review of the Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan, it is considered that it is neither 
connected with nor necessary to the management 
of the European sites. 

  

European site information 

Ashdown Forest lies within Wealden District, and is adjacent to the north-east boundary of 
Mid Sussex. 

Ashdown Forest SPA 

The Ashdown Forest SPA was classified in 1996. It is a 3,200Ha site comprising 
predominantly of lowland heathland and woodland. The Ashdown Forest SPA is an 
internationally important habitat classified because of the presence of breeding populations 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 147



APPENDIX 3 

Page 2 of 6 
 

of Dartford warbler Sylvia undata and European nightjar Caprimulgus europaeus. Ashdown 
Forest is also notified as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

European Site Conservation Objectives for the Ashdown Forest SPA 

With regard to the SPA and the individual species and/or assemblage of species for which 
the site has been classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural 
change; 

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by 
maintaining or restoring; 

- The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

- The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

- The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 

- The populations of each of the qualifying features, and, 

- The distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

 

Qualifying Features: 

A224 Caprimulgus europaeus; European nightjar (Breeding) 

A302 Sylvia undata; Dartford warbler (Breeding) 

Ashdown Forest SAC 

The Ashdown Forest SAC was designated in 2005 and covers 2,700Ha. It has a different 
boundary to the SPA, but the two designations overlap. The qualifying features for the 
designation are the Annex I habitats: Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix and 
European dry heaths, and the Annex II species: Great crested newt Triturus cristatus. It is 
also part of the SSSI. 

European Site Conservation Objectives for the Ashdown Forest SAC 

With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site has been 
designated (‘the Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural change; 

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of 
its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or restoring; 

- The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and habitats of 
qualifying species 

- The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural 
habitats 

- The structure and function of the habitats of qualifying species 

- The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and habitats of 
qualifying species rely 

- The populations of qualifying species, and, 

- The distribution of qualifying species within the site. 

 

Qualifying Features: 

H4010  Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix; Wet heathland with 
cross-leaved heath 

H4030 European dry heaths 

S1166 Triturus cristatus; Great crested newt 

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 148



APPENDIX 3 

Page 3 of 6 
 

Ashdown Forest SPA 

Stage 1 – HRA screening for the Ashdown Forest SPA 

To test for a likely significant effect on the Ashdown Forest SPA under Regulation 105(1)(a) 
of the Habitats Regulations 

How might the land use plan affect the Ashdown Forest SPA? 

Increased recreational activity arising from new residential development and related 
population growth is likely to disturb the protected near-ground and ground nesting birds on 
Ashdown Forest. In accordance with advice from Natural England, the HRA for the Mid 
Sussex District Plan, and as detailed in the District Plan Policy DP17, a net increase in 
residential development within the 7km zone of influence is likely to have a significant effect 
on the Ashdown Forest SPA. 

In accordance with District Plan Policy DP17, mitigation measures are necessary to 
counteract the effects of potential increasing recreational pressure and are required for 
developments proposing a net increase in dwellings within a 7km zone of influence around 
the Ashdown Forest SPA. 

The Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and Strategic Access Management 
and Monitoring (SAMM) mitigation approach set out in Policy DP17 aligns with the strategic 
solution for recreational disturbance on the Ashdown Forest SPA.  

The proposed land use plan does not result in a net increase in residential dwellings. 

Are there any other projects or plans that together with this land use plan could affect the 
European site, the ‘in combination’ impact? 

All new residential development within 7km of the Ashdown Forest SPA is considered to 
contribute towards a significant effect on the site as a result of increased recreational 
disturbance in combination with other residential development in other local authority areas 
surrounding the Ashdown Forest SPA.  

The strategic solution to recreational disturbance is supported by Natural England and 
ensures the requirements of the Habitats Regulations are met with regard to the in 
combination effects of increased recreational pressure on the Ashdown Forest SPA arising 
from new residential development. The strategic solution is a partnership approach between 
the following local authorities and is supported by Natural England: 

 Lewes District Council 

 Mid Sussex District Council 

 Sevenoaks District Council 

 Tandridge District Council 

 Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 Wealden District Council 

Individual HRAs will be undertaken for development proposals. 

Would the land use plan lead to a likely 
significant effect on the Ashdown Forest 
SPA?  

No. 

The Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD has been prepared to 
develop a vision, objectives and guiding 
principles for the Town Centre. It does 
not propose new development rather it 
provides more detail to policies within the 
District Plan. Any development proposals 
coming forward in the Town Centre will 
be subject to HRA. 

It is considered that the HRAs prepared 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 149



APPENDIX 3 

Page 4 of 6 
 

for the District Plan and the Site 
Allocations DPD provide the background 
and assessment for this screening report 
of the Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD. 

 

Ashdown Forest SAC 

Stage 1 – HRA screening for the Ashdown Forest SAC 

To test for a likely significant effect on the Ashdown Forest SAC under Regulation 105(1)(a) 
of the Habitats Regulations 

How might the land use plan affect the Ashdown Forest SAC? 

Increased traffic emissions as a consequence of new development may result in 
atmospheric pollution on Ashdown Forest. The main pollutant effects of interest are acid 
deposition and eutrophication by nitrogen deposition. High levels of nitrogen may 
detrimentally affect the composition of an ecosystem and lead to loss of species. 

Are there any other projects or plans that together with this land use plan could impact on 
the integrity of the European site, the ‘in combination’ impact? 

Yes. Other proposals for development in the District and other local authority areas may lead 
to an ‘in combination’ effect on the Ashdown Forest SAC. 

How have the potential transport impacts of the land use plan been assessed? 

As part of the preparation for the Site Allocations DPD, Mid Sussex District Council 
commissioned SYSTRA to build a strategic in combination highway model to underpin the 
Mid Sussex Transport Study and update the Mid Sussex Transport Study. The SYSTRA 
work is required to test the impact of proposed development on the strategic and local 
transport network and upon significant routes in Ashdown Forest. The subsequent air quality 
modelling and ecological interpretation of the Sites DPD Scenario (which reflects the growth 
proposed at the Regulation 19 stage) considers that the highways improvements will serve 
to improve the functioning of the road network and reduce congestion. It is apparent from the 
modelling results that these highways improvements are likely to be making a small but 
positive contribution to reducing the air quality impacts of new growth. 

The modelling results for the Sites DPD scenario is such that the breaches of 1% of the 
critical loads for pollutants at some locations are so low that, having regard for the wider 
context, they are considered to be a minor retardation low enough to rule out adverse effects 
on integrity, as a result of the development in Mid Sussex and neighbouring authorities. This 
conclusion is drawn with consideration of factors such as the long-term trajectory of air 
quality improvement and the scientific basis of those predictions, and consideration of other 
wider measures relating to Ashdown Forest that are likely to come forward. 

The potential effects of the land use plan are incorporated into the overall results of the 
transport model, which indicates there would not be an overall impact on Ashdown Forest. 
This means that there is not considered to be a significant in combination effect on the 
Ashdown Forest SAC by this land use plan. 

Individual HRAs will be undertaken for development proposals. 

Would the land use plan lead to a likely 
significant effect on the Ashdown Forest 
SAC?  

No. 

The Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD has been prepared to 
develop a vision, objectives and guiding 
principles for the Town Centre. It does 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 150



APPENDIX 3 

Page 5 of 6 
 

not propose new development rather it 
provides more detail to policies within the 
District Plan. Any development proposals 
coming forward in the Town Centre will 
be subject to HRA. 

It is considered that the HRAs prepared 
for the District Plan and the Site 
Allocations DPD provide the background 
and assessment for this screening report 
of the Haywards Heath Town Centre 
Masterplan SPD. 

 

Conclusion of the HRA 

This HRA represents the plan-making authority’s duty under Regulation 105 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (the “Habitats 
Regulations”), Article 6(3) of the Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural 
habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the “Habitats Directive”) and having regard to its duty 
under Section 40(1) of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 to the 
purpose of conserving biodiversity.  

Ashdown Forest SPA 

The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD (October 2020) would not have a likely 
significant effect on the Ashdown Forest SPA. 

Ashdown Forest SAC 

The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD (October 2020) would not have a likely 
significant effect on the Ashdown Forest SAC. 

Having undertaken a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the implications of the land use 
plan for the site in view of that site’s conservation objectives and since the Haywards Heath 
Town Centre Masterplan SPD (October 2020) does not propose new development, it is 
considered that the land use plan would not have a likely significant effect on the Ashdown 
Forest SPA and SAC, and so an Appropriate Assessment is not required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 151



APPENDIX 3 

Page 6 of 6 
 

Appendix A: Map of Mid Sussex District and the Ashdown Forest SPA and SAC 

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 152



APPENDIX 4 

 

1 

Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD 
Community Involvement Plan (CIP) – October 2020 

1. Background 

1.1. The draft Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan is a Supplementary Planning 
Document, supplementing adopted District Plan policy DP2: Town Centre Development. 
 

1.2. The aim of the draft Masterplan is to set a framework and guiding principles for 
regeneration and renewal within the defined Town Centre boundary. It sets out a series of 
public realm and transport infrastructure recommendations as well as Opportunity Sites 
which have potential for regeneration. Each is accompanied by principles for development 
should projects come forward in the future. 
 

1.3. The Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD will be adopted as a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). SPDs cannot set new policy or allocate sites for specific uses, 
however can provide supplementary information and guidance to assist those wishing to 
develop within the defined area. They can set out intentions and provide clarity to the 
community with regards to future plans. Once adopted, they contain weight in the planning 
process, and will be a material consideration in the decision-making process. 
 

1.4. The draft SPD is subject to public consultation in accordance with regulation 13 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

1.5. This Community Involvement Plan has been written in accordance with the adopted Mid 
Sussex District Council Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (2019).1 

2. Role and Purpose of the Community Involvement Plan 

2.1. Mid Sussex District Council adopted its Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) in 
March 2019. 
 

2.2. The SCI contains 6 General Principles for Community Engagement: 
 

1) Be Timely: Involve the community as early as possible in decision making 

2) Be Inclusive: Accessible to all those who wish to take part 

3) Be Transparent: Consultation material should be clear and plain-English 

4) Be Respectful of Other’s Views: The Council will listen to all views 

5) Be Efficient: Consultation to be proportionate and use resources wisely 

6) Be Clear About the Results: Decisions and results should be made clear 

2.3. The SCI recognises that there is no “one size fits all” approach to consultation; recognising 
that each decision that requires community involvement may be for different audiences or 
different purposes. The SCI therefore requires that a bespoke Community Involvement 
Plan (CIP) is prepared for each consultation on Planning Policy documents (such as the 
draft Masterplan SPD) so that consultation can be tailored. 
 

                                                           
1 Available at: www.midsussex.gov.uk/sci.  

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 153

http://www.midsussex.gov.uk/sci


APPENDIX 4 

 

2 

2.4. This Community Involvement Plan follows the template contained within the SCI. It sets 
out: 

 Who is involved in the production and consultation of the draft Masterplan SPD; 

 Why people are being involved in the process; 

 When and how people will be able to get involved and influence the draft Masterplan 
SPD; and  

 How the results of community involvement will be used. 

3. Who is to be involved? 

Early engagement 

3.1. In the SCI, the Council commits to ‘front load’ consultation activity, to identify potential 
issues and options. The draft Masterplan has been prepared following engagement with 
District, Town and County Council Members, as well as specialist consultants and internal 
customers (e.g. teams from across the Council). This consultation represents the earliest 
opportunity for all stakeholders, including the community, to have their say in order to 
inform future versions of the Masterplan. 
 

Including everyone 

3.2. The Equality Impacts Assessment (EqIA) that accompanies the draft Masterplan considers 
the needs of people classified as having ‘protected characteristics’.2 This assessment 
concludes that there are a number of future actions to ensure that everyone has the 
opportunity to engage with the consultation, and particularly in terms of removing barriers 
of involvement for protected groups.  
 

3.3. In terms of consultation, the Council must continue to promote consultation exercises that 
are inclusive of all, including engagement with representative organisations and monitoring 
of the consultation. This consideration includes things like making documents available on 
the website, which is equipped with ‘BrowseAloud’ and other functionality to make the 
website more accessible. 
 

3.4. There is further analysis of consultation practices and the actions that will be taken to 
ensure that everyone has the opportunity to engage with the consultation included within 
the EqIA which accompanies the draft SPD. 
 

Who will be contacted? 

3.5. A number of groups will be directly contacted and asked for their comments.  These are: 
 

 District Councillors; 

 Town and Parish Councils; 

 ‘Specific consultation bodies’/ ‘general consultation bodies’ (statutory consultees) as 
set out in legislation.3 These include West Sussex County Council, adjoining local 
planning authorities, service providers and government agencies such as the 
Environment Agency and Natural England, and the South Downs National Park 
Authority;4 

                                                           
2 As defined by the Equality Act 2010  
3 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
4 Details of these groups are set out in the ‘Key Contacts List’ available at: www.midsussex.gov.uk/sci. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 154

http://www.midsussex.gov.uk/sci


APPENDIX 4 

 

3 

 Other organisations, groups or individuals that may have an interest in the draft 
Masterplan SPD. These include members of the Mid Sussex Partnership, voluntary 
services’ associations, residents’ associations, housing associations, business groups 
and associations, environmental, countryside and conservation groups, youth and 
elderly persons’ groups and the development industry; 

 Representatives of those groups highlighted as requiring targeted consultation by the 
EqIA; 

 Subscribers to the Planning Policy e-mail alerts service5; and 

 Internal consultees at the District Council. 

3.6. Elected District Councillors have a key role to play in forming the draft Masterplan SPD 
and will be fully involved in the process through: 
 

 The Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth (any District 
Councillor can attend and request to speak); 

 Full Council (consists of all District Councillors); and 

 Councillors will be directly informed and can respond during the public consultation 
period. 

4. Why are people being involved? 

4.1. We are asking for people’s views on the draft Masterplan SPD through a formal 
consultation period. It is important to seek input from the wider public, as the Masterplan 
will set a framework and guiding principles that will help shape the future of Haywards 
Heath Town Centre. This will have an impact upon both the existing and future 
communities of Haywards Heath as well as locations further afield, including smaller 
settlements that rely on the facilities and activities offered within Haywards Heath Town 
Centre. 
 

4.2. In order to make the consultation more meaningful, it is important to understand the role of 
the Town Centre Masterplan SPD. 
 

4.3. The Masterplan will: 

 Support economic vitality, recover and growth 

 Bring a series of existing plans and projects together 

 Set a framework and guiding principles 

 Demonstrate intentions 

 Aid future development, planning and investment decisions 

 Set out an implementation strategy 

 Be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document therefore have material weight 
when making planning decisions 

 

4.4. The Masterplan will not: 

                                                           
5 To receive news and updates on policy documents being prepared please sign up to our email alerts at: 

https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/planning-building/consultation-monitoring/#topic-planning-policy-email-alerts   

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 155

https://www.midsussex.gov.uk/planning-building/consultation-monitoring/#topic-planning-policy-email-alerts


APPENDIX 4 

 

4 

 Deliver the schemes – further studies, projects and funding will be required to deliver 
any recommendations set out in the Masterplan 

 Introduce new planning policy or allocations – only guidance 

 Provide guarantees of delivery – only a framework and plan for implementation 

 Provide fine detail or detailed designs – only principles 

 

5. When will people be involved? 

Early engagement Undertaken throughout drafting process. 

Public Consultation 
for draft SPD 
(Regulation 13) 

Following Cabinet Member agreement in October 2020, the draft 
Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan SPD will be published for a 
six-week consultation period between October – December 2020. 
During this time, the public can make representations on the draft 
SPD. Full details will be publicised on the Council’s website and using 
the methods set out under section 6 below. 

6. How will people be involved?  

6.1. The consultation will be open to all and we will seek to inform and receive comment from 
the widest possible range of people. We will: 
 

 Send out a press release, an email alert and utilise social media; 

 Put all the details and documentation on the Council’s website including an on-line 
response form.  All on-line material will be compatible with ‘BrowseAloud’ for people 
who find it difficult to read on-line; 

 Provide hard copy documents to Haywards Heath library and Haywards Heath Town 
Council, and other such venues as the Council deem appropriate, for people to view 
(as long as these facilities are open and are able to make the documents available, 
given Covid-19 restrctions) 

 Utilise electronic methods wherever possible in addition to traditional methods to make 
it as easy as possible to advertise and respond to the consultation; 

 Utilise electronic methods to make the document contents accessible, including the 
use of interactive methods to help residents and stakeholders navigate the content 
and make it easy to respond; 

 A translation service is available to those for whom English is a second language; 

 Send letters or emails to all the ‘specific consultation bodies’ (statutory consultees) 
and to all the other organisations listed in section 3 above to notify them of the 
consultation period. 

 

Availability of Documents 

 

6.2. Regulation 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012 sets out the requirements for documents to be made available for inspection. 
 
35.—(1) A document is to be taken to be made available by a local planning authority when— 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 156



APPENDIX 4 

 

5 

(a)made available for inspection, at their principal office and at such other places within their area 
as the local planning authority consider appropriate, during normal office hours, and 
(b)published on the local planning authority’s website, 

 

6.3. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Government made a temporary amendment to 
remove criterion (a). The Council is therefore only required to publish the information on its 
website however will still supply hard copies to the locations set out above – it will be for 
each individual location to determine whether it is appropriate and safe to make hard copy 
documents available for the public to view, respecting Government guidance in place at 
that time.  

 

Submitting Responses 

 

6.4. Comments must be submitted in writing (physical or digital) and cannot be accepted as 
anonymous. All information received is public information, subject to relevant data 
protection legislation.6  
 

6.5. Comments can be submitted via the website, email or by post. A response form will be 
made available which can be completed and submitted on the MSDC website. All 
responses can also be returned by: 

eForm: Available online at www.midsussex.gov.uk/TownCentres 

Post to: Planning Policy, Mid Sussex District Council, Oaklands, Oaklands Road, 
Haywards Heath, West Sussex, RH16 1SS 

E-mail to: LDFconsultation@midsussex.gov.uk  

7. What happens to the results? 

7.1. All comments will be treated equally, and it will be up to the Council to balance any 
conflicting opinions when considering the final document. 
 

7.2. A consultation report summarising the issues raised by consultation and how these 
comments have been used will be published on the Council’s website and will be 
considered by the Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth. The 
issues raised during consultation will help inform future iterations of the Masterplan, which 
will be discussed by the above Committee ahead of formal adoption by the Council as a 
Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

7.3. If you have any comments or queries on this Community Involvement Plan, please contact 
Andrew Marsh (Andrew.Marsh@midsussex.gov.uk) 
 

7.4. If you have a comment or concern with your experience of a Council-led community 
involvement exercise, you should in the first instance contact the officer detailed in the 
Community Involvement Plan.  Alternatively, you can contact the Customer Services and 
Communications Team by phone (01444) 477478 or by writing to Customer Services and 
Communications, Mid Sussex District Council, Oaklands Road, Haywards Heath, West 
Sussex, RH16 1SS. 

                                                           
6Such as the Data Protection Act (2018) 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 157

mailto:LDFconsultation@midsussex.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.Marsh@midsussex.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5 

1 
 

MID SUSSEX DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

Title of Policy/Service/Contract: 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment for public consultation on the draft Haywards Heath Town 
Centre Masterplan SPD 
  
Division: Planning Policy  
 
Lead Officer: Andrew Marsh 
 
Date Assessment completed: 5th October 2020 
 
1.  SCOPING 
 

1.1 What are the aims of the policy, service/service change or contract? 
 
Mid Sussex District Council has prepared a Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to supplement a specific policy in the Mid Sussex 
development plan (District Plan policy DP2: Town Centre Development). The Masterplan 
SPD provides a framework and guiding principles for planning decisions within the defined 
Town Centre boundary. 
 
The SPD provides guidance on policies which have already been adopted in the Mid Sussex 
District Plan 2014-2031. It does not provide new policies but rather provides guidance that 
sets out in more detail how the policies in the District Plan should be implemented. The 
District Plan was accompanied by an EqIA. 
 
The aim of the SPD is to provide a framework for economic vitality, recovery and growth. An 
adopted Masterplan demonstrates the intentions for regeneration and renewal which in turn 
provides more clarity for the community, those looking to invest (including supporting future 
investment priorities and decisions) and those planning development and infrastructure. 
 
The SPD will be subject to public consultation, which will involve all members of the 
community. 
 
The results of this Equality Impact Assessment will be used to inform the Community 
Involvement Plan that will detail the consultation arrangements with stakeholders and the 
community.  

 
 

1.2 Who does the service/policy/contract affect? Who are the main customers (internal 
or external)?  
 
The SPD is based upon the policies contained within the District Plan, which have the 
potential to affect anyone who lives, works or visits Mid Sussex – particularly Haywards 
Heath which is the focus of this SPD. 
 
The main users of the SPDs are likely to be:  
- Members of the public; 
- Those involved in the development industry such as developers, architects, landowners, 
agents; 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 159



APPENDIX 5 

2 
 

- Those looking to invest in the SPD area; 
- Development Management Officers; 
- District, Town and Parish Councillors; 
- Organisations and individuals that represent groups of people; 
- Internal customers such as Economic Development, Parking, Estates and Leisure 

 

1.3 What equality information is available, including any evidence from engagement 
and analysis of use of services? 
 
The SPD is based on the policies contained within the District Plan, which has been subject 
to its own Equalities Impact Assessment. The SPD will be the subject of full public 
consultation. A Community Involvement Plan, informed by the results of this Assessment, will 
detail how the consultation will be undertaken. 
 
There has been early engagement with others during the production of this SPD, providing a 
range of expertise and advice. 
 
These include: 
- Specialist Urban Design and Transport consultants; 
- A Member Workshop comprising Councillors; 
- West Sussex County Council officers giving advice on transport issues, which have 
implications re: accessibility. 
 
As well as internal Council officers, including: 
- Economic Development 
- Estates 
- Parking 
- Leisure 

 

1.4 What does this information tell us about the equality issues associated with the 
service and implications for the protected groups? 
 
Engagement with these groups has ensured a board range of opinions have input into the 
production of the SPD at an early stage.  
 
The upcoming public consultation will also improve the Council’s ability to receive input from 
an even more diverse range of voices, ensuring the final document is responsive to the 
needs of all groups of society. 

 
The document will be available to view digitally, on the Mid Sussex District Council website, 
and hard copies will be available to view at key locations provided it is safe to do so given the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The Council will also be directly reaching out for responses to the 
consultation by utilising the Planning Policy Updates database which includes over 500 
subscribers, who will receive notification and further information about the consultation.  
 
Mid Sussex District Council has identified a number of hard to reach groups, and these 
groups are included in this database.  

 

1.5 Are contractors or partnerships used to deliver the service? No 
If No go to section 2. 
If yes, please refer to the guidance notes, particularly Appendix One of the MSDC Guidance 
“Integrating Equality and Diversity into Procurement”, and complete the next three questions. 
 
Identify the contractors/partnerships used to deliver the service. 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 160



APPENDIX 5 

3 
 

 
What is their contribution to equality in service delivery and the promotion of 
equality? 
 
How are equality issues addressed through contractual arrangements and service 
level agreements? 

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 161



APPENDIX 5 

4 
 

2. Assessment of Impact: Analysis and Action Planning 
 

Any gaps in information or provision, opportunities to promote equalities and good relations identified above need to be translated into SMART actions and 
recorded here. These actions need to be delivered and monitored through the service planning process. 
 

 

Opportunity to promote equality, 
good relations and/or address 
barriers to service/differential impact 

Current action taken to address 
these 

Further actions required and 
timescales 

Lead 
Officer 

How will impact be 
measured 

The needs of different ethnic groups including white minorities, but also established white communities 
The SPD should provide a framework and 
guiding principles which encourages new 
development to be responsive to the needs 
of all sectors of society, including ethnic 
groups. 
 
The public consultation included in the 
preparation of the SPD will be responsive to 
needs of all groups. 

Consultation with representative 
organisations.  
 
A translation service is provided by the 
Council.  
 
 

 Andrew 
Marsh 

Monitoring where 
possible. 

The needs of men and women, including taking account of pregnancy and maternity  
The SPD will provide guidance which 
encourages new development to be 
responsive to the needs of all genders. 
 
The public consultation included in the 
preparation of the SPD should be responsive 
to needs of men and women. 

The consultation processes of all planning 
documents are open to all.  

 Andrew 
Marsh 

Monitoring where 
possible. 

The needs of disabled people  
The SPD provides guidance which 
encourages town centre regeneration to be 
responsive to the needs of disabled people. 
This includes ensuring the public realm is 
accessible to all and pedestrian friendly. 
 
The public consultation included in the 
preparation of the SPD should be responsive 
to needs of disabled people. 

Liaison with Access Groups. 
 
District Plan policies on design, 
accessibility, transport, community facilities 
and local services and infrastructure aim to 
ensure development is responsive to the 
needs of disabled people. 
 
Supporting material is made available on 
the website which is equipped with ‘browse 
aloud’ for those with visual impairments. 
 

 Andrew 
Marsh 

Monitoring where 
possible. 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

162



APPENDIX 5 

5 
 

The consultation processes of all planning 
documents are open to all and accessible 
to the needs of disabled people. 
 
Consideration given to font size and design 
layout. 
 
Documents written in plain English and 
terminology used explained in the clearest 
possible terms. 
 
Officers are available to explain the process 
in person, over the phone and via email. 

The needs of people with a religion or belief  
None identified.      

The needs of gay men, lesbians, bisexuals and heterosexual people  
None identified.     

Issues from marriage and civil partnership 
None identified.     

The needs of different age groups, for example older and younger people  
The SPD provides guidance which 
encourages town centre renewal and 
regeneration to be responsive to the needs 
of all age groups. 
 
The public consultation included in the 
preparation of the SPD should be responsive 
to needs of different age groups. 

Liaison with representative organisations. 
 
Mid Sussex District Council has identified a 
number of hard to reach groups, and these 
groups are included in this database, who 
will be notified of the consultation on the 
SPDs. 
 
The draft SPDs will be published on the Mid 
Sussex District Council website, and will be 
available as hard copy in key locations 
(where safe to do so) 
 
Supporting material is made available on 
the website which is equipped with ‘browse 
aloud’ for those with visual impairments. 
 
Consideration has been given to font size 
and design layout. 
 

 Andrew 
Marsh 

Monitoring where 
possible. 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

163



APPENDIX 5 

6 
 

Documents written in plain English and 
terminology used explained in the clearest 
possible terms. 
 
Officers are available to explain the process 
in person, over the phone and via email. 

The needs of transgender communities  
None identified.     

The needs of people who are disadvantaged by socio-economic factors such as low incomes, skill or living in a deprived area 
The SPD should provide guidance which 
encourages new development to be 
responsive to the needs of people who are 
disadvantaged by socio-economic factors. 
 

 

Liaison with voluntary services, registered 
social landlords and the business 
community. 
 
District Plan policies on housing, including 
affordable housing and housing mix, and 
economic development that provide for a 
range of employment types, community 
facilities and local services and 
infrastructure, accessibility and transport. 
 
Supporting material is made available on 
the website which is equipped with ‘browse 
aloud’ for those with visual impairments. 
 
Consideration has been given to font size 
and design layout. 
 
Documents written in plain English and 
terminology used explained in the clearest 
possible terms. 
 
Officers are available to explain the process 
in person, over the phone and via email. 
 

 Andrew 
Marsh 

Monitoring where 
possible. 

The needs of people who live in a rural area 
Whilst the focus of the Town Centre 
Masterplan is Haywards Heath Town Centre 
(within an urban area) it is recognised that 
members of the community from rural areas 
rely on the facilities and services it provides. 
The Masterplan will encourage greater 

Consultation will involve Parish Councils, 
representative groups and local 
communities. 
 
District Plan Policy DP2: Town Centre 
Development recognises the crucial role 

 Andrew 
Marsh 

Monitoring where 
possible. 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

164



APPENDIX 5 

7 
 

access (by sustainable transport as well as 
provision of additional car parking) for all 
members of the community.  

Town Centres play for members of the 
community (both within the town itself and 
further afield) 

 
 
3. Mid Sussex District Council Equality Impact Assessment Summary 

 

Key findings Future Actions 
Engagement methods should ensure seldom heard groups across the community 
are able to respond to the consultation. 
 
The consultation will be managed to ensure that engagement reaches as wide as 
possible audience, including all groups 
 
The SPD establishes principles and standards for regeneration within the SPD 
boundary, that aim to create safe and attractive places that are responsive to the 
needs of all. 

Promotion of consultation exercise, liaison with representative organisations and 
monitoring of consultation. 
 
Monitor the individual projects and proposals that arise from the Town Centre 
Masterplan to ensure they meet Planning Policy and the SPD principles to ensure 
they meet the requirements of all members of the community. 

 

S
crutiny C

om
m

ittee for H
ousing, P

lanning and E
conom

ic G
row

th - 22 O
ctober 2020

165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR HOUSING, PLANNING AND ECONOMIC GROWTH WORK 
PROGRAMME 2020/21 

Purpose of Report 

1. For the Scrutiny Committee for Housing and Planning and Economic growth to note 
its Work Programme for 2020/21. 

Summary 

2. Members are asked to note the attached Work Programme.  The Work Programme 
will be reviewed as the final piece of business at each meeting, enabling additional 
business to be agreed as required. 

Recommendations  

3. The Committee are recommended to note the Committee’s Work Programme as 
set out at paragraph 5 of this report. 

Background 

4. It is usual for Committees to agree their Work Programme at the first meeting of a 
new Council year and review it at each subsequent meeting to allow for the scrutiny 
of emerging issues during the year.  

The Work Programme 

5. The Committee’s Work Programme for 2020/21 is set out below: 

Meeting Date Item Reason for Inclusion 

25 November 2020 TBC 
 

 

20 January 2021 Haywards Heath Master 
Plan - Outcome of Public 
Consultation. 

Prior to adoption by Council 

17 March 2021 TBC  
 

 

 

Policy Context 

6. The Work Programme should ideally reflect the key priorities of the Council, as 
defined in the Corporate Plan and Budget. 

Financial Implications 

7.  None. 

REPORT OF: Tom Clark, Head of Regulatory Services 
Contact Officer: Alison Hammond, Member Services Officer 

Email: alison.hammond@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477227 

Wards Affected: All 
Key Decision: No 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 167

Agenda Item 9

mailto:alison.hammond@midsussex.gov.uk


Risk Management Implications 

8. None. 

Background Papers 

 None. 

 

Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - 22 October 2020 168


	Agenda
	5 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth held on 29 July 2020.
	7 Parking Strategy and Action Plan 2020 - 2030
	PARKING STRATEGY FINAL DRAFT
	MSDC-COVID-Addendum V6 (Issue)

	8 Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document - Consultation Draft
	Appendix 1 Draft HHTC Masterplan[1]
	Appendix 2 Strategic Environmental Assessment  - Screening
	Appendix 3 Habitats Regulations Assessment – Screening
	Appendix 4 Community Involvement Plan
	Appendix 5 Equalities Impact Assessment

	9 Scrutiny Committee for Housing, Planning and Economic Growth - Work Programme 2020/21.

